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Company Profile

Apex Silver Mines Limited is a mining development and exploration company. The company

is nearing completion of its flagship 65%-owned (Sumitomo Corporation — 35%) San Cristobal
silver-zinc-lead project. Located in southwestern Bolivia, San Cristobal is one of the world’s
largest open-pit silver-zinc-lead deposits, containing approximately 450 million ounces of silver,
eight billion pounds of zinc and three billion pounds of lead in proven and probable reserves.
Production at San Cristobal is expected to begin mid year of 2007 with the payable metal output
averaging approximately 17 million ounces of silver, 225,000 tonnes of zinc and 82,000 tonnes
of lead per year in the first five years of operation. San Cristobal is predicted to have a 17-year
operating life with a current design capacity of 40,000 tonnes of ore per day. Apex Silver also
holds an extensive portfolio of highly prospective exploration properties located primarily in the
traditional precious metals-producing regions of Argentina, Peru, Mexico and Bolivia. The
company finished the year with approximately $400 million of unrestricted funds in the treasury.
Ordinary Shares of Apex Silver trade on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol SIL.

The graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return as of December 31, 2006 on $100 invested in our Ordinary Shares
as of January 1, 2000, in the stocks comprising the Hermscott Group Index, which includes onfy companies with silver mining invest-
ments, and In the stocks comprising the S&P 500 Index, assuming the reinvestment of all dividends.
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San Cristobal

Proven and Probable

Reserves and
Development Plan

Parameters

Parameter Units Proven & Probable Resenves Proven & Probable Reserves Development Plan
(Dec. 31, 2006) {Dec. 31, 2005) (December 2004)

Basis:

Silver Price $/0z 8.51 6.28 5.75

Zinc Price $/Tonne 1,895.96 1,084.63 1,102.31

Lead Price $/Tonne 1,036.16 782.64 661.39

Ore Tonnes 000 250,773 230,570 228,914

Grade:

Silver Grams/Tonne 55.30 63.10 63.29

Zinc % 1.54 1.69 1.60

Lead % 0.53 0.58 0.59

Contained Metal (1):

Silver Qunces 446,000,000 467,656,000 465,806,100

Zinc Tonnes 3,870,000 3,652,000 3,662,600

Lead Tonnes 1,324,000 1,342,000 1,350,600

Mote: Proven and probable reserves are calculated on the basis of a three-year rolling price average for silver, zinc and lead.

{1) Amounts are shown as contained metals in ore and therefore do not reflect losses in the recovery process, Sulfide ore reserves are expected to have an approximate average
recavery of 78% for sitver, 83% for zinc and B6% for lead. Oxide ore reserves are expected to have an average recovery of 60% for sitver and 50% for lead.

San Cristobal
Development
Plan Parameters

Parameter Units First Five Years Life-of-Mine
QOre Throughput Tonnes/Day 40,000 40,000
Grade:

Silver Grams/Tonne 82.77 63.29
Zinc % 1.64 1.60
Lead % C.76 0.56
Avg. Payable Metal Production:

Silver Qunces/r 22,300,000 17,000,000
Zinc Tonnes/Yr 182,500 167,500
Lead Tonnes/Yr 82,000 63,500
Avg. Cash Operating Cost*™:

Silver $/0z 1.31 1.43
Zinc $/Lb ¢.39 0.4

* The term “average cash operating cost” is used on a per-ounce of payable silver and per-pound of payabte zing basis. Our estimated cash operating costs include estimated mining,
milling and ather mine related overhead costs. The per-ounce of silver cost also inclu des off-site costs related to projected silver refining charges. The per-pound of zinc cost also includes
charges related to transportation of zing concentrates and their projected treatment and smelting charges. All cash operating costs exclude taxes, depreciation, amortization and provisions
for reclamation. The average cash operating cost per cunce of sitver is equal to the sro-rata share of estimated average operating costs for the period reduced by the estimated value of
lead by-product credits for the pericd divided by the number of “payable ounces”. The lead by-product credits are net of charges related to transportation of fead concentrates and their
projected treatment and smalting charges. The “payable ounces” are the estimated number of ounces of silver to be praduced during the period reduced by the ounces required to cover
estimated refining, treatment and transportation charges for the period. Average cash operating cost per pound of zinc is equal to the pro-rata share of estimated average operating costs
for the period divided by the number of "payable pounds”. The “payable pounds” are the estimated number of pounds of zinc to be produced during the period reduced by the pounds
required to cover estimated refining, treatment and transportation charges for the period. We have included estimated average cash operating cost information to provide investors with
information about tha cash generating capabilities of the San Cristobal project. This in‘ormation may differ from measures of performance determined in accordance with Generalty Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance that will be prepared in accordance with GAAP. These measures
ara not necessarily indicative of operating profit or cash flow from operations to ba cletermined under GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.



To
Our
Shareholders

2006

represents a significant

milestone in the history of

Apex for its stakeholders.

We are evolving from

a junior exploration

company to the operator

of the world’s largest
current development in

President, . .

Chief Executive Officer, ZlnC, S"Ver and Iead;

and Director the San Cristobal mine

in southwestern Bolivia.

Jeffrey G. Clevenger
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We created a strategic
alliance with Sumitomo
Corporation from Japan
where we exchanged a
35% interest in the San
Cristobal project and
an option on certain
exploration properties
for cash, future revenue
streams associated
with zinc and silver and
a diversification of our
risk.

We have significantly
increased our focus
and expenditures on
exploration, primarily
in Mexico, Peru and
Argentina.

We continue to
strengthen our
management team

with additional skills to
facilitate the start up

of San Cristobal and

to implement growth
strategies in other areas.




As of this Mill hardware is in place, the railroad spur and port are progressing according to plan and production
as and sales are on schedule for the third quarter of this year. Greater than a million tonnes of mill feed
ertlng, the San ore have been stockpiled to facilitate the ramp up of production. We are proud of the teamwork that
Cristobal Project has been instilled in this project under conditions less favorable than many other mining projects.
is more than 95% This teamwork is highlighted by the accomplishment of nearly eight million man hours worked to
. this date by site personnel without a lost time accident. San Cristobal is setting the standard for
com plete with mining project health, safety, environmental excellence and community sustainable development

remaining work for years to come. In today’s mining environment the significance of community efforts can not be
concentrating overstated. We have an intensive training program underway to enable the local workforce to obtain

.. the skills needed in modern mining. At the same time we are assisting the local communities with
on piping and programs that should sustain employment and business opportunities independent of the mine and
electrical wiring. for many years in the future.

For the past year and a half we have had a focused La Paz team addressing government relations and
a wide array of tax ideas considered by the Bolivian government. To date, no detrimental changes to
the tax code have been implemented. We have worked hard developing relationships and building
trust with a changing government staff by being open, honest and factual as to the competitiveness
of the Bolivian mining tax code particularly as the Bolivian code compares to its successful mining
country neighbors. Qur partner Sumitomo has brought much to this effort as Japan and Bolivia share
a strong business and political relationship. Our social responsibility in the neighboring communities
of San Cristobal has facilitated this effort as we enjoy strong grass roots support. We continue to
receive assurance from the highest levels of the Bolivian government that foreign investment is
needed and the rights of foreign investors will be respected for those that obey the laws and assist the
local communities in elevating their status beyond poverty. We have done these things and strive to
be the ‘miner of choice’ in Bolivia and elsewhere. '

In September we announced a strategic alliance with Sumitomo Corporation, a major world wide
diversified company, headquartered in Tokyo, Japan. Sumitomo paid Apex $224 million cash,
assumed its proportionate share of project debt and hedge liabilities and provided a future income
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Our timing with
San Cristobal
could not look
better.

stream for Apex based on silver production and on zinc production at prices greater than $1800 per
tonne. In return, Sumitomo was granted 35% of the San Cristobal project and an exploration option
for two years on certain Apex properties, primarily in Mexico, Peru, Bolivia and Argentina. This
alliance gives Sumitomo an entry into the largest current development in zinc, silver and lead and
an option on several prospective exploration properties. For Apex, we now have an internationally
respected partner and cash to advance our growth objectives outside of San Cristobal.

It would be remiss were [ niot to meation the large hedge position that we put in place to close the
$225 million syndicated project financing loan. Prior to the fourth quarter of 2006 we had relied on a
valuation method for this hedge position provided by an independent and internationally recognized
expert in this field. At the end of the year we determined, along with our auditors, that this method
was not providing an appropriate value for the hedge position. As a result of this determination and
because we were unable to complete the required accounting for this revaluation by the 10-K filing
date, we were unable to file our 10-X report with the Securities and Exchange Commission until April
3, 2007. The restatement is entirely non-cash and we will not know what the actual cash gains or
losses on the hedge position are until those positions are settled over the period 2007 through 2012.

The prices for the metals that we will produce in 2007 from San Cristobal remain strong with

2006 zinc prices up 135% and silver prices up about 60% from the prior year. Our timing with

San Cristobal could not look better. With several hundred million dollars in unrestricted cash, San
Cristobal producing positive cash flows and with our expanded exploration efforts in three countries;
we eagerly look forward to informing you of our progress in 2007.

March 30, 2007 Jeffrey G. Clevenger

President,
Chizf Executive Officer

and Director




Creating
Value

Apex Silver is at
a major turning

point in its 11 year

history.

The use of silver
affects many
aspects of our
daily lives.

San Cristobal was discovered by Apex
geologists and will enter the production phase
in 2007, producing value for shareholders for
many years to come. The most cost effective
way to create shareholder value is to discover
and develop new orebodies that can produce at
low cost, resulting in profits and cash flows for
shareholders.

For Apex, the path through organic growth is
where we seek to develop additional and more
profitable ores in the immediate arca of the San
Cristobal mine and through new discovery and
development resulting from a sustained program
of exploration in the Americas and elsewhere.
At San Cristobal, we have identified several
excellent prospects that offer the promise of
significant additions to our current minable
reserves. These areas will be evaluated in a
disciplined exploration program designed to
advance the most promising deposits as quickly
as warranted.
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Apex Silver is dedicated to a sustained and
successful exploration program that is driven to
discover new deposits. We support offices in
five countries in the Americas where we believe
the opportunity for discovery is excellent. We
also maintain an effort in Australia, where some
of the largest ore deposits are found and which
has a rich history of new discovery.

Our professional exploration teams have
assembled an impressive array of exploration
preperties throughout the Americas. At year-end
we controlled 77 projects totaling about 334,000
hectares. After detailed evaluation, some
prospects will not be retained due to lack of
potential and some will advance. During 2006,
the Board of Directors authorized a significant
increase in our exploration budget. Drilling
programs were underway on five properties at
year-end and we will accelerate this program
during 2007.
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Apex Silver controls over 15,000 hectares
in the Zacatecas mining district in central
Mexico. This district has produced nearly
a billion ounces of silver from veins

“and the potential for significantly more
production is considered excellent. Apex
Silver has identified several high-grade
silver targets that will be drilled in 2007.
We have been successful in locating
prospects of merit in areas of high
geologic potential. An example is the La
Pinta prospect, located south of the 350
million tonne Pefiasquito project being
developed by Goldcorp. The geology at
La Pinta is considered to be very similar
to that at Pefiasquito, including gold-

rich intrusive rocks and zinc and silver-
bearing breccias in sedimentary rocks. An
extensive drill test will start in early 2007,

In northern Argentina, we have a joint
venture with the Peruvian mining
company Hochshtld Mining on the El
Quevar silver project. We can earn a
minimum 80% interest in the project
through exploration expenditures and
periodic payments. The property contains
more than five miles of mineratized veins
and breccia that show significant silver
values in outcrop. In 2006, we conducted
a first-pass drilling program that provided
encouragement to continue with our
investment. Of the 17 holes drilled in this
first program, 14 returned intercepts of
1.3 meters or more grading 3 ounces per
ton or more in silver, including 6 meters
averaging 7.4 ounces per ton silver and 4
meters averaging 34 ounces per ton silver
in hole QvD-003 and 6 meters averaging
14 ounces per ton silver in hole QvD-006.

We support an active exploration effort
in Peru, a country famous for its mineral
endowment. In north-central Peru, we
are working on the Joncojirca project,
where drilling in 2006 explored a large
disseminated silver-zinc-lead deposit.
Drill holes results included an intercept
of 254 meters averaging 0.89 ounces per
ton silver, 0.71% zinc and 0.42% lead.
Elsewhere in Peru, we are working on
prospects that have potential to host high
grade vein deposits, disseminated silver
+ base metal deposits and deposits with
copper and silver.
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Sustainable
Development

The
management of
Apex strongly
believes that in
order to achieve
success in
developing a
new project, a
mining company
must secure
strong support
from the local
community.

This support is best carned through a focused and long-term corporate commitment that produces
measurable improvement in the social and economic well-being of the community members.

The efforts made by Apex have far-reaching goals aimed at ensuring that the San Cristobal
community can sustain itself beyond and outside of mining. This strategy, called sustainable
development, is not new. It is traditionally implemented by responsible mining companies in
preparation for future closure of their mines in anticipation of mining out their reserves. What is new
in the case of Apex is the approach of starting sustainable development in advance of commencing
operations. This approach, now commonly called the “San Cristobal Model”, has raised the standard
for community involvement to a new level for the entire mining industry.

During the earliest stages of exploration drilling to delineate the San Cristobal orebody, Apex
commenced a far-reaching sustainability program to help the local community improve its standard
of living without compromising its rich cultural heritage. A 400-year-old church was not only
successfully moved to its new location, it was fully restored to its original glory with the help of the
local community and Bolivian archaeological experts and artisans. The worshipers and the visitors
could now admire the vibrant colors of its original paintings, marvel at the beauty of its silver-gilded
altar and enjoy the sound of a more-recently rebuilt organ.
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The newly-restored architectural masterpiece has become a focal
point of an evolving tourist industry which has been empowered
further by improved road access to the area and emergence of
other related independent tourist enterprises such as Llama Mama
Bicycle Tour Agency, Suri 4x4 Tourist Transportation Services
Company and the San Cristobal Hotel and Restaurant. Most of
the credit belongs to the newly formed San Cristobal Foundation,
a joint company-local community enterprise which has been

the engine of the sustainable development effort in the area. Its
efforts and seed funding from the company gave impetus to the
creation of the new model communities of Culpina K, Vila Vila
and Villa Alota which exist today outside of mining. They have
their own leadership and sustainable industries rooted in their
own independent community initiatives.

The town of San Cristobal itself has put down strong roots in
its new location, approximately ten kilometers from the original
site. A new school has been built boasting new computer and
chemistry labs. A new medical facility has been established

to provide significantly improved medical care to the local

community. A newly-established Internet kiosk has brought
the global village to the town of San Cristobal. With the added
advantage of a year-round vegetable growing hot house, San
Cristobal has emerged as the 21st Century model of sustainable
development for mining enterprises of the future.

Today, the company, as a member of the existing Consultative
Committee, is guided by leaders of the community in the spirit
of solidarity and equity. This alliance is based on a vision that
development of the region should be governed by its people.
This approach is key to ensuring that the communities’ economic
growth and well-being extend well beyond the mine’s production
cycle.

This exceptional cooperation between the company and the local
community continues to this day. In 2006, the joint committee
presided over the relocation of the Achupalta Monument, a sacred
ceremonial rock which is believed to bring good fortune to the
worshipers who celebrate its power on the anniversary of San
Cristobal, every July 28th.




Board of Directors Jeffrey G. Clevenger
President and
Chief Executive Officer
Apex Silver Mines Limited
Age 57

Harry M. Conger

Former Chairman
Homestake Mining Company
Age 76

Ove Hoegh
Senior Partner
Hoegh Invest
Age 70

Keith R. Hulley
Chairman

Apex Silver Mines Limited
Age 67

Kevin R. Morano
Managing Principal
KEM Capital LLC
Age 53

Terry M. Palmer
Former Partner
Ernst & Young LLLLP
Age 62

Charles B. Smith
Former President and
Chief Operating Officer

Southern Peru Copper Company
Age 68

Paul Soros

Investment Advisory

Committee Member

Quantum Industrial Partners LDC
Age 80
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Apex Silver
Mines Limited

FORWARD
LOOKING
STATEMENTS

Part 1:

Form 10-K

Some information contained in or incorporated
by reference into this report on Form 10-K may
contain forward-looking statements. These state-
ments include comments regarding San Cristobal
development and construction plans, capiral and
other costs, funding and timing; the riming of
completion of San Cristobal construction, start-up
and sale of concentrates; anticipated spending
during 2007; increased funding requirements,
capital costs and working capital requirements for
the San Cristobal project; contractual arrange-
ments with Sumitomo, including Sumitomo’s
obligations with respect to deferred payments and
funding commitments; the likely increased volatil-
ity in future earnings due to derivative positions;
anticipated San Cristobal production, grades,
recovery rates, mine life, operating costs and cash
flows; evaluation and expansion of our explora-
tion portfolio; the effect of the May 2006 Bolivian
Constitutional Court decree regarding the mining
code; Bolivian political and economic conditions;
the markets for silver, zinc and lead; and the level
of compensation for our executives during 2007,

The use of any of the words “anticipate,” “contin-
" “expect,” “may,” “will,” “project,”
“should,” “believe” and similar expressions are
intended to identify uncertainties. We believe the
expectations reflected in those forward-looking
statements are reasonable. We cannot assure you,
however, that these expectations will prove to be
correct. Qur actual resules could differ materially

» K«
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ue, estimate,

from those anticipated in these forward-locking
statements as a result of the risk factors set forth
below and other factors set forth in, or incorpo-
rated by reference into, this reporr:

worldwide economic and political events affecting
the supply of and demand for silver, zinc and lead;

political and economic instability in Bolivia,
including the communities located near the San
Cristobal project and other countries in which we
conduct business;

furure actions of the Bolivian government with

respect to nationalization of natural resources or
other changes in the mining or taxation policies of
the Bolivian government;

volatility in market prices for silver, zinc and lead;
financial marker conditions;

uncertainties associated with developing a new
mine, including potential cost overruns and the
unreliability of production and cost estimates in
early stages of mine development;

variations in ore grade and other characteristics
affecting mining, crushing, milling and smelting
operations and mineral recoveries;

geological, technical, permitting, mining and
processing problems;

failure co comply with our obligations under the
San Cristobal project finance facility;

disagreements with Sumitomo Corporation
regarding future development or operation of San
Cristobal, or faiture to comply with agreements
with Sumitomo related to the San Ciristobal proj-
ect;

uncertainties regarding future changes in ap-
plicable law or implementation of existing law,
including Bolivian laws related to tax, mining,
environmental martters and exploration; and

the factors discussed under “Risk Factors.”

Many of those factors are beyond our ability to
control or predict. You should not unduly rely on
these forward-looking statements. These state-
ments speak only as of the date of this report on
Form 10-K. Except as required by law, we are not
obligated to publicly release any revisions to these
forward-looking statemenus to reflect future events
or developments. All subsequent written and oral
forward-looking statements attributable to Apex
Silver and persons acting on our behalf are quali-
fied in their entirery by the cautionary statements
contained in this section and elsewhere in this

report on Form 10-K.




Apex Silver
Mines Limited

CONVERSION
TABLE

ITEMS 1 AND 2:

BUSINESS AND
PROPERTIES

Part 1:

Form 10-K

In this report, figures are presented in both United States standard and metric measurements, Conversion rates
from United States standard to metric and metric to United States standard measurement systems are provided

in the table below.

U.S. Unit Metric Measure Metric Unit 1J.S. Measure
I acre 0.4047 hectares 1 hectare 2.47 acres

1 foot 0.3048 meters 1 meter 3.28 feet

1 mile 1.609 kilometer 1 kilometer 0.62 miles

1 ounce {troy) 31.103 gran’lls 1 gram ?{2)3;3 ounces
! ton 0.907 tonncjl 1 tonne 1.102 tons

Apex Silver Mines Limited, incorporated under
the laws of the Cayman Islands in 1996, is en-
gaged in the exploration and development of silver
and other mineral properties in Latin America,
We have a large diversified portfolio of privately
owned and controlled silver and other mineral
exploration properties. We have rights ro or con-
trol over numerous claims or concessions locared
in or near the traditional silver producing regions
of Central and South America, primarily Bolivia,
Peru, Argentina and Mexico. None of our proper-
ties is in production, and consequently we have no
income or cash flow from operations.

Our first development property, the 63%-owned
San Cristobal project located in southwestern
Balivia, is currently under construction and is
expected to begin production in the thire. quarrer
of 2007. San Cristobal’s proven and probable
reserves at December 31, 2006, based on $8.51
per ounce silver, $0.86 per pound zinc and $0.47
per pound lead, toral approximately 251 mil-
lion tonnes of ore grading 35 grams per tonne
sitver, 1.54% zinc and 0.53% lead, conraining
approximarely 446 million ounces of silver, 8.53
billion pounds of zinc and 2.92 billion pounds
of lead. The prices used in estimating ore reserves
represent the three-year average price for cach of
the metals as required pursuant to Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules.

As used herein, Apex Silver, we and our refer
collectively to Apex Silver Mines Limited. its
predecessors, subsidiaries and affiliates or 1o one or
more of them as the context may require.

All currency references are 1o United States dol-
lars, unless otherwise indicated.

Available Information

We make available, free of charge through our
Internct website at hup:fwuav.apexsilver.com, our
annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q}, current reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13{a) or 15({d) of the Securi-
ties Exchange Act of 1934, as soon as reasonably
practicable after such material is electronically
filed with or furnished to the SEC. Information
on our website is not incorporated into this report
and is not a part of this report.

Business Strategy

Apex Silver is one of a limited number of silver
companies with significant exposure to ocher
metals. Our strategy is to capitalize on the San
Cristobal project and our sizeable portfolio of
mineral exploration properties in order to achieve
long-term profits and growth and to enhance
shareholder value.

Although our primary focus is on silver, we intend
to produce other metals from deposits we may
discover ot acquire, including zinc, lead and gold.
We are managed by a team of seasoned min-

ing professionals with significant experience in
the construction, development and operation of
large-scale, open pit and underground, precious
and base metals mining operarions, as well as the
identification and exploration of mineral proper-
ties. From time to time, we also consider acquisi-
tions of development or producing properties and
business combination opportunities.

The principal elements of our business strategy are
to:




Apex Silver
Mines Limited

Part 1:

Form 10-K

complete the successful startup of the San Cristob-
al project;

conrtinue to explore and develop those properties
which we believe are most likely to conrain sig-
nificant amounts of silver and/or other metals and
divest those properties that are not of continuing
interest; and

identify and acquire additional mining and min-
eral properties that we believe contain signiﬁcant
amounts of silver and/er other metals or have
development potential.

San Cristobal Project

Our 65%-owned San Cristobal project is located
in the San Cristobal mining district of the Potosi
Department in southwestern Bolivia, a region that
historically has produced a significant portion of
the world’s silver supply. San Cristobal is located
in the Bolivian Altiplano in the Andes mountains,
approximately 500 kilomerers south of the city of
La Paz. The project is accessible by an improved
gravel road from the town of Uyuni, approximate-
ly 100 kilometers to the northeast, and from the
Chilean border town of Ollagiie, approximately
135 kilometers to the west, A railroad begins at
the Chilean port of Antofagasta, approximately
460 kilometers southwest of San Cristobal, and
continues north to La Paz, passing 50 kilometers
to the north of San Cristobal. A spur is being builc
to connect the mine to the railroad for shipment
of concentrates and receipt of imported supplies.
The map below shows the location of the San
Cristobal project.

History

Silver was discovered in what is now the San
Cristobal districe in the early seventeenth century,
and mining has occurred intermittently in the area
ever since. Although no records from the Spanish
colonial era mines have survived, and few records
exist with respect to production in the district
during the nineteenth and twentieth cencuries, the
districe is believed to have produced millions of
ounces of silver.

Other than sporadic underground mining in the
area of the planned San Cristobal pit, over the
previous 350 years only one portion of the San
Cristobal project, the Toldos deposit, has been
mined. The Toldos mine was operated by Empresa
Minera Yana Mallcu §.A. as a block-caving under-
ground operation berween 1985 and 1988, and as
an open-pit mine and silver heap leach between
1989 and 1993. The Toldos mine was shut down
in 1995 and at present there is no significant
mining or processing plant or equipment on the

San Cristobal property remaining from the Toldos
mine.

Development and Construction of the
San Cristobal Project

Beginning in 1993, our founders established cer-
tain companies to acquire and develop silver
exploration properties throughout the world.
Our predecessor companies acquired the conces-
sions comprising the San Cristobal project from
Bolivian companies and individuals in a series of
transactions from 1994 through 1997. In 1996,
our predecessors began exploring the San Cris-
toba! project and discovered a significanc silver,
zinc and lead deposit with the potential o be
developed as a large-scale, open-pit mine. Apex
Silver Mines Limited was formed in March 1994
and acquired the San Cristobal project and other
exploration properties in a series of transactions
in 1996 and 1997. We completed the initial San
Cristobal feasibility study, conducted by Kvaerner
Metals, Davy Nonferrous Division, in 1997. In
December 1997, we completed our initial public
offering.

The San Cristobal property is comprised of certain
mining concessions that are part of a large block
of concessions covering approximately 500,000
acres, which we own or control. Under these
mining concessions, we have the right to carry out
exploration, mining, processing and marketing of
all mineral substances located within the conces-
sions, and to use the water found on the conces-
sions. The area includes concessions covering ap-
proximately 88,000 acres, which are held mostly
for transportation, power lines and other infra-
structure. In order to maincain our rights to these
concessions, we must make annual mining patent
payments to the Bolivian government totaling
approximately $400,000. We are not required to
pay any royalties in respect of production from the
San Cristobal property, although we are required
to pay the complementary mining tax imposed

by Bolivian tax authorities. See “—Republic of
Bolivia.”

In July 1999, we complered a detailed feasibility
study on San Cristobal. The feasibility study was
prepared by an independent engineering firm,
Kvaerner, E&C Mertals Division. We subsequently
selected Aker Kvaerner as the primary contrac-

tor at the project and they commenced detailed
engineering. In September 2000, we completed a
metallurgical update to the feasibilicy study, which
noted an improvement in the economics of the
San Cristobal project as a result of certain positive
metallurgical and operational factors.
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In April 2001, due primarily to weak silver
prices, we suspended detailed engineering for San
Cristobal and significantly curtailed expenditures
on the project. This interruption continued fora
period of nearly three years. During this period,
we advanced the project primarily by continuing
the evaluation and negotiation of infrastructure
arrangements, including the selection of a port
from which to ship the concentrates to smelters,
arrangements for the transportation of concen-
trates from San Cristobal to the port and the
provision of power to San Cristobal.

In 2004, based on improving silver and zine
prices, we retained Aker Kvaerner to complete
an updated estimarte of San Cristobal capital and
operating costs and an estimated project sched-

ule. They completed this update during the third

quarter of 2004 and in November 2004, we
entered into an Engineering, Procurement and
Construction Management (‘EPCM”) Agreement
with Aker Kvaerner. Under the EPCM Agree-
ment, Aker Kvaerner is responsible for complet-
ing detailed engineering, procuring the necessary
equipment and managing and overseeing the
construction and installation of the facilities at the
San Cristobal project.

The 2004 updated cost estimate prepared by
Alker Kvaerner provided the basis for an updared
Development Plan. We completed the Develop-
ment Plan, a detiled plan for the development
and construction of the San Cristobal project, in

November 2004,

We plan 1o mine the San Cristobal deposit from
an open pit mine at the rate of approximately
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40,000 tonnes of ore per day and process the ore
by conventional flotation methods. We will trans-
port mined ore to the primary crusher by truck
and then convey the crushed ore to a mill and
Rotation plant with a design capacity of 40,000
tonnes per day. The ore will be ground in a semi-
autogenous (“SAG”) and ball mill circuit, and
then processed by selective flotation to produce
separate zinc-silver and lead-silver concentrates
and lesser amounts of bulk lead-silver concen-
trates. Filtered concentrates will be transported by
rail to the port in Mejillones, Chile, and then by
ocean vessel to smelters and refineries around the
world. The project is expected to have a 17-year
mine life, based on current reserves.

We began construction on the San Cristobal
project during the first quarter of 2005. By the
end of 2006, the project was estimated to be over
90% completed and we anricipate the first sale of
concentrates during the third quarter of 2007, All

.the major mechanical equipment including the

flotation circuit, filtration plant and the 10-kilo-
meter tailings line, including piping and booster
pumping stations for the 15-kilometer water sup-
ply system has been installed. Major components,
including the SAG and two ball mill motors have
been installed and are undergoing testing proce-
dures. Concentrator construction has shifted to
systems completion and is centered on final instal-
lation of process piping and electrical instrumen-
tation equipment. Commissioning activities began
in the fourth quarter of 2006 with the elecirical
substation, utilities, the primary crusher and
overland conveyor.

We have completed construction of a power line
from the town of Punutuma to San Cristobal and
we began drawing power from the national power
grid during November 2006. We are currently
paying spot prices to acquire electricity from the
national grid but are in discussions in connection
with securing a long-term power supply arrange-
ment.

During 2006 we began mining ore at the San
Cristobal project and as of December 31, 2006 we
had stockpiled approximately 6.5 million tonnes
of work-in-process ore. Approximately 1.3 millien
tonnes of the total stockpiled ore are sulfide ore
and the remainder is oxide ore. The sulfide ores
will be processed through the San Cristobal mill
first with the oxide ores scheduled for processing
later in the mine life.

A long-term agreement is in place for the trans-
portation of the concentrates by rail to the port
in Mejillones, Chile. Construction of the rail spur

from the mine site to the main rail line began dur-
ing the third quarter of 2006. The raiiroad spur is
proceeding on schedule with 95% of the 65 kilo-
metets of roadbed completed and 14 kilometers
ot 20% of the total spur laid. We expect the rail
spur to be completed during the second quarter
of 2007.

Concentrates will be unloaded from the rail cars at
a facility at the port in Mejillones and then loaded
into ships for export. Construction of the Mejil-
lones port facitity is proceeding on schedule. We
expect the port facilities to be completed during
the second quarter of 2007,

Once the concentrates have arrived in Mejillones,
they will be shipped by bulk carriers to smelt-

ers around the world. We have signed long-term
sales agreements with thirteen smelters in Europe,
Australia, and Asia for the sale of 2 majority of the
planned production of zinc and lead concentrates
for the first five years of production at San Cris-
tobal. We anticipate selling the remainder of our
production on a spot basis.

We have all necessary permits and approvals in
hand in order to begin production at the project.

October 2006 Update to the
Development Plan

During 2006, using new information obrained

as a result of the advancement of construction
and mining activities, we undertook a review of
the November 2004 San Ciristobal development
plan. The updated development plan, which was
completed in October 2006, has caused us to in-
crease our estimate for the total amount of project
funding and ro increase our estimates of average
cash operating costs. We have also increased our
estimates of zinc production and reduced our esti-
mates of silver production for the first five years of
operation.

These changes result primarily from record high
commodity prices and the required stockpiling of
increased amounts of oxide ore for future process-
ing. Record high commodities prices have had

a direct impact on the cost of supplies such as
fuel, tires, and reagents, contributing to increased
funding requirements for the project and higher
estimated operating costs once production begins.
Pre-stripping activity during 2006 provided ad-
ditional information regarding the orebody, which
indicates that the boundary between the surface
silver-rich oxide ore that will be stockpiled for
future processing and the sulfide ore that will be
the first to be processed through the San Cristobal

mill is lower than previously believed. This has
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increased the amount of oxide ore chat must be
stockpiled for future processing and has required
that increased amounts of marerial be moved to
access the sulfide ore,

Based on the updated development plan, in

the first five years of operation San Cristobal is
expected to produce annually approximately 16.9
million ounces of payable silver (at an average cash
operating cost of approximately $1.97 per ounce),
225,000 tonnes of payable zinc {at an average cash
operating cost of approximately $0.51 per pound)
and 82,000 tonnes of payable lead (lead is credited
as a by-product to silver production costs). The
higher operating costs result primarily from the
increases in the cost of supplies due to higher
commodity prices, and also from increases in esti-
mated manpower requirements over thcse antici-
pated in the original development plan. During its
currently projected 17-year life, San Cristobal is
expected to produce annually approximately 15.7
million ounces of payable silver, 166,000 tonnes
of payable zinc and 59,000 tonnes of payable lead.

The financial measure “average cash operating
cost” will differ from measures of performance
determined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”). Our estimated
cash operating costs include estimated mining,
milling and other mine related overhead costs. The
per-ounce of silver cost also includes off -site costs
related to projected silver refining charges. The
per-pound of zinc cost also includes charges relat-
ed to transportation of zinc concentrates and their
projected treatment and smelting charges. All cash
operating costs exclude taxes, depreciation, amor-
tization and provisions for reclamation. The aver-
age cash operating cost per ounce of silver is equal
to the pro-rata share of estimated average operat-
ing costs for the period reduced by the estimated
value of lead by-product credits for the period and
divided by the number of “payable ounces.” The
lead by-product credits are net of charges related
to transportation of lead concencrates and their
projected trearment and smelting charges. The
“payable ounces” are the estimated number of
ounces of silver to be produced during the period
reduced by the ounces required to cover estimated
refining, treatment and transportation charges for
the period. Average cash operating cost per pound
of zinc is equal to the pro-rata share of estimated
average operating costs for the period divided by
the number of “payable pounds.” The “payable
pounds” are the estimated number of pounds of
zinc to be produced during the period reduced by
the number of pounds required to cover estimated
refining, treatment and transportation charges

for the period. Estimated cash operating costs are

allocared between silver and zinc based on the rev-
enue contribution from each metal using the same
prices we use for the purpose of calculating our
reserves under SEC guidelines. We have included
estimated average cash operating cost information
to provide investors with information abour the
cash generating capabilities of the San Cristobal
project. This informarion should not be consid-
ered in isolation or as a substicute for measures of
performance that will be prepared in accordance
with GAAD These measures are not necessarily
indicative of operating profit or cash flow from
operations to be determined under GAAP and
may not be comparable to similarly titled mea-
sures of other companies.

Qur estimate for the toral amount of project fund-
ing required from January 1, 2004 through the
beginning of production in 2007 is approximately
$650 million, an increase of approximately $50
million, or 8%, over the original estimate devel-
oped in 2004. This amount includes all estimated
costs required to commence production at San
Cristobal, including all engineering, procurement
and construction costs, as well as estimates for
constant dollar escalation and contingencies. The
estimate excludes $22 million advanced through
issuance of Ordinary Shares to the company
constructing the power line, $6 million advanced
to or escrowed for the company constructing the
port facilities and approximately $43 million of
working capital. Advances to the power line and
por facility providers are expected to be recouped
through credits applied against payments for the
contracted services. Of the $650 million budgeted
amount, we have spent $518 million through

the end of 2006 and expect to spend the remain-
ing amounts through the start up of operations
expected during the third quarter of 2007.

Transaction with Sumitomo Corporation
On September 25, 2006, we sold to Sumitomo
Corporation (“Sumitome”) a 35% interest in

the San Cristobal project. Specifically, Sumitomo
purchased a 35% interest in Minera San Cristobal
5.A, ("MSC"), our Belivian subsidiary chat owns
and operates the San Cristobal project; Apex Silver
Finance Ltd., our Cayman Islands subsidiary

that holds the metals hedge positions; and Apex
Metals Marketing GmbH, our Swiss subsidiary
that markers the project concentrates to smelters
around the world, We also sold to Sumitomo a
35% interest in certain other project-related assets
not held by these three subsidiaries.

We continue to own 65% of each of these three
subsidiaries and, subject to the provisions of the
Shareholders Agreement described below, we have
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operational control of the San Cristobal project.
"The MSC Sharcholders Agreement entered into
in connection with the sale to Sumitomo provides
that the majority sharcholder (currently Apex
Silver) will have the right to name a majority of
the directors on the MSC board of directors and
to appoint the Chairman of the board. As long
as the minority shareholder holds more than 25%
of the ourstanding stock of MSC, the minority
shareholder will have at least one representative
on the board of directors and certain signifi-

cant martters must be approved by that minotity
shareholder’s director. These significant matters
include the approval of annual programs and
budgets, increases of 15% or more over budgeted
capital expenditures or operating expenses (with
customary exceptions for emergencies and compli-
ance}, merger or liquidation, permanent cessation
or suspension of mining for more than 180 days
at the project, or abandonment of the project. Ifa
deadlock with respect to the adoption or amend-
ment in excess of 15% of a program and budget
continues for 180 days, the majority sharcholder’s
directors are then entitled to approve the program

and budger.

The MSC Shareholders Agreement provides that
we and Sumitomo will contribute our proportion-
ate share of funding required for MSC to achieve
commercial operations. If either sharcholder

fails to provide its pro rata share of funding, che
shareholder’s interest in MSC will be diluted on a
two for one basis. Following the commencement
of commercial operations, we and Sumitomo

may choose to provide our proportionate share of
additional funding, if any, or be diluted on a one
for one basis. [f either shareholder’s interest in
MSC is reduced, the corresponding interest in the
other two subsidiaries would be similarly adjusted
so that the parties’ ownership interests in the three
companies would remain identical.

If Sumitomo were to dilute below 25% ownership
of MSC solely as a result of its failure o provide
future funding, and were to refuse to approve a
program and budget proposed by Apex Silver for
more than 180 days, Sumitomo could elect to sell
1o us all (bur not less than all) of its remaining
incerest in MSC for $224 million, reduced pro
ratz by the percentage of year-end 2005 reserves
already produced from the San Cristobal project.

San Cristobal Project Finance Facility

In December 2005, we entered into a $225 mil-
lion project finance facility to be used for the
completion of construction of the San Cristobal
project. We amended the terms of the project
finance facility in September 2006 in connection
with the Sumitome transaction. As of March 27,
2007, we had borrowed $200 million under che
facility.

Under the terms of the project finance facility,

all of the assets of MSC are secured in favor of
the lenders. In addition, we and Sumitomo have
pledged all of the equity interests in our jointly
owned subsidiaries: MSC, Apex Silver Finance
and Apex Metals Marketing. We and Sumitomo
have each agreed to fund cost overruns at the San
Cristobal project and have guaranteed the satisfac-
tion of the metals derivative positions held by
Apex Silver Finance. In each case, our obligation is
limited to our pro rata ownership interest in MSC
and the obligation will terminate upon comple-
tion of the project, as defined in the project
finance facility, which is expected to be no later
than December 2008. In connection with certain
amendments to the project finance facility, we
and Sumitomo intend to provide a limited past-
completion guarantee of the satisfaction of the
metals derivative positions. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations-Liquidity and Capitol
Resources—San Cristobal Project Finance Facility.”

As a result of the restatement of our financial
statements relating to the valuation of our open
derivative positions we breached certain represen-
tation and covenants under the project finance
facility regarding the preparation of financial state-
ments in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We also
had certain other technical covenant violations
under the terms of the facility. In March 2007,
we received waivers and confirmations from our
lenders for these potential covenant violations and
any related events of default. See “Management
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations-Liquidity and Capital
Resoutces” for further discussion of the covenant
violations and related waivers.
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Reserves

We have completed 549 reverse circulation drill
holes and 85 diamond case drill holes, for a total
of approximately 150,000 merers at San Cristobal.
The drill holes were generally spaced at intervals of
approximately 75 meters. This drilling indicates
that the mineralization is present over an area of
1,500 meters by 1,500 merers. The ore deposit de-
fined by this drilling is open at depth and laterally.

The quality assurance/quality control program
used at San Cristobal included regular insertion
and analysis of blanks and standards to monitor
laboratory performance. Blanks are used to check
for contamination and standards are used to check
for grade-dependent biases, Duplicate samples
were routinely submitted to different laboratories
for assay, with the results of these check assays
analyzed in total and separately by deposit, drill
type and grade. We conducted confirmation drill-
ing, both our own twinning of reverse circulation
holes with diamond core holes and independent
confirmation drilling by an independent irm.

Using additional data collected during raining,
activiries in 2003 and 2006, proven and probable
reserves were recalculated in February 2007 using

a $8.37 net smelter return per tonne cutoff value
for oxides, a $7.26 net smelter return per tonne
cutoff value for sulfides and market price assump-
tions of $8.51 per ounce silver, $0.86 per pound
zinc and $0.47 per pound lead. These prices rep-
resent the three-year average prices for each of the
metals through December 20006 as per guidelines
established by the SEC, The following table shows
out proven and probable reserves of silver, zinc,
and lead for sulfide ore and oxide ore ar the San
Cristobal project. Our reserves wete calculated by
Mine Reserves Associates, Inc., using a fully de-
signed pit model that incorporates design slopes,
practical mining shapes and access ramps. Ore
blocks within the deposit model are designated as
proven if they are within 40 meters (40 percent
of the average variogram range) and ac least three
drill holes were used to evaluarte the block. Ore
blocks are designated as probable if they are be-
tween 40 meters and the average variogram range
of 100 meters and ar least two drill holes were
used to evaluate the block. Additionally, blocks
within 40 meters but evaluated by a single drill
hole were also classified as probable, Proven and
probable classifications are only determined after
economic criteria are applied to define the ore.

Proven and Probable Reserves

Average Grade Contained Metals (1)
Tonnes Silver Zinc Lead Silver Zinc Lead
of ore Grade Grade Grade QOunces Tonnes Tonnes
{000s) (g/tonne) (%) (%) (000s) {000s) {000s)
Sulfide Ore
Proven 188,750 51.6 1.67 0.53 | 313,000 3,159 997
Probable 40,244 46.5 1.73 0.50 60,000 696 201
Oxide Ore
Proven 19,889 105.8 0.07 0.58 68,000 14 116
Probable 1,890 84.5 0.07 0.52 5,000 1 10
Total 250,773 55.3 1.54 0.53 | 446,000 3,870 1,324

(1Y Amounts are shown as contained metals in ore and therefore do nor reflect tosses in the recovery process. Sulfide ore reserves are expected
to have an approximate average recovery of 78% for silver, 93% for zinc and 86% for lead. Ouide ore reserves are expected to have an average
recovery of 609 for silver and 50% for lead. Based on ke assumptions contained in the 2006 reserve report prepared by Mine Reserves Associ-
ates, Inc., the estimated strip ratio of the mine is 2.29:1.
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Republic of Bolivia

Bolivia is situated in central South America and is
bordered by Peru, Brazil, Paraguay, Argentina and
Chile. It has an area of approximately 1.1 million
square kitometers and a population of approxi-
mately 9 million people. Bolivias official and most
widely spoken language is Spanish, but a large
sector of the population is eicher native Aymara at

Quechua Indian,

In December 2005, Evo Morales, the leader of
the Movement to Socialism party, was elected
president. At various times during 2006, President
Morales and others in his administration have
made public stacements regarding their desire to
exert greater state control over resource produc-
tion in Bolivia, including mining. In May 2000,
President Morales required companies operating
in the hydrocarbon industry to negotiate new
contracts with the government, resulting in some
cases in a significantly higher effective tax rate.

To date, there have been no formal proposals to
nationalize the mining industry. The government
may, however, alter its current policies with respect
to the mining industry.

Bolivian law provides for unrestricred repatriation
of capital, freedom to import goods and services
and equality under the law between foreign and
domestic companies.

Mining companies in Bolivia are subject to a 25%
income tax, with taxable income determined in
accordance with Bolivian generally accepred ac-
counting principles. Mining companies are also
subject to a complementary mining tax (“CMT"),
which is creditable against the income tax. The
amount of the CMT is equal to the value of the
concentrare multiplied by a tax rate, which ranges
from 19 to 5% for zinc and lead concentrates.
The value of the concentrate is approximately
equal to the amount of contained metals in the
concentrate multiplied by a commodity price

that is published by the Bolivian government.
Historically, these prices have been approximately
equal to market prices. The Bolivian government
is currently considering various alternatives for
changes to the Mining Code and mining taxation,
which could include changes in CMT rates. These
changes could ultimately result in an increasc in
the taxation of mining.

We are also subject to other taxes in Bolivia,
including dividend and interest withholding tax,
import duties, and value-added rax (“VAT"). Most
remittances abroad of Bolivian source income,
including interest income, are subject to a 12.5%
withholding tax. In addition, we are required to
pay import duties of 5% on capital goods and

10

10% on other imports. As an exporter, however,
we are eligible for a refund of import duties up

to an amount equal to 5% of the net value of our
exports. We are also subject to VAT of 13%. We
are eligible for a refund of VAT paid on imports
and raw materials included in the cost of exported
goods, but the amount recoverable is limited

1o 13% of the net value of our exports. For the
purpose of determining the cap on refunds for
both import duties and VAT, the net value of our
exports is equal to the gross value of our exports
reduced by certain statutory deductions. As
provided by Bolivian law, we are importing certain
plant components and equipment without pay-
ment of VAT or import duties.

All mineral deposits in Bolivia are the property

of the State. Mining concessions awarded by the
Stare grant the holder, subject to certain pay-
ments, the exclusive right to carry out prospect-
ing, exploration, exploitation, concentration,
smelting, refining and marketing activities with
respect to all mineral substances located within a
given concession. Under Bolivian law, local and
foreign companies are treated equally in obtaining
mineral concessions. With respect to nationalized
and other concessions still held by State-owned
Comibol, private investors may enter into joint
venture, lease or services agreements with Comi-
bol. Holders of mining concessions are obliged to
pay an annual mining patent, the fees for which
are progressive and are based on the number

of years of existence of the concession. Mining
concessions are liable to forfeiture when the corre-
sponding annual patent fails to be paid. Conces-
sions established before the enactment of the New
Mining Code in 1997, which comprise an area of
more than 1,000 mining claims, pay the equiva-
lent of $1.00 per claim per year for the first five
years of the existence of the concession; thereafter,
the patent increases to the equivalent of $2.00

per claim per year. Concessions established under
the New Mining Code pay the following: for the
first five years of the existence of a concession, the
owner is required to pay the equivalent of $25.00
per cuadricula (equivalent to 25 hectares) per year;
thereafter the patent increases to the equivalent of
$50.00 per cuadricula per year. Most of our mate-
rial Bolivian concessions were established prior to
enactment of the New Mining Code.

In May 2006, the Constitutional Court of Bolivia
issued a ruling declaring certain articles of the
1997 Mining Code unconstitutional. The Court’s
ruling is not effective until May 2008, and the
Court urged the Bolivian Congress to enact legis-
lation during that time which may supersede the
ruling, Although the Court’s ruling is not expected




Apex Silver
Mines Limited

Part 1:

Form 10-K

to impact our ability to operate the San Ciristobal
project, the ruling may limit the transferability of
our mining concessions and restrict our ability to
mortgage our San Cristobal mining concessions
as collateral to the ienders providing financing for
the project.

Bolivia has a national environmental policy to
protect the envirenment and to promotz sustain-
able development, the preservation of biological
diversity and environmental education. Under
Bolivia's environmental regulations, environmen-
tal impact assessments are required, and conces-
sion holders must maintain waterways running,
through their concessions in their unspciled state,
employ exploration and development techniques
that minimize environmental damage and mini-
mize damage to surface righes, to neighboring
concessions and to the environment.

Bolivia has experienced high levels of unemploy-
ment and underemployment. Bolivia has a large
pool of unskilled and, in the mining secror, semi-
skilled laber, but a relative shortage of skilled labor
and managerial expertise overall. A large portion
of the labor force chat is engaged in wage employ-
ment is also unionized, although union participa-
tion is not mandatory and collective bargaining
agreements are very rare, as negotiarions are gener-
ally carried out between an individual company’s
union and management.

Geology

The geology of the San Cristobal deposit dates

to the Miocene age and is comprised of volcano-
clastics {tuff & tufhites), sedimentary and igneous
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(intrusives) rocks within a circular volcanic crater,
approximately four kilometers in diamerter. Vol-
canoclastic and sedimentary units formed during
periods of intense volcanism and subsequent ero-
sion, occupying the center portion of the crater,
and were intruded by repeated intrusive events.

The San Cristobal orebody has formed as a result
of syngenetic and epigenetic mineralizing events.
Approximarely half of the current known min-
eralization lies within the volcanoclastic units as
disseminated stratabound mineralization, which
is of a higher grade than mineralization in the
intrusives. Mineralization within the intrusives is
largely restricred to breccias on the outer limits
and vein to disseminated hosted towards the
center of the intrusive bodies. The dominant sul-
phide minerals hosting the zinc, lead and silver are
Sphalerite, Galena and Tetrahedrite respectively.
Surface weathering has affected the upper pare of
the orebody (45 — 70m), creating a small layer of
oxide ore which covers the larger sulfide orebody
beneath.

The San Cristobal orebody is comprised of two
major mineralized zones (Jayula and Tesorera),
which outcrop at the surface but join at depth o
form the same conrtiguous orebody. Initially, the
two mineralized zones of Jayula and Tesorera were
thought to be two separarte orebodies. Subsequent
drilling and improvements to the geological un-
derstanding of the deposit confirmed that Tesorera
and Jayula are part of the same massive orebody,
which is currently open in nearly all directions

and at depth.
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In addition to San Cristobal, we have a portfolio
of over 50 property groups in Mexico, Peru, Ar-
gentina and Bolivia that we believe conrtain poten-
tial for silver, base metals and gold mineralization
or have other significant exploration potendal.
These mineral properties typically consist of:

concessions which we have acquired, or applied
for directly;

concessions which we have leased, typically with
an option to purchase; and

concessions which we have agreed to explore and
develop and, if feasible, bring into production, in
cancert with joint venture partners.

We generally seek to structure our acquisitions of
mineral rights so that individual properties can
be optioned for exploration and subsequenily
acquired at reasonable cost if justified by explora-
tion results. Properties thar we determine do not
warrant further exploration or development ex-
penditures are divested, typically without further
financial obligation to us.

We have increased the rate of evaluation of many
of our properties to the point thar decisions can
be made to either advance them or divest them.
Our boeard of directors has approved an increase

in our exploration budget from $8.5 million in
2006 to $14.5 million for 2007. Our focus is to
drill test our more promising projects to identify
which of them may be advanced ro a development
stage as soon as possible. At the end of 2006, five
prospects were being drilled and several more were
undergoing preparatory work for drilling in early
2007. Qur meore promising projects are locared

in Argentina, Mexico and Peru and early results
indicate that at least one project in each country
will show sufficient promise to warrant a more ad-
vanced stage of exploration. This will involve more
drilling and preliminary metallurgical, engineering
and environmental work.

Although we believe that our exploration proper-
ties may contain significanc silver and/or other
mineralization, our analysis of most of these prop-
erties is at a preliminary stage and some or all of
the properties may not advance to a development
stage. Due to the preliminary stage of activities

at each of our exploration properties, we do not
consider any of our exploration properties to be
individually marerial. The activities performed to
date at these properties often have involved the
analysis of data from previous explorartion efforts
by others, supplemented by our own exploration
programs.

In connection with the sale of 35% of the San
Cristobal project to Sumitome, we and Sumitomo
entered into a two-year Option Agreement pursu-
ant to which Sumitomo may acquire a 20 to 35
percent interest in certain of our active exploration
properties at historical cost, and in each of certain
inactive exploration properties at historical cost
once we have spent $200,000 in exploration costs.
Sumitome must exercise its option on each active
propetty within 60 days of receiving complete
information regarding the property and on each
inactive properry within 60 days of our spending
$200,000 on the property. As of March 27, 2007,

Sumitomo had not exercised its option to acquire

any cxploration pt‘OpE[’[iCS.
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Silver Market

Silver has traditionally served as a medium of
exchange, much like gold. Silver’s strength, mal-
leability, ductilicy, thermal and electrical conduc-
tivity, sensitivity to light and ability t erdure
extreme changes in temperature combine to make
silver a widely used industrial meral. While silver
continues to be used as a form of investment and
a financial asset, the principal uses of silver are
industrial, primarily in electrical and electronic
components, photography, jewelry, silverware,
batteties, computer chips, electrical conracrs, and
high technology printing. Silver’s anti-bacterial
properties also make it valuable for use in medi-
cine and in water purification. Additionally, new
uses of silver are being developed in connection
with the use of superconductive wire.

Most silver production is obtained from mining
operations in which silver is not the prinzipal or
primary product. Approximately 80% of mined
silver is produced as 2 by-product of mining lead,
zing, gold or copper deposits. The CPM Group,
a precious meral and commodities consultant,
estimates that total silver supply from mine

Zinc and Lead Markets

Dhe to the corrosion resisting property cf zinc, it
is used primarily as the coating in galvanized steel.
Galvanized steel is widely used in construction of
infrastrucrure, housing and office buildings. In the
automotive industry, zinc is used for galvanizing
and die-casting, and in the vulcanization of tires.
Smaller quantities of various forms of zinc are
used in the chemical and pharmaceurical indus-
tries, including fertilizers, food supplements and
cosmetics, and in specialty electronic applications
such as satellite receivers.

production, recycling, estimared dishoarding and
government stockpile sales has been insufficient
to meet industrial demand from 1990 through at
least 2005.

The following table sets forth for the periods
indicated the New York Commodities Exchange
(“COMEX") nearby active silver futures contract’s
high and low price of silver in U.S. dollars per
troy ounce. On March 27, 2007 the closing price
of silver was $13.27 per troy ounce.

Sitver
Year High Low
2002 5.13 4.22
2003 5.99 4.35
2004 829 5.49
2005 9.01 6.41
2006 14.83 8.74

The primary use of lead is in motor vehicle batter-
ies, but it is also used in cable sheathing, shot for
ammunition and alloying, Lead in chemical form
is used in alloys, glass and plastics. Lead is widely
recycled, with secondary production accounting in
recent years for approximately half of total supply.

The following table sets forth for the periods indi-
cated the London Metals Exchange’s high and low
settlement prices of zinc and lead in U.S. dollars
per pound. On March 27, 2007 the closing prices
of zinc and lead were $1.45 and $0.84 per pound,
respectively.

Zinc
Year High
2002 0.42
2003 0.46
2004 0.56
2005 0.87
2006 2.05

Low
0.33
0.34
0.42
0.54

0.87

Lead
High Low
0.24 0.18
0.34 0.19
0.45 0.29
0.51 0.37
0.80 0.43
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Apex Silver has four executive officers, a President and Chief Executive Officer, an Executive Vice President
and Chief Operating Officer, a Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and a Vice President and
Controller. Set forth below is a list of the executive officers and other personnel of Apex Silver.

Name Age Position
’Jeﬂ‘rey G. Clevenger 57 President and Chief Executive Officer
Alan R. Edwards 49 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
I Gerald J. Malys 62 Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer —I
Robert P Vogels 49 Vice President, Controller
l]erry W. Danni 54 Senior Vice President, Corporate Affairs
Terry L. Owen 58 Senior Vice President, Project Development
I Robert B. Blakestad 60 Vice President, Exploration and Chief Geologist
Donald R. Ratcliff 51 Vice President, Marketing and Treasurer

Jeffrey G. Clevenger. Mr. Clevenger was elected 1o
serve as a director and appointed as our President
and Chief Executive Officer in October 2004.

M. Clevenger worked as an independent con-
sultant from 1999, when Cyprus Amax Minerals
Company, his previous employer, was sold, unil
he joined us in 2004. Mr. Clevenger served as Se-
nior Vice President and Executive Vice President
of Cyprus Amax Minerals Company from 1993
to 1998 and 1998 10 1999, respectively, and as
President of Cyprus Climax Merals Company and
its predecessor, Cyprus Copper Company, a large
integrated producer of copper and molybdenum
with operations in North and South America,
from 1993 to 1999. He was Senior Vice President
of Cyprus Copper Company from August 1992 o
January 1993. From 1973 to 1992, Mr. Clevenger
held various technical, management and executive
positions at Phelps Dodge Corporation, including
President and General Manager of Phelps Dodge
Morenci, Inc. Mr. Clevenger holds a B.S. in
Mining Engineering with Honors from the New
Mezico Institute of Mining and Technology and
is a graduate of the Advanced International Senior
Management Program of Harvard University. He
is a Member of the American Institute of Mining,
Metallurgical and Petroleum Engineers and the
Metallurgical Society of America.

Alan R. Fdwards. Mr. Edwards was appointed

to the position of Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer in June 2004, From July
2003 until he joined us, Mr. Edwards served first
as Vice President, Technical Services and Project
Development and then as Vice President Opera-
tions of Kinross Gold Corporation. From March
2002 chrough June 2003, he pursued indepen-
dent business interests. From April 2000 through

February 2002, Mr. Edwards served first as Vice
President, Surface Mines, and then as Senior Vice
President, Operations of PT. Freeport Indonesia.
Mr. Edwards was Vice President and General
Manager and then President and General Manager
of the Cyprus Amax Minerals Company subsid-
iary which owned and operated the Cerro Verde
open pit copper mine in Peru from 1998 through
2000, and served from 1996 until 1998 as Vice
President and General Manager of the Cyprus
subsidiary which owned and operated the Sierrita
copper mine in Arizona. Prior to joining Cyprus
in 1996, Mr. Edwards spent 13 years in various
positions at Phelps Dodge Corporation, includ-
ing General Manager Operations at Chino Mines
Company and Mine Superintendent at Phelps
Dodge Morenci, Inc. He holds a B.S. in Mining
Engineering and an M.B.A. from the University

of Arizona.

Gerald . Malys. Mr. Malys was appointed as our
Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Finan-
cial Officer in June 2006. Mr. Malys was a private
investor from 1999, when his previous employer,
Cyprus Amax Minerals Company, was sold, until
he joined us in 2006. Mr. Malys was employed by
Cyprus Amax Minerals Company from 1985 to
1999, first as Vice President, Tax and Information
Services, and Corporate Controller from 1985

to 1989, and then as Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer from 1989 to 1999. From
1972 to 1985, he held various positions with Gulf
il Company, including Vice President of Gulf
Exploration and Production Company, Assistant
Corporate Controller, Senior Manager Corporate
Accounting, and Director of SEC Repotting.

Mr. Malys served as a director of Amax Gold Inc.
from 1993 10 1998 and of Kinross Gold Corpora-
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tion from 1998 to 1999. Mr. Malys holds a B.S.
in Accounting from Gannon University and isa
member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

Robert P Vogels. Mr. Vogels has served as Con-
troller of Apex Silver since January 2005 and

was named Vice President, Controller in fanuary
20006. Prior to joining Apex Silver, Mr. Vogels
served as Corporate Controller for Meridian Gold
Company from January 2004 uniil December
2004. He served as the Controller of INCO
Limited's Goro project in New Caledonia from
October 2002 to January 2004. Prior to joining
INCO, Mt. Vogels worked for Cyprus Minerals
Company, which was acquired in 1999 by Phelps
Dodge Corp., from 1985 through Ocrober 2002,
During that time, he served in several capacities,
including as the Controller for its El Abra copper
mine in Chile from 1997 until March 2002, Mr.
Vogels began his career in public accounting
where he earned his CPA certification. He holds
a B.S. in Accounting and an M.B.A. degree from
Colorado State University.

Jerry W Danni. Mr. Danni joined Apex Silver in
February 2005 as the Senior Vice President, En-
vironment, Health and Safecty and in March 2005
was appointed Senior Vice President, Corporate
Affairs. Priot 1o joining Apex Silver, Mr. Danni
served as Senior Vice President, Environment
Health and Safety of Kinress Geld Corporation
from January 2003 until February 2005 and as
Vice President, Environmental Affairs from July
2000 until January 2003. While at Kinross he was
instrumental in the design and implementation of
integrated environmental, health and safery (EHS)
systems and processes for Kinross operations
worldwide, and was also responsible for manage-
ment of the Reclamation Operations Business
Unit. From 1994 to July 2000, Mr. Danni was the
Vice President of Environmental Affairs for Cy-
prus Climax Metals Cempany. Prior to working
for Cyprus, Mr. Danni held senior environmental,
health and safery management positions with Lac
Minerals Ltd. and Homestake Mining Company.
Mr. Danni holds a B.S. in Chemistry from West-
ern State College, and is a member of the Sociery
of Mining Engineers and a past director of the
National Mining Association.

Terry L. Owen. In June 2005, Mr. Owen was
appointed Senior Vice President, Project Develop-
ment of Apex Silver. Prior to joining Apex Silver,
Mr. Owen was an independent consultant from
December 2003 through May 2005. From Febru-
ary 2001 through September 2003, he served

as Vice President Capital Projects for INCO
Limited. Prior to that he was employed by Cyprus
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Amax Minerals Company from 1995 to 2000 in
various positions, including Vice President Project
Development. He also held various positions
with Freeport McMoran Ing, from 1980 to 1995,
beginning as Assistant General Superintendent of
one of Freeports mines and rising to the position
of Vice President and Assistant General Manager.
Mr. Owen holds a B.S. in Mining Engincering
from the University of Idaho and is a graduate of
the Advanced [nternational Senior Management
Program of Harvard University.

Robert B. Blakestad, In November 2004, Mr.
Blakestad was appointed as Vice President,
Exploration and Chief Geologist of Apex Sil-

ver. Prior to joining Apex Silver, Mr. Blakestad
served as Chief Executive Officer of International
Taurus Resources from May 1998 until Novem-
ber 2004. He was Vice President, Exploration for
Amax Gold from 1996 to 1998 and Exploration
Manager for Cyprus Amax Minerals Company
from 1990 until 1996. He held various paositions
at Homestake Mining Company from 1979 unuil
1990, beginning as a Senior Geologist and rising
to the position of Manager, U.S. Reconnaissance.
Mr. Blakestad holds a B.S. in Mining Engineer-
ing from the New Mexico Institute of Mining
and Technotogy and an M.S. in Geology from
the University of Colerade. He is a member of
the American Institute of Mining, Metallurgi-
cal and Petroleum Engineers and of the Society
of Economic Geologists. He holds professional
certifications from the State of Washingron and
the Province of Nova Scotia.

Donald R. Rarcliff. Mr. Raccliff was appointed to
the position of Vice President, Risk Management
and Treasurer of Apex Silver in November 2006.
He was named Vice President, Marketing and
Treasurer in January 2007. Prior to joining Apex
Silver, Mr. Ratcliff was Vice President of Phelps
Dodge Sales Company since 1999. From 1986 to
1999, Mr. Raccliff held various positions with the
Cyprus group of companies including Financial
Analyst, Coordinator — Coal Contracts, Senior
Financial Analyst, Coordinator — Merals Market
Strategy, Assistant Manager — Raw Materials, and
Manager — Commercial. He began his career at
Tenneco Minerals Company where he worked
from 1980 to 1986 as a Planning Analyst and as
a Planning and Project Analyst. Mr. Rarcliff holds
a M.S. in Mineral Economics from the Colorado
School of Mines and a B.A. in Economics and
Policical Science from the University of Denver.
He is a Member of the Mineral Economics and
Management Society and the American Institute
of Mining, Metallurgical and Petroleum Engi-
neers.
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As of March 27, 2007, we had approximately 830
full-time employees.

Our insider trading policy permits our officers,
directors and other insiders to enter into rrading
plans or arrangements for systematic trading in

our securities under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securi-
ties Exchange Act of 1934. Certain of our officers
previously have established such plans, and we
anticipate that some or all of our other officers,
direcrors or insiders may establish trading plans at
some date in the future.

Investors in Apex Silver should consider carefully,

in addition to the other information contained in,
or incorporated by reference into, this report, the

following risk factors.

We have no history of production.

We have no history of producing silver or other
metals. The development of our San Cristobal
project requires the completion of construction,
starcup and operation of the mine, processing
plants and related infrastructure. As a result,

we are subject to all of the risks associated with
establishing new mining operations and business
enterprises. There can be no assurance that we will
successfully establish mining operations or profit-
ably produce silver or other metals at any of our
properties.

We have a history of losses and may

not be able to achieve profitability in the
future.

As an exploration and development company that
has no production history, we have incurred losses
since our inception. As of December 31, 2006, we
had an accumulated deficit of $773 millien and

a sharcholder equity deficit of $103 million, due
largely to the mark-to-market liability of our met-
als derivative positions. Our ability to address and
sustain profitability at the San Cristobal project
will depend on the prices of silver, zinc and lead,
and on our ability to control costs. There can be
no assurance that we will achieve or sustain profit-

ability in the future.

The calculation of our reserves and other
mineralization is subject to significant
estimates.

Unless otherwise indicated, reserves and other
mineralization figures presented in our filings with
the SEC, press releases and other public state-
ments that may be made from time to time are
based on estimates of contained silver and other
metals made by independent geologists or our
own personnel. These estimates are imprecise and
depend on geological interpretation and staristi-
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cal inferences drawn from drilling and sampling
that may prove to be unreliable. There can be no
assurance that:

these estimates will be accurate;

reserves and other mineralization figures will be
accurate; or

reserves or mineralization could be mined and

processed profitably.

Reserves and other mineralization estimates may
require adjustments or downward revisions based
on actual production experience. For instance, the
information we have gathered during pre-strip-
ping activity at San Cristobal during 2006 was
one facror in the revisions to our reserve estimares
in February 2007. In addition, extended declines
in market prices for silver, zinc and lead may
render portions of our reserves uneconomic and
result in reduced reported reserves. Any material
reductions in estimates of our reserves and other
mineralization, or of our ability to extract these
reserves or mineralization, could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, finan-
cial condition and cash flows.

We have not established the presence of proven or
probable reserves at any of our mineral properties
other than the San Cristobal project. There can be
no assurance that subsequent testing or future fea-
sibility studies will establish additional reserves at
our properties. The failure to establish additional
reserves could restrict our ability to successfully
implement our strategies for long-term growth
beyond the San Cristobal project.

The San Cristobal project is subject to
risks including delays in completion and
we may be unable to achieve anticipated
production volume or manage cost
increases.

Completion of the development and start-up of
the San Cristobal project is subject to various
facrors, including the performance of our engi-
neering and construction contractors, mining
contractor, suppliers and consultants. Any delay in
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the performance of any one or more of the parties
listed above could delay or prevent the develop-
ment of San Cristobal as currently planned. There
can be no assurance:

when or whether the San Cristobal project will be
completed and start-up will commence;

whether the resulting operations will achizve the
anticipated production volume; or

that the construction costs and ongoing operating
costs associated with the development of the San
Cristobal project will not be higher than antici-
pated.

We have never developed or operated a mine or
managed a significant mine development project.
We cannot assure you that the start-up of San
Cristobal will be completed at the cost and on the
schedule predicted, or that silver, zinc and lead
grades and recoveries, production rates or antici-
pated capital or operating costs will be achieved.

We believe thar we have sufficient funds to com-
plete the development of the San Cristobzl proj-
ect. If the actual cost to complete the project is
significantly higher than currently expecied, there
can be no assurance that we will have sufficient
funds to cover these costs or that we will be able
to obtain alternative sources of financing to cover
these costs. Unexpected cost increases, reduced
silver and zinc prices or the failure to obtain neces-
sary additional financing on acceprable terms, to
complete the development of the San Cristobal
project on a timely basis, or to achieve anticipated
production capacity, could have 2 material adverse
effect on our furure results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

We depend on a single mining project
which is not 100% owned by us.

We anticipate thar the majority, if not all, of any
revenues for the next few years and beyond will be
derived from the sale of metals mined at the San
Cristobal project. Therefore, if we are unable to
complete and successfully mine the San Cristobal
project, our ability to generate revenue and profits
would be materially adversely affected.

In September 2006, we sold 35% of the San
Cristobal project to Sumitomo Corporatian. As

a result of this transaction, Sumitomo obtained
certain rights with respect to the management

and operation of the project. For example, certain
significant mattets for the project require the ap-
proval of Sumiromo, including approval of annual
programs and budgets, and increases of 15% or
more in capital expenditures or operating expenses
and mergers or liquidations. If Sumitomo does
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not approve our proposals with respect to these
matters, we may face significant delays in com-
pleting the project or improving irs operations
and may be unable to operate the project in the
manner we believe to be in the best interests of
our shareholders.

We and Sumitomo are required to provide our
proportionate shares of funding for the project in
order to complete construction and begin com-
mercial operations. In 2003, in connection with
the project finance facility, we placed in restrictive
accounts $184 million to fund construction of
the San Cristobal project. In October 2005, we
announced a2 $50 million increase in anticipated
construction costs, which will be funded 65% by
us and 33% by Sumitomo. If additional funding
is necessary and Sumitomo does not pay its 35%
share of such additional amounts, we would need
to fund those amounts ourselves and there can be
1o assurance that we would have sufficient capical
to fund the amounts required and even if we do,
additianal amounts spent at San Cristobal may
decrease our ability to fully fund our exploration
program.

Sumitomo is also required to comply with cerain
provisions of the San Cristobal projecr financing
agreements. If Sumitomo fails to comply with its
obligations, the failure could result in a default
under those agreements, and in the subsequent
acceleration of the San Cristobal project loans and
settlement obligations under the derivative posi-
tions required by the project lenders, and enforce-
ment of the lenders’ liens against the San Cristobal
project. See “—We may be unable to comply with
the terms and covenants of the debt financing for
our San Cristobal Project.”

Our success will depend on our ability to
manage our growth.

As we increase our development activity at San
Cristobal and shift from construction to opera-
tion, we are experiencing significant growth in
our operations, which we expect to continue

and accelerate as we complete construction and
anticipate the commencement of production in
the third quarter of 2007. This growth has created
and will continue to create new positions and re-
sponsibilities for management personnel and will
substantially increase demands on our operating
and financial systems, especially those manage-
ment personnel and systems that are located in
Bolivia. There can be no assurance that we will
successfully meet these demands and manage our
anticipated growch,
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QOur profitability will be affected by
changes in the prices of metals.

Our profitability and long-term viability depend,
in large part, on the market price of silver, zinc,
lead and other metals. The market prices for these
metals are volatile and are affected by numerous
factors beyond our control, including:

global or regional consumption patterns;

supply of, and demand for, silver, zinc, lead and
other metals;

speculative activities;

expectations for inflation; and
political and economic conditions.

The aggregate effect of these facrors on metals
prices is impossible for us to predict. Decreases in
merals prices in the past have delayed the develop-
ment of the San Cristobal project, and could in
the future adversely affect our ability to finance
the exploration and development of our other
properties, which would have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and resules of op-
erations and cash flows. There can be no assurance
that metals prices will not decline.

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated (1) the COMEX nearby active silver fucures contract’s
high and low price of silver in U.S. dollars per troy ounce and (2) the London Metals Exchange’s high and low

settlement prices of zinc and lead in U.S. dollars per pound.

Silver Zinc Lead

Year High Low High Low High Low
2002 5.13 422 0.42 0.33 0.24 0.18
2003 5.99 4.35 0.46 0.34 0.34 0.19
2004 8.29 5.49 0.56 0.42 0.45 0.29
2005 9.01 6.41 0.87 0.54 0.51 0.37
2006 14.83 8.74 2.05 0.87 0.80 0.43
2007" 14.70 12.19 1.88 1.40 0.88 0.70

* Through March 27, 2007

The closing prices of silver, zinc and lead on
March 27, 2007 were $13.27 pet wroy ounce,
$1.45 per pound and $.084 per pound, respec-
tively.

We may not be successful in hedging
against metals price, currency and
interest rate fluctuations; we expect

to incur mark-to-market losses on our
metals price hedges and could lose
maney through our hedging programs.
We have entered into metals trading transactions
to hedge apainst commodity and base merals

price risks, using puts, calls and forward sales. The
terms of our debt financing for the San Cristobal
project require that we utilize various price hedg-
ing techniques to hedge a portion of the metals
we plan to produce at San Cristobal. 1f we fail to
maintain the minimum level of hedge transactions
required by the terms of our debt financing for the
San Cristobal project, our ability to draw addi-
tional amounts from the lenders may be adversely
affected. These derivative positions represent 4%,

13% and 17% of planned life-of-mine payable
producticn of silver, zinc and lead, respectively.
Since the third quarrer of 2005, when the hedge
transactions were entered into, we have recorded
an aggregate of $818 million in non-cash mark-to-
market losses related to the open metals derivative
positions, resulting from increases in the spot and
forward prices for silver, zinc and lead. During the
periods that the derivative positions are outstand-
ing, gains and losses may fluctuare substantially
from period to period based on spot prices, for-
ward prices and quoted option volatilities.

We expect to settle these hedges over time after
the San Cristobal project is in production. If the
completion and start-up of the project is delayed,
operations are interrupted for any significanc
period or if we are unable for any reason to sell the
quantity of metals corresponding to the terms of
the applicable forward sale, we may be required to
settle the forward sale and incur a loss equal to the
difference in the terms of the forward sales agree-
ment and the then current spot price. Depending
on the price of the applicable metal ar that time,
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the settlement of the forward sales could have a
material adverse effect on our financial candition,
results of operations and cash flows.

Further, under certain circumstances, we may be
required to liquidate our hedge positions before
their anticipared settlement date. Specifically, the
hedge agreements contain a cross-default provision
which entitles the hedge counterparties to acceler-
ate the settlement date of the hedge positions in
the event we default on the repayment of amounts
due under the project finance facilicy. Amounss
due upon early termination of our hedge positions
could be in excess of the mark-to-market losses
we've already recorded. There can be no assur-
ance that we would have sufficient funds on hand
or access to available capital to enable us ro meet
those commitments.

Finally, there can be no assurance that the use

of hedging techniques will ultimately be 1o our
benefit. Hedging instruments that protec: against
metals market price volatilicy may prevent us from
realizing the benefit from subsequent increases in
market prices with respect to covered production,
which would cause us to record a mark-ro-market
loss, or decrease our cash Hows and profits. In
additian, our ability to hedge against zinc and lead
price risk in a timely manner may be adversely
affected by the smaller volume of transactions in
both the zinc and lead markets. Hedging con-
tracts also are subject to the risk that the other
party may be unable or unwilling to perform ics
obligations under these contracts. Any significant
nonperformance could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of opera-
tions and cash Aows.

The exploration of mineral properties

is highly speculative in nature, involves
substantial expenditures and is
frequently non-productive.

Our future growth and profitability will depend,
in part, on our ability to identify and acquire
additional mineral rights, and on the costs and
results of our continued exploration and develop-
ment programs. Competition for attractive min-
eral exploration properties is intense. Qut strategy
is to expand our reserves through a broad program
of exploration. Mineral explozation is highly spec-
ulative in nature and is frequently non-productive.
Substantial expenditures are required to:

establish ore reserves through drilling and metal-
lurgical and other testing techniques;

determine metal content and metallurgical recov-
ery processes to extract metal from the ore; and
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construct, renovate or expand mining and process-
ing facilities.

If we discover ore, it usually rakes several years
from che initial phases of exploration unil pro-
duction is possible. During this time, the econom-
ic feasibility of production may change. As a result
of these uncertainties, there can be no assurance
that we will successfully acquire additional mineral
rights, or that our exploration programs will result
in new proven and probable reserves in sufficient
quantities to justify commercial operations at any
of our properties, other than the San Cristobal
project.

We consider from time to time the acquisition

of operating or formerly operating mines. Our
decisions 1o acquire these properties are based on
a variety of factors including historical operating
results, estimates of and assumptions abour future
reserves, cash and other operating costs, merals
prices and projected economic returns, and evalu-
ations of existing or potential liabilities associared
with the property and its operation. Our estimates
and assumptions may turn out to be erroneous or
incorrect. In addition, there is intense competition
for actractive properties. Accordingly, there is no
assurance that our acquisition efforts will result in
profitable mining operations.

Our profitability depends, in part, on
actual economic returns and actual
costs of developing mines, which may
differ significantly from our estimates
and involve unexpected problems and
delays.

None of our mineral properties, including the

San Cristobal project, has an operating history
upon which we can base estimates of future cash
operating costs, Our decision o develop the San
Cristobal project is based on a feasibility study and
decisions abour the development of other projects
in the future may also be based on feasibility stud-
ies. Feasibility studies derive estimates of reserves
and operating costs and project economic returns.
Estimates of economic returns are based, in part,
on assumptions about future metals prices. Qur
profitability will be affected by changes in the
price of metals. Feasibility studies derive estimates
of average cash operating costs based upon, among
other things:

anticipated tonnage, grades and metallurgical
characteristics of ore to be mined and processed;

anticipated recovery rates of silver and other met-
als from the ore;
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cash operating costs of comparable facilities and
equipment; and

anticipated climatic conditions.

Actual cash operating costs, production and eco-
nomic returns may differ significantly from those
anricipated by our studies and estimates.

There are a number of uncertainties inherent in
the development and construction of any new
mine, including the San Cristobal project. These
uncertainties include:

the timing and cost, which can be considerable, of
the construction of mining and processing facili-
ties;

the availability and cost of skilled labor, power,
water and transportation;

the availability and cost of appropriate smelting
and refining arrangements;

the need to obtain necessary environmental and
other governmental permits, and the timing of
those permits; and

the availability of funds to finance construction
and development activities.

The costs, timing and complexities of mine con-
struction and development are increased by the re-
mote location of many mining propertics, like the
San Cristobal project. It is common in new min-
ing operations to experience unexpected problems
and delays during development, constructon and
start-up at mines and mineral processing plants,
and delays in the commencement of mineral pro-
duction often occur. Further, mine construction
and operation may be impacted by our relation-
ships and standing within the communities in
which we operate. Accidents or events detrimental
(or perceived to be detrimental) to the health and
safety of our employees, the environment or the
communities in which we operate could negatively
impact our opetations and create unforeseen prob-
lems and delays. Accordingly, there is no assurance
that our future development activities will result
in profitable mining operations.

Title to our mineral properties may be
challenged.

Qur policy is to seek to confirm the validicy of our
rights to title to, or contract rights with respect to,
each mineral property in which we have a material
interest. However, we cannot guarantee thac tide
to our properties will not be challenged. Title
insurance generally is not available, and our ability
to ensure that we have obrained secure claim to
individual mineral properties or mining conces-
sions may be severely constrained. We have not
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conducted surveys of all of the claims in which we
hold direct or indirect interests and, therefore, the
precise area and location of these claims may be in
doubt. Accordingly, our mineral properties may be
subject to prior unregistered agreements, transfers
or claims, and title may be affected by, among
other things, undetected defects. In addition, we
may be unable to operate our properties as permit-
ted or to enforce our rights with respect to our
properties.

We may lose rights to properties if we
fail to meet payment requirements or
development or production schedules.
We derive the rights to some of our mineral
properties from leaseholds or purchase option
agreements that require the payment of rent or
other installment fees. In addition, we must make
annual mining patent payments to the Bolivian
government totaling approximately $400,000 to
maintain our concessions at San Cristobal. If we
fail to make these payments when they are due,
our rights to the property may lapse. There can be
no assurance that we will always make payments
by the requisite payment dates. Some contracts
with respect to our mineral properties require de-
velopment or production schedules. There can be
no assurance thac we will be able to meet any or
all of the development or production schedules. In
addition, our ability to transfer or sell our rights to
some of our mineral properties requires govern-
mental approvals or third party consents, which
may not be granted.

We cannot insure against all of the risks
associated with mining.

The business of mining is subject to a number of
risks and hazards, including;

adverse environmental effects;
industrial accidents;
labor disputes;

technical difficulties due to unusual or unexpected
geologic formations;

failures of pit walls; and

flooding and periodic interruptions due to inclem-
ent or hazardous weather conditions.

These risks can result in, among other things:

damage 1o, and destruction of, mineral properties
or production facilities;

personal injury;
environmental damage;

delays in mining;
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monetary losses; and
legal liability.

Although we maintain, and intend to coatinue to
mainrain, insurance with respect to our operations
and mineral properties within ranges of cover-

age consistent with industry practice, there can

be no assurance that insurance will be available

at economically feasible premiums. Insurance
against environmental risks is not generally avail-
able. These environmental risks include potential
liability for pollution or other disturbances result-
ing from mining exploration and production. In
addition, not ail risks associated with developing
and producing silver, zinc, lead and other metals
are included in coverage and some covered risks
may result in liabilities which exceed policy limits,
Further, we may elect to not seek coverage for all
risks. The occurrence of an event that is not fully
covered, or covered art all, by insurance, could have
a material adverse effect on our financial condi-
tion, results of operations and cash flows,

We may be subject to fines or other
penalties in connection with an alleged
violation of the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act.

As we have previously disclosed, we have conclud-
ed, based on the results of an internal investigation
conducted under the direction of our Audit Com-
mittee, that certain seniot employees of one of
our South American subsidiaries were involved in
making impermissible payments of approximarely
$125,000 to government officials in 2003 and
2004 in connection with an inactive, early stage
exploration property that is not relared to any of
our active exploration or development proper-
ties. Based on findings to date, no changes to our
previously filed financial statements are warranted
as a resulr of these matters. We have contacted
the Department of Justice (“DOJ”} and $EC and
reported the results of our internal investigation.
We have been informed that the SEC and DOJ
have commenced an investigation with respect to
these matters, including possible violations of the
Foreign Corrupt Pracrices Act. We are cooperat-
ing fully with the SEC and DQYJ investigations.
We cannor predict with any certainty the final
outcome of the investigations, including any fines
or penalties that may be imposed.
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Our San Cristobal project and our
exploration activities are in countries
with developing economies and are
subject to the risks of political and
economic instability associated with
these countries.

We currently conduct exploration activities in
Latin American countries with developing econo-
mies, including Bolivia, Mexico, Argentina and
Peru. These countries and other emerging markets
in which we may conduct operations have from
time to time experienced econemic or political
instability. We may be materially adversely affected
by risks associated with conducting operations in
countries with developing economies, including;

polirical instability and violence;

war and civil disturbance;
expropriation or nationalization;
changing fiscal regimes;

flucruations in currency exchange races;
high rates of inflation;

underdeveloped industrial and economic infra-
structure; and

unenforceability of contractual rights.

Changes in mining or investment pelicies or
shifts in the prevailing political climate in any of
the countries in which we conduct exploration
and development activities could adversely affect
our business. Our operations may be affected in
varying degrees by government regulations with
respect to, among other things:

production restrictions;

price controls;

export and import controls;
income and other taxes;
maintenance of claims;
environmental legislation;
foreign ownership restrictions;
foreign exchange and currency controls;
labor;

welfare benefic policies;

land use;

iand claims of local residents;
water use; and

mine safety.

We cannot accurately predict the effect of these
factors. In addition, legislation in the United
States regulating foreign trade, investment and
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taxation could have a marerial adverse effect on
our financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

QOur San Cristobal project may be
adversely affected by changes in the
Bolivian Government’s policies toward
the mining industry.

In December 2005, Evo Morales, leader of the
Movement to Socialism parry, was elected presi-
dent of Boliva. He took office in January 2006, In
May 2000, President Morales required companies
operating in the hydrocarbon industry to negori-
ate new contracts with the government, resulting
in some cases in a significantly higher effecrive tax
rates.

To date, there have been no formal proposals

to nationalize the mining induscry. The govern-
ment may, however, alter its current policies with
respect to the mining industry. President Morales
and others in his administration have made public
statements regarding their desire to recover nacural
resource production in Bolivia, including mining,
If the San Cristobal project were nationalized, we
might be unable to recover any significant portien
of our investment in the project. The Bolivian
government is currently considering various
changes to applicable mining taxes, which would
have the effect of increasing the overall tax burden
on the San Cristobal project. Should these changes
occur, the profitability of the San Cristobal project
may be adversely effected.

If as a result of changes in government policy, we
did not complete construction or were unable to
operate the San Cristobal project, we could have
substantial liabilities in connection with our hedge
positions. We do not maintain political risk insur-
ance to cover losses that we may incur as a result
of.nationalization, expropriation or similar events
in Bolivia.

I May 2006, the Constitutional Court of Bolivia
issued a ruling declaring certain articles of the
Mining Code unconstitutional. The Court’s ruling
is not effective until May 2008, and the ruling
urges the Bolivian Congress to enacr legislation
during that time which may supersede the ruling,
Among other things, the ruling may limic the
transferability of mining concessions and restrict
our ability to transfer or mortgage our mining
concessions, including the San Cristobal conces-
sions that we have mortgaged as collateral 1o the
lenders providing financing for the San Cristobal
project. There can be no assurance that the Boliv-
ian Congress will enacc legislation to permit the
transfer or mortgage of concessions prior to the

May 2008 implementation and, if implemented,
what the impact of the Court’s ruling will be. If
the Court’s ruling is implemented and causes a
negative effect on the validity of our existing San
Cristobal mortgages, that situation could result in
a default under the San Cristobal project finance
facility, which could result in acceleration of the
loan and hedge liabilities.

Although the political disturbances in Bolivia
have not caused any material adverse impact on
our San Cristobal project, political and economic
uncertainties and instability may continue and
may not be resolved successfully. The political and
economic climare may become more unstable, and
political and economic uncertainties may in the
future have an adverse impact on the development
or operations of San Cristobal.

Our activities are subject to foreign
environmental laws and regulations

that may materially adversely affect our
future operations.

We conduct mineral exploration and development
activities primarily in South America and Central
America, and are most active in Bolivia, where

the San Cristobal project is located, and Peru,
Argentina and Mexico. With the development of
San Cristobal, we also expect to conduct mining
operations in Bolivia. These countries have laws
and regulations which control the exploration and
mining of mineral properties and their effects on
the environment, including air and water qualiry,
mine reclamation, waste handling and disposal,
the protection of different species of flora and fau-
na and the preservation of lands. These laws and
regulations will require us to acquire permits and
other authorizations for certain activities. In many
countries, including Bolivia, there is relatively new
comprehensive environmental legistation, and

the permitting and authorization processes may
not be established or predictable. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to acquire necessary
permits or authorizations on a timely basis, if at
all. Delays in acquiring any permit or authoriza-
tion could increase cthe development cost of our
projects and could delay the commencement of
production.

Environmental legislation in many countries is

evolving in a manner which will likely require
stricter standards and enforcement, increased
fines and penalties for non-compliance, more
stringent environmental assessments of proposed
projects and a heightened degree of responsibil-
ity for companies and their officers, directors and
employees. In Bolivia, where there is relacively
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new environmental legislation, enforcement ac-
tivities and strategies are under development, and
thus may not be predicrable. We cannot predict
what environmental legislation or regulations

will be enacted or adopted in the future or how
future laws and regulations will be administered
or interpreted. Compliance with more stringent
laws and regulations, as well as potentially more
vigorous enforcement policies or regulatory agen-
cies or stricter interpretation of existing laws, may
(1) necessitate significant capital outlays, (2} cause
us to delay, terminate or otherwise change our
intended activities with respect to one or more
projects and (3) materially adversely affect our
future operations.

In addition, as a condition of the San Cristobal
project finance facility, we are required to comply
with the Equator Princii;les, an assortmeat of
environmental and social standards thar have been
adopted by many large global financial irstitu-
tions. The requirements set forth in the Equator
Principles frequently exceed the requiterents
under Bolivian law. If we fail to materially comply
with the Equator Principles, we would be in viola-
tion of the applicable loan covenant under our
project finance facility. This may cause the lenders
to declare a default which would have a rnaterial
adverse effect on the San Cristobal project and our
financial condition. See “—We may be unable to
comply with the terms and conditions of the proj-
ect finance facility for our San Cristobal project.”

Many of our exploration and development
properties are located in historic mining districts
where prior owners may have caused environmen-
tal damage that may not be known to us or to

the regulators. In most cases, we have not sought
complete environmental analyses of our mineral
properties and have not conducted comprehensive
reviews of the environmental laws and regulations
in every jurisdiction in which we own or control
mineral properties. To the extent we are subject

to environmental requirements or liabilities, the
cost of compliance with these requirements and
satisfaction of these liabilities would reduce our
net cash flow and could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of
operations. If we are unable to fund fully the cost
of remediation of any envirenmenral condition,
we may be required to suspend operations or
enter into interim compliance measures pending
completion of the required remediation.
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We compete against larger and more
experienced companies.

The mining industry is intensely competitive,
Many of the largest mining companies are primar-
ily producers of base metals, and may become
interested in the types of silver deposits on which
we are focused because these deposics typically are
polymetaltic, conraining significant quantities of
base merals including zinc, lead and copper. Many
of these companies have greater financial resourc-
es, operational experience and technical capabili-
ties than we have. We may encounter increasing
competition from other mining companies in

our efforts to acquire mineral properties and

hire experienced mining professionals. Increased
competition in our business could adversely affect
our ability to artract necessary capital funding or
acquire suitable producing properties or prospects
for mineral exploration in the future.

Our ability to obtain dividends or other
distributions from our subsidiaries

may be subject to restrictions imposed
by law, foreign currency exchange
regulations and our financing
arrangements.

We conduct, and will continue to conduct, all of
our operations through subsidiaries. Our ability
to obtain dividends or other distributions from
our subsidiaries may be subject to restrictions on
dividends or repatriation of earnings under appli-
cable local law, monetary transfer restrictions and
foreign currency exchange regulations in the juris-
dictions in which the subsidiaries operate. Further,
our debt financing for the San Cristobal project
includes requirements thar we satisfy certain debt
service reserve or operating reserve requirements
or meet debt payment obligations prior to pay-
ment to us of any dividends by our subsidiaries.
Our subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends or make
other distributions to us is also subject to their
having sufhcient funds to do so. If our subsidiar-
ies are unable to pay dividends or make other
distributions, our growth may be inhibited unless
we are able to obrain additional debt or equiry
financing on acceprable terms. In the event of a
subsidiary’s liquidation, we may lose all or a por-
tion of our investment in thart subsidiary.
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We may not be able to raise the funds
necessary to explore and develop our
mineral properties.

Although we believe thar we have raised sufhcient
amounts to fund rthe expected cost of developing
and constructing the San Cristobal project, we
will need additional external financing o fund
the exploration and development of our other
mineral properties. Sources of external financing
may include bank bortowings and future debt and
equity offerings. Thete can be no assurance that
such future financing will be available on accept-
able terms, or at all. The failure to obtain financ-
ing would have a material adverse effect on our
growth strategy and our results of operations and
financial condicion. The mineral properties that
we are likely to develop are expected to require
significant capital expenditures. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to secure the financ-
ing necessary to retain our rights to, or to begin or
sustain production at, our mineral properries.

We may be unable to comply with the
terms and covenants of the project
finance facility for our San Cristobal
project.

In December 2003, in order to finance construc-
tion and start-up costs for the San Cristobal proj-
ect, we entered into a $225 million project finance
facility with several large financial institutions.

As of March 27, 2007, we had borrowed $200
million pursuant to the facility and expect to draw
the remaining amounts as part of our funding for
the construction of the project. Our obligations
under the facility are secured by substantially all of
the assets of certain of our subsidiaries, includ-

ing our Bolivian subsidiary that holds the San
Cristobal project. The terms of the project finance
facility obligate Apex Silver as well as certain of
our subsidiaries, including our Bolivian subsidiary,
to meet numerous ongoing conditions and cove-
nants. These covenants include obligations related
to the construction and operation of the project
as well as certain financial covenants pertaining to
Apex Silver and our subsidiaries. In some cases,
such as the lenders’” approval of the annual update
to the San Cristobal operating plan and budger,
determining whether we are in compliance with
the covenants depends, at least in part, on the
reasonable judgment of the lenders. Failure to
meet one or more of these conditions or covenants
could prevent us from future borrowing under the
loan facility and could cause the lenders ro declare
us in default on our existing obligations. If such

a defaulr were declared and remained uncured,

all borrowed amounts could become due and
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payable immediately and we may be required to
immediately settle all outstanding hedge positions.
Since we currently have no operations or source
of funds, there can be no assurance that we would
be able to repay such amounts. If we are unable to
repay the borrowed amounts or otherwise perform
our obligations under the project finance faciliry,
the lenders may be entitled, in certain circum-
stances, to enforce their lien and take possession
of the secured assets, including the assets that
comprise the San Cristobal project. In addition,
failure to pay amounts accelerated under the proj-
ect finance facility may result in a default under
the terms of our 2.875% and 4.0% Convertible
Senior Subordinated Notes due 2024,

In the past, we have violated certain covenants

or representations set forth in the project finance
facility and have requested and received waivers
from the lenders with respect to these potential
violations. See “Managemencs Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations-Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
There can be no assurance that we would be able
to obtain similar waivers from the lenders in the
furure. In addition, the project finance facility
contains a representation that Apex Silver and cer-
tain of its subsidiaries are solvent. This representa-
tion must be true each time we borrow under the
facility. As a result of the mark-to-marker liability
related to our metals derivative positions, it is not
certain that we will be able to make that represen-
tation at the time of future borrowings. If we are
not solvent ar a future borrowing date, the lenders
may refuse to grant a waiver of that requirement
and would be entitled to refuse to loan additional
amounts under the facility.

We depend on the services of key
executives.

We are dependent on the services of key execu-
tives including our chief executive officer and a
small number of highly skilled and experienced
executives and personnel focused on the develop-
ment of the San Cristobal project. Due to the
relatively small size of Apex Silver, the loss of
these persons or our inability to attract and retain
additional highly skilled employees required for
the development of the San Cristobal project may
delay or otherwise adversely affect the develop-
ment, start-up and operation of the San Cristobal
project, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condirion, results of
operations and cash flows.
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Apex Silver and certain lower tier
subsidiaries will likely be treated as
passive foreign investment companies
for U.S. federal income tax purpcses.

We believe that Apex Silver likely was a passive
foreign investment company (“PFIC”} for 2004
through 2006, and likely will be a PFIC in 2007
as well as potentially with respect to future years.
If we are a PFIC, a holder of Ordinary Shares who
is a U.S. person for U.S. tax purposes (a “U.S.
Holder”) will be subject to certain adverse U.S.
federal income tax rules. Under the PFIC rules, 2
U.S. Holder who disposes ot is deemed to dispose
of Ordinary Shares at a gain, or who reccives or

is deemed to receive certain distributions with
respect to Ordinary Shares (“Excess Distcibu-
tions”), genetally will be required to trear such
gain or distributions as ordinary income and pay
an interest charge on the tax imposed with respect
thereto. Certain elections may sometimes be used
to reduce the adverse impact of the PFIC. rules on
U.S. Holders (so-called “qualifying electing fund”
{“QEF”) and “mark-to-market” elections), but
these elections may accelerate the tecognition of
taxable income and may result in the recagnition
of erdinary income. The PFIC rules are extremely
complex, and shareholders are urged to consult
their own tax advisers regarding the porential con-
sequences to them of Apex Silver being classified

as a PFIC,

In addition, special adverse rules apply to U.S.
Holders for any year in which Apex Silver is 2
PFIC and has a non-U.S. subsidiary thar is also 2
PFIC (a “Lower-tier PFIC™). As discussed below,
we likely had a Lower-tier PFIC for 2004 and
2005 and we had a Lower-tier PFIC for 2006.
U.S. Holders of Apex Silver generally will be
deemed to own any Lower-tier PFICs and will

be subject to the PFIC rules with respect to their
indirect ownership of any Lower-tier PFICs. If
we are a PFIC and a U.S. Holder does not make
a QEF clection for a Lower-tier PFIC, the U.S.
Holder could incur liability for the tax and inter-
est charge described above if (i) we receive an
Excess Distribution from that Lower-tier PFIC;
(i} we dispose of all or part of cur interest in the
Lower-tier PFIC; or (jii) the U.S. Holder disposes
of all or part of its Ordinary Shares. Morcover, a
QEEF election that is made for Apex Silver will not
apply to Lower-tier PFICs. While a U.S. Holder
may make separate a QEF election for a Lower-
tier PFIC in order to reduce the adverse impact
of the PFIC rules with respect to that Lower-

tier PFIC, the QEF election may accelerate the
recognition of taxable income and may result in
the recognition of ordinary income. In addition, a
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U.S. Holder who has made a mark-to-market elec-
tion for Apex Silver could be subject to the PFIC
rules with respect to the Lower-tier PFIC, even
though the value of the Lower-tier PFIC already
was subject (o (ax via mark-to-marker adjustments
ar the level of Apex Silver,

We previously disclosed that for 2005 and all
subsequent taxable years the potential for our
lower-tier subsidiaries to be classified as Lower-
tier PFICs with respect to new investors could

be substantially eliminated without adverse tax
consequences. In connection with the completion
of the project financing for the San Cristobal proj-
ect, however, we were required at the end of 2005
and in 2006 to contribute significant amounts o
Minera San Cristobal S.A. (*"MSC”), the Bolivian
subsidiary that holds the principal assets associated
with the project. Following those contributions,
MSC began to earn interest income and conse-
quently we believe that MSC was a PFIC in 2005
and 2006. As a result, U.S. Holders may be sub-

ject to the adverse tax treatment described above.

In certain filings made in years before 2006,

we stated that we believed that Apex Silver may
have been a PFIC, but that none of our non-

U.S. lower-tier subsidiaries were PFICs. We now
believe that certain of our non-U.S. lower-tier
subsidiaries, including MSC, were Lower-tier
PFICs in certain prior years. As a result, there is

a possibility that some U.S. Holders may have
suffered, or will suffer, adverse U.S. federal income
tax consequences that they arguably might have
avoided had they been aware of the PFIC status
of these lower-tier subsidiaries. In the future, U.S.
Holders may claim that they have suffered adverse
tax consequences for which they could have raken
remedial action if they had been aware that we
had subsidiaries that were Lower-tier PFICs. It

is not possible for us to determine the number

of U.S. Holders, if any, that might make such

a claim or to determine the merits or impact of
such claims on us and whether such claims may be
material to us.

Apex Silver reported a gain of $199.6 million

on its financial statements for the period ended
December 31, 2006 as a result of the indirect sale
by Apex Silver to Sumitomo Corporation of 2
35% interest in Apex’s San Cristobal project for
$224 million in cash and cerrain deferred pay-
ments based on production from the project (the
“Transaction”},

A U.S. Holder may be taxed on a proportionate
share of the gain from the Transaction, as deter-
mined for PFIC purposes, and be subject to an
interest charge on the tax liability, as described
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above, il Apex Silver and MSC are PFICs. A U.S.
Holder who has timely made QEF elections both
for Apex Silver and MSC would avoid the Excess
Distribution rules, bur would generally be subject
to tax at races applicable to capital gains on the
holder’s proportionate share of the gain from the
‘Transaction, or, if smaller, Apex Silver's earnings
and profits for the year. Some U.S. Holders who
have not made timely filed QEF elections may

be eligible to make a retroactive QEF election

that would mitigate the adverse U.S. tax conse-
quences of the Transaction on them. Moreover,
under applicable proposed regulations the fact
that our lower-tier subsidiaries may not have had
earnings and profits for any taxable year since
formartion may arguably eliminate any adverse tax
consequences arising from the failure of a U.S.
Holder to make a QEF clection with respect to
the Lower-tier PFICs for prior years if the U.S.
Holder makes a timely retroactive QEF election.

None.

As previously disclosed, we concluded, based on
the results of an internal investigation conducred
under the direction of our Audit Commirtee,
that certain senior employees of one of our South
American subsidiaries were involved in mak-

ing impermissible payments of approximately
$125,000 to government officials in 2003 and
2004 in connection with an inactive, early stage
exploration property that is not related to any of
out active exploration or development proper-
ties. Based on findings to date, no changes to our
previously filed financial statements are warranted

as a result of these matters. We have contacted
the Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and SEC and
reported the results of our internal investigation.
We have been informed that the SEC and DO]J
have commenced an investigation with respect to
these matters, including possible violations of the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. We are cooperat-
ing fully with the SEC and DQJ investigations.
We cannot predict with any certainty the final
outcome of the investigations, including any fines
or penalties that may be imposed.

No martters were submitted to a vote of security holders in the fourth quarter of 2006.
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Our Ordinary Shares are listed on the American
Stock Exchange under the symbol “SIL.” As of
March 27, 2007, we had approximately 160 share-
holders of record and an estimated 12,000 ad-
ditional beneficial holders whose Ordinary Shares
were held in street name by brokerage houses.

We have never paid any dividends on our Ordi-
nary Shares and expect for the foreseeable furure
to retain any earnings from operations for use
in expanding and developing ocur business. Any
future decision as to the payment of dividends

will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors
and will depend upon our earnings, receipt of
dividends from our subsidiaries, financial position,
capital requirements, plans for expansion and such
other factors as our Board of Directors deems rel-
evant. Further, our project finance facility for the
San Cristobal project includes a requirement thar
we satisfy certain debt service reserve or operat-
ing reserve requirements or meet debt payment
obligations prior to payment to Apex Silver of any
dividends by our subsidiaries.

The following table sets forth the high and the low sale prices per share of our Ordinary Shares for the periods
indicated. The closing price of the Ordinary Shares on March 27, 2007 was $13.57.

2006 2005
Period High Low High Low
1st Quarrer $ 2548 $ 14.61 $ 1947 % 1580
2nd Quarter 26.00 12.85 15.84 11.54
3rd Quarrer 17.65 13.41 17.20 12.61
4th Quarter 17.52 14.10 18.01 14.65
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ITEM 6: The selected consolidated financial data of Apex solidated financial statements. This table should
Silver for the years ended December 31, 2006, be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
SELECTED 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and the period from Financial Statements and Management’s Discus-
CONSOLIDATED December 22, 1994 (inception) through Decem- sion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
FINANCIAL DATA ber 31, 2006, are derived from our audited con- Results of Operations.
For the peried
from December
22,1994
inception
For the years ended December 31, through
2005 December 31,
2006 Restated " 2004 2003 2002 2006

(in thousands)

Statement of Operations:

Operating expenses @ $ (744,607} % (175498) § (21,366) $ (6594 §  (9.524) $ (1,039,112)
Other income (expense) net ¥ 222,998 13,725 2,521 550 870 253,513
Net loss before minority
interest and income taxes (521,609) (161,773) (18,845) (6,044) (8,654) (785,599}
Income taxes (749} (379) - - - (1,128}
Minority interest in consclidared
loss 8,813 16 - - - 13,388
Net loss § (513,545) % (162,136) § (18,845) $ (6,044) %  (8,054) § {773,339
Net loss per Ordinary Share
basic and diluted $ (9.09) $ (3.34) § (0.41) § 017) § {0.24)
Weighted average Ordinary
Shates outstanding 56,498 48,616 46,528 36,576 35,678
Cash Fiow Data:
Net cash used in operating
activities £ (70,727) $  (24,338) $ (9,218) 3% {(3,199) $ (3,692) § (177,604)
Ner cash used in investing
activities $ (223,012) $ (1,869 $ (518,926) % {4,519 § (5452) 3 (859,019)
Net cash provided by
financing acrivities ¥ $ 338,771 $ 3,275 $ 538370 § 3,875 % 11,277 $ 1,086,463
Balance Sheet Data:
Toral assets $ 1,270,096 $ 780,511 $ 693,818 $ 146,167 $ 144,055
Long term liabilities $ 1278474 $ 467,743 § 339987 § 599 % 770
Minority interest $ 40 $ 34§ -8 - % -
Sharcholders’ equity (deficit) $ {103,290) § 227,229 § 346,116 § 143986 $§ 141,731

(1) Sec “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and the Notes to our Consolidared Financial Sratements, Note 25 for a
discussion of the matters related to the restatement of the 2005 financial statements

(2)  The 2006 amount includes a non-cash mark-to-market loss of $672.5 million refated to our open derivative positions and a realized loss of $42.6 million on certain
liquidated derivative positions. The 2005 amount includes a restated non-cash mark-to-market loss of $151.5 million related to our open derivative positions.

(3) The 2006 amounts include 2 $199.6 million gain refated to the sale to Sumitoma of a 35% interest in the subsidiaries that own our San Cristobal project.

(4) The 2006 amount includes $180.0 million of barrowings under the project finance facility and $156.8 million of net proceeds from the sale of Ordinary Shares. The
2004 amounts include $328.1 million of ret proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes and $208.6 million of net proceeds from sale of Ordinary Shares.
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The following discussion and analysis should

be read together with the consolidated financial
statements of Apex Silver Mines Limited and the
selected financial data and related notes thereto
included elsewhere in this report on Form 10-K,

Overview

During 2006 we made significant progress on
the construction of our San Cristobal project in
southwestern Bolivia and at the end of the year
the project was over 909 complete. Virtually all
the engineering has been completed and all the
major mechanical equipment has been installed.
The most significant remaining task to bz accom-
plished is the completion of the rail spur and the
port facilities. Both of those tasks are preceeding
on schedule and should be completed during the
second quarter of 2007. We are looking rorward
to the first sale of concentrates from San Cristobal
in the third quarter of 2007.

In addition to the significant progress on the de-
velopment of the San Cristobal project, our other

highlights from 2006 included the following;

Sumitomo transaction — In September 206, we
sold a 35% interest in the San Cristobal project to
Sumitome Corporation. We retained a 65% inter-
est in the project and continue to have operational
control, subject to the provisions of a shareholders
agreement entered into with Sumitomo in con-
nection with the transaction. See “San Cristobal
Project — Transaction with Sumitomo”, We
recognized a gain of $199.6 million on che sale.

Public equity offering — In April 2006 w= com-
pleted a public equity offering in which e raised
$151.1 million. We have used a portion of the
proceeds to advance the evaluation of our port-
folio of exploration properties and the remaining
amount remains available for exploratior, business
development activities or general corporate pur-
poses.

Project finance facility — In February 2006 we
received our first draw under our $225 million
San Cristobal project finance facility. At year-end,
we had drawn $180 million from the facility to
finance the construction of the project. During
February 2007 we borrowed an additional $20
million against the finance facility, bringing rotal
borrowings under the facility to $200 million.

Rayalty income — We received $1.6 million in
income from a net smelter return royalty we
retained in connection with our recent sale of an
exploration property. In 2004, we sold a section of
our Platosa property in Mexico to an unaffiliated
buyer. The buyer began test mining on the royalty
section in 2006 and produced silver, zinc and lead
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with a net smeleer value of $32.4 million, This
royalty income represents our first income (other
than investment income) since the inception of
the company.

As we near the commencement of production at
the San Cristobal project in 2007, we continue to
face challenges. Some of these challenges include:

Derivative positions — During 2005, we entered
into certain forward sales, puts and calls for silver,
zinc and lead. While most of these transactions
were required in order to comply with a covenant
in our San Cristobal project finance facility, a
portion of the transactions were discretionary.
Because of high spot and forward prices for silver,
zinc and lead, we have recognized significant
non-cash, mark-to-markert losses on these deriva-
tive positions. During 2006, we made net cash
payments of $48.3 million resulting in a realized
toss of $42.6 million to settle all of our discre-
tionary derivative positions, and recognized a
non-cash mark-to-marker loss of $672.5 million
for the year with respect to the positions required
by the project finance facility. Non-cash mark-to-
market gains and losses from the open derivative
positions may fluctuate substantially from period
to period based on spot and forward prices and
option volatilities. However, if current sport prices
continue into the future, we anticipate thar the
increased revenue from merals which are not
hedged will generate a significant benefit to future
earnings and cash flows. See “~—Restatement of
Priot Periods’ Results of Qperations” below for a
discussion of the restated valuations of our open
derivative positions.

Political matters in Bolivia — At various times
during 2006, President Morales and others in

his administration have made public statements
regarding their desire to exert greater state control
over natural resource production in Bolivia. To
date, there have been no formal proposals by the
Bolivian government to nationalize the mining in-
dustry but it is possible that the governmenc may
alter its current policies with respect to the mining
industry in the future. In addition, the Boliv-

ian government is currently considering various
changes to applicable mining taxes, which would
have the effect of increasing the overall rax burden
on the San Cristobal project. At present, various
ideas have been proposed by government officials
and others, but there is no legislation pending,
Should these changes occur, the profitability of the
San Cristobal project may be adversely effected.

Managing growth — As the construction of the
San Cristobal project continues to advance, we
have experienced an increase in our administrative
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and management costs. These costs have arisen
primarily due to the increased systems and person-
nel required to become an operating company,

as well as the expenditures required to maintain
compliance with the San Cristobal project finance
facility.

Restatement of Prior Periods’ Results of
Operations

We determined that the method used in prior
periods to estimate the fair value of our open
metals derivative positions was not appropriate.
Pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” (“FAS No. 1337), we record
our open derivative positions at their fair value
on our consolidated balance sheet and record the
changes in fair value to current earnings ac the end
of each reporting period.

Our derivative positions mature or expire on
various dates over an approximate six-year period
commencing in July 2007. Many of the deriva-
tive positions mature or expire beyond the periods
covered by the major commodities price indices
such as LME or COMEX, or expire in future
petiods covered by those indices with respect to
which only limited trading activity has occurred.
In instances where only limited market activity
existed, we used price projections provided by

an independent third party employing statistical
analysis and models to estimate the fair value of
our open derivative positions, The models used by
the independent third party relied on commeodi-
ties prices indices out to three months and mean
reversion statistical estimates beyond the three-
month period. Recently, we reassessed the market
information reflected in the commodities price
indices out to twenty-seven months and quoted
prices from the counterparties holding deriva-
tive positions and concluded thar the additional
market information is a more reliable indicator of
fair value than the independent third parry price
projections we previously used.

Based on the reassessment, we concluded that

we had understated the liabilicy related to che
open derivative positions commencing with the
quarter ended September 30, 2005. The cumula-
tive liability for our open derivative positions was
understated by $95.1 million and $300.5 million
at December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2006,
respectively. In addition, correcting the error in
the valuation of the open derivative positions
impacted the gain and minority interest that we
recognized on the sale of the 35% interests in the
subsidiaries that own the San Cristobal project.
The gain on the sale increased from $119.8 mil-

lion to $199.6 million and the minority interest
decreased from $88.4 million to $18.9 million at
Seprember 30, 2006.

As a result, we have concluded that our financial
statements for the quarter ended September 30,
2005, the year ended December 31, 2005 and the
firse three quarrers of 2006 should be restated. Use
of the additional market information in calculat-
ing the fair value of our open derivative positions
will likely result in increased volatility in our earn-
ings during the next three years, the period over
which most of the derivatives mature or expire,
We intend to setcle these derivatives with revenues
from San Cristobal production over the six-year
period commencing in July 2007. Therefore, the
cash effect of seteling these hedges will be realized
as lower revenue over that six-year period and the
ultimate losses or gains from these derivatives will
be determined based upon market prices at the
time of settlement.

Results of Operations

Gain on sale of interest in subsidiary — During
2006, we sold to Sumitomo Corporation a 35%
interest in three subsidiaries that own our San
Cristobal project, market project concentrates

and hold the metals derivative positions associ-
ated with the project. We received $224 million in
cash and will receive certain future payments from
Sumitomo based on silver and zinc production
from the project. We recorded a minority interest
of $8.8 million in the net assets sold to Sumitomo
and recognized a gain of $199.6 million related to
the transaction. The gain is net of approximarely
$6.4 miltion of selling costs we incurred related 1o
the transaction.

Subsequent to the close of the transaction with
Sumitomo, we incurred certain losses primarily
related to marking-to-market our open deriva-
tive positions entered into in connection with the
project finance facility. Such losses would nor-
mally be shared by Sumitomo in proportion to its
35% interest in the subsidiary recording the losses.
However, generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples do not permit the allocation of losses to the
minority interest in excess of the minority owner's
interest in the subsidiary, unless the minority in-
terest has a primary obligation to fund such losses.
We and Sumitomo have each guaranteed our
respective shares of the project finance obligations
and the related metals derivative positions through
the completion of the San Cristobal project (as de-
fined in the project finance facility) ar which time
the guarantees will terminate. Project completion
must occur by December 31, 2008. Since the
derivative positions are expected to be funded
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through furure earnings from the San Cristobal
project, we do not andicipate that Sumitomo will
be required to fund its proportionate interest in
the mark-to-market losses prior to the cempletion
of the San Cristobal project. Although Sumitomo’s
share of the subsidiary’s losses for the year ended
December 31, 2006, was $107.7, we only al-
located $8.8 million of the loss to Sumitomo and
absorbed the remaining $98.8 million loss as the
$8.8 million minoricy interest benefit recluced the
ntinority interest balance on our consolidated bal-
ance sheets to $0 at December 31, 2006. We an-
ticipate recovering the $98.8 million we absorbed,
and any additional minority interest losses we may
absorb, from future earnings prior to distribution
to the minority interest. We had no comparable
transactions in 2005 or 2004.

See “Restatement of Prior Periods’ Resulis of
QOperations” above for a discussion of the revised
valuations of our open derivative positions which
impacted the gain and minority interest we recog-
nized on the sale of an interest in the subsidiaries,
The revised valuation of the derivative positions
resulted in the gain on the sale being increased
from $119.8 million to $199.6 million and the
minotity interest being decreased from $88.4 mil-
lion to $18.9 million at September 30, 2006.

Royalty income — During 2006, we received $1.6
million of royalty income from a property in
Mexico on which we retained a net smelter return
royalty. The property is being test mined by a joint
venture partner and we receive a royalty for prod-
uct sold from the test mining operation. We did
not receive any such royalties for the years ended

December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Exploration — Our exploration expenses, includ-
ing property holding costs and allocated admin-
istrative expenses, were $8.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006, as compared to $5.2
million and $5.3 million for the years ending
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
increase in exploration costs during 2006, as com-
pared to 2005 and 2004, is primarily the resulc

of our increased exploration activities in Mexico,
Argentina, Peru, and Bolivia. None of the explora-
tion expenses reported relate to the San Cristobal
project.

Administrative — Administrative expense was
$21.2 million, $17.9 million and $18.2 million
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. The increase in administrative
expense during 2006, as compared to 2005 and
2004, is primarily the result of increased com-
pensation costs and administrative support costs
indirectly associated with the advancement of
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our San Cristobal project, including marketing,
treasury and compliance with the San Cristobal
project finance facility. In addition, during 2006
we incurred legal fees related to an investigadon
of the previously reported improper payments

at our South America subsidiary. The increase in
administrative expense during 2005, as compared
10 2004, excluding $8.1 million of non-recurring
expenses in 2004, is primarily the result of addi-
tional personnel costs and related indirect support
costs associated with the advancement of our

San Cristobal project and our project financing
efforts. The 2004 administrative expenses included
approximately $6.6 million of one time non-cash
compensation expense primarily associated with
the retirement of our chairman and a $1.5 million
one time payment made to a consultant related o

the convertible note offerings completed during
2004.

Interest and other income — We had interest and
other income of $19.7 million, $14.3 million

and $6.1 million for the years ended December
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The 2006
increase in interest and other income, as compared
to 2005 and 2004, is the result of che increased
interest we earned on the higher average cash

and investment balances that we held during the
year resulting from the proceeds received from
the Ordinary Share offering completed during
the second quarter 2006 and the proceeds from
the sale of the 35% interest in our San Cris-

tobal project during September 2006. The 2005
increase, as compared to 2004, is the result of the
increased interest we earned on the higher average
cash and investment balances that we held during
2005 resulting from the proceeds received from
the ordinary share and convertible debt offerings
completed during 2004. In addition, interest rates
have been gradually increasing since 2004.

Gains and losses (commodity derivatives) — We
recorded a loss of $715.1 million and a restated
loss of $151.5 million related to our total deriva-
tive positions for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2003, respectively, compared to a $0.7
million gain recorded for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2004. The 2006 and 2005 losses are
primarily the result of the non-cash mark-to-mar-
ket valuation of our open metals positions related
to the project finance facility hedge requirement
and continuing high spot and forward prices for
silver, zinc and lead. See “—Restatement of Prior
Periods’ Results of Operations” above for a discus-
sion of the revised valuations of our open deriva-
tive positions.
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Interest expense and other borrowing costs — Inter-
est expense and amortized borrowing costs were
$0.8 million, $7.3 million and $3.6 million
resulting from toral gross amounts of $26.9 mil-
lion, $14.2 million and $6.1 million, less interest
capiralized during the San Cristobal construction
period of $26.1 million, $6.9 million and $2.5
million for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. The gross increases
are the result of greater average outstanding debt
balances during the progressive years. The 20006
and 2005 amounts include $0.5 and $0.9 million
of accelerated amortization of deferred borrowing
costs recorded related to the extinguishment of a
portion of the debt during the respective years.
| The 2006 interest and other borrowing costs con-
| sisted of interest incurred on the project finance
facility, interest incurred on the 2.875% and
4.0% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due
2024 and interest incurred on capital leases. The
2005 interest and other borrowing costs consisted
of interest incurred on the 2.875% and 4.0%
Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2024
and interest incurred on capital leases. The 2004
interest and other borrowing costs were related to
the 2.875% and 4.0% Convertible Senior Subot-
dinated Notes due 2024,

Income taxes — Apex Silver Mines Corporation,
our U.S. management services company, is subject
to U.S. income taxes on income derived from
services provided to Apex Silver Mines Limited
and its subsidiaries. Other than amounts payable
by Apex Silver Mines Corporation, we pay no in-
come tax in the U.S. since we are incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and do not conduct or expect
to conduct business in the U.S. that would gener-
ate U.S. taxable income. The Cayman lslands
currently impose no corporate taxation, We have
been granted an exemption until January 16, 2015
from any form of corporate taxation that may
subsequently be adopted in the Cayman Islands.
For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
our income tax provision totaled $0.7 million and
$0.4 million, respectively, and consisted solely of
withholding taxes on inter-company investment
income and administrative charges. No such taxes
were incurred during the year ended December
31, 2004. Deferred tax assets of approximately
$30.0 million and $14.4 million at December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively, resulting from oper-
ating loss carry-forwards of our subsidiaries, have
been entirely offset by valuation allowances.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and investment balances — At December 31,
2006, our aggregate cash, restricted cash, short
and long-term investments and restricted invest-
ments totaled $514.9 million compared to an ag-
gregate of $351.9 million in cash, restricted cash,
short and long-term investments and restricted
investments at December 31, 2005. The amounts
held at December 31, 2006 include $49.8 million
in cash and cash equivalents, $367.8 million in
investments, $27.9 million of cash and $51.8
million of investments that are restricted to fund
development at our San Cristobal project, $4.0
million of cash restricted to develop the port
facility, $8.0 million of investments to collateral-
ize certain letters of credit and $5.5 million of
investments that are restricted and at maturity
will provide the amounts necessary to pay interest
through September 2007 on the 4.0% Convert-
ible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2024.

The increase in our aggregate balance of cash,
restricted cash, short and long-term investments
and restricred investments at December 31, 2006,
compared to the prior year, is primarily che result
of $151.1 million of net proceeds from an equity
offering in April 2006, $180.0 million of bor-
rowings against the San Cristobal project finance
facility, and $224.0 million of proceeds from the
sale of a 35% interest in our San Cristobal project
to Sumitomo Corporation. In addition, our ag-
gregate cash and investment balances increased

as a resule of $5.7 million of net proceeds from
the sale of Ordinary Shares to fund the power
line construction, $3.4 million of proceeds from
employee stock options exercised, $1.4 million of
proceeds received from a loan from the power line
contractor’s parent and a net decrease in restricted
cash of $103.2 million. The increases in our cash
and investment balances were all pardally offset
by $276.9 million invested in property, plant and
equipment related to the development of the San
Cristobal project; $70.7 million used to fund
operations, property holding costs and administra-
tive costs, net of interest and other income; the
net purchase of $218.7 million of investments;
$48.3 million of net premiums and liquidation
payments made related ro our discretionary metals
derivative positions; $6.4 million of selling costs
paid related to the sale of a 35% interest in our
San Cristobal project; $0.7 million paid to the
banks related to the project finance facility and
payments on long-term debt (capital lease pay-
ments) of $2.2 million.

In conjunction with the sale of the 35% equity
interest in the subsidiaries that own our San
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Cristobal project to Sumitomo, the project finance
facilicy agreements were amended to provide

for the release to us of $70.0 million of overrun
financing previously held in accounts controlled
by the lenders and approximately $5.7 million
previously escrowed to meet interest payments on
our subordinated notes. This $75.7 million (which
was included in the $103.2 million of net decrease
in restricted cash described above) is now unre-
stricted and available to us for general corporate
purposes. At December 31, 2006 these amounts
were recorded as investments as discussed above,

In connection with an amendment to our San
Cristobal project finance facility, we plan to de-
posit approximately $90 million in restricted mar-
gin accounts during the second quarter of 2007

as security for our metals derivative positions. See
—"“San Cristobal project finance facilicy” below.

San Cristobal project finance facility — At Decem-
ber 31, 2006, we had barrowed $180 million un-
der our San Ciristobal project finance facility. We
borrowed an additional $20 million in February
2007, resulting in total outstanding borrowings
of $200 million as of March 27, 2007. We are
required to pay 2 1.0% annual commitment fee
on the undrawn amount of the facility. Iruerest on
the outstanding amounts drawn under the faciliry
is based on LIBOR plus a credit spread, which at
December 31, 2006 was 3.3%. The first principal
payment under the faciliry is due in December
2008 with final maturity in December 2012. In
connection with the transaction with Sumitomo,
Sumitomo has guaranteed the repayment of 35%
of the facility until completion, as defined in the
facility. We have guaranteed repayment of the
remaining 65% of the facility until completion.
Project completion must occur by December 31,
2008.

The project finance facility contains covenants
that require us to, among other things, maincain
certain security interests, financial ratios after
project completion, insurance coverage, mini-
mum sales contracts and metals price protection
contracts as well as other requirements. Failure

to comply with these covenants or to cure related
violations within specified periods could result in
an event of default, pursuant to which the project
lenders could require repayment of all amounts
outstanding under the facility and cash se:ztlement
of any derivative liabilities associated with the San
Cristobal project.

As a result of the restatement described above, we
breached certain representations and covenants re-
garding the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with U.S. GAAPR On March 15, 2007,
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we obtained waivers from the project lenders for
these breaches and any related events of default.
We have also obtained waivers of compliance with
certain minor technical covenants and confirma-
tion that the effects of the restatement do not
constitute a marerial adverse effect, as defined.

Pursuant to the covenants contained in the facility,
we are required annually to submirt a revised Con-
struction Budger, Operating Plan, and Financial
Model (collectively the “Updated Plan”) for the
San Ciristobal project by November 1, We are cur-
rently operating under the Construction Budger,
Operating Plan, and Financial Model initially
approved by the lenders when the facility was
entered into (the “Initial Plan”) which remains

in effect until the Updated Plan is approved. We
submitced our Updated Plan for 2007 in a timely
manner. The Updated Plan required prices of
$5.25 per vunce for silver, $0.48 per pound for
zin¢ and $0.26 per pound for lead, compared 1o
spot prices as of March 27, 2007 of $13.27, $1.45
and $0.84, respectively. The Updated Plan also
reflected higher operating costs than previously
assumed primarily as a result of the impact of
record high commodity prices. A large portion of
Apex’s operating costs are directly influenced by
these high commedities prices, including costs for
diesel, reagents, and tires. The low merals prices
required by the facility coupled with higher cur-
rent operating costs resulted in projected cash flow
that would be insufficient to meet cerrain other
facility requirements, including minimum cash
flows and debt service coverage ratios required
after completion. As a result, we requested that the
lenders approve cerrain waivers and amendments
to permit the use of higher metals prices. In carly
January 2007, the lenders rejected the Updated
Plan.

As provided by the terms of the project finance
facility, we have since been engaged in discussions
with the lenders to agree upon a murually accepr-
able Updated Plan. The lenders have proposed
higher merals prices than those contained in the
agreement thar will allow us to present an Up-
dated Plan that will meet the project loan facility’s
financial requirements. The lenders have also
proposed an adjustment to the facility’s repayment
schedule to require a larger percentage of principal
to be repaid in earlier years and an increase in the
mandatory cash flow sweep from 35% to 45% of
excess cash flow. We and Sumitomo have agreed o
purchase zinc puts covering approximarely 73,000
tonnes of zinc production in 2008 and 2009. We
will also fund a $91 million margin account with
the two banks holding the derivative positions and
Sumitomeo will provide a post-completion guar-
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antee of the derivative positions in the amount
of $49 million. This support will be decreased by
339% ar che end of each of the yeats from 2008
through 2010.

We and Sumitomo have accepted these proposals
and amendments to the facility agreements and
an Updated Plan for submission to the lenders
are being drafted. Once the amendments w the
agreements and Updated Plan are complere, an
affirmative vote by the lenders is required for
final approval. At the date of this filing, formal
approval of the amendments to the agreements
and the Update Plan by the requisite majority of
lenders has nort yer been obtained. While there
can be no assurances that lender approval will be
obtained, we believe the necessary amendments
and the Updated Plan will be approved by the
requisite majority of lenders.

If the amendments and the Updated Plan are

not approved by the lenders, until such time as
approval is obtained, we would be required to
operate in all material respects, as defined by the
facility, in compliance with the Initial Plan. If our
operations fail to comply with the Initial Plan in
all material respects, the lenders could declare a
default and require us to settle all amounts out-
standing under the facility and derivatives liabiliry.
Because our current projections indicate thar cash
flows and operating ratios will exceed those in the
Initial Plan, we believe that operations will comply
in all material respects with the Initial Plan. How-
ever, we cannot predict whar actions the lenders
might take if they deem that we are not in mare-
rial compliance with the Inicial Plan.

If an event of default occurs, the lenders could
require immediate payment of amounts outstand-
ing under the facility and settlement of the deriva-
tives liability. If such a demand were successfully
made, we would require additional debt or equity
financing in order to satisfy our obligations. There
is no assurance that we would be able to obtain
additional financing on acceprable terms, or ac all.
We had liabilities in excess of our assets at Decem-
ber 31, 2006, due to our derivative liability.

Sources and uses of funds — During the third
quarter 2006, we revised our estimate for the roral
amount of project funding required for the San
Cristobal project from January 1, 2004 through
the beginning of preduction scheduled for the
third quarter of 2007 to approximarely $650 mil-
lion or an 8% increase over the original estimate
developed in December 2004. This amount
includes all estimated costs required to commence
production at San Cristobal, including all engi-
neering, procurement and construction cests, as
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well as estimates for constant-dollar escalation and
contingencies. The estimate excludes $22 million
advanced through the issuance of Ordinary Shares
to the company constructing the power line, $6
million advanced to or escrowed for the company
constructing the port facilities and approximately
$43 million of working capital. Advances to the
power line and port facility providers are expected
to be recouped through credits applied against
payments for the contracred services. Exclud-

ing the power line and port advances, we have
spent approximately $518 million on the Project
through December 31, 2006. In additien to the
amounts above, we have incurred interest and
other financing costs related to the project finance
facility of approximately $20 million and antici-
pate an additional $10 million prior to the start
up of operations.

During 2007, we expect to spend approximately
$160 million on the San Cristobal project,
representing the remainder of the approximarely
$650 million total project cost estimare, plus an
additional $40 million of working capital and $10
million of project financing interest costs prior

to start up of operations. The preceding amounts
include $50 million in total project costs and $16
million in working capital in excess of the original
estimates. We expect to fund these cash require-
ments by liquidating the restricted investments
already set aside for this purpose, drawing the re-
maining funds available from the project financing
facility, and using existing cash and investments
to fund our 65% of the requirements in excess of
the original estimates, with Sumitomo funding
the remaining 35%. In addition, during the next
twelve months we expect to spend approximately
$18 million on general corporate costs and ap-
proximarely $10 million on interest payments
related to the outstanding convertible debt. Our
current plans call for expenditures of approxi-
mately $14 million on exploration efforts during
the next twelve months. We plan to fund these ex-
penditures from our existing cash and investment
balances and from interest and other income. In
addition we expect operating cash flows to begin
during the third quarter of 2007. In addition, as
discussed above, we plan to deposit approximately
$91 million in restricted fixed margin account
during the second quarter of 2007 as security for
our metals detivative positions.

Because we did not file our annual report on
Form 10-K on or before the deadline prescribed
by the SEC, we will be unable to use our existing
shelf registration statements to complete public
equity or debt offerings until at least March 2008.
While we still may be able to access public capital
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markets by hling a new registration statement,
such offerings may be more difficult and subject
to greater delay in the absence of an effective shelf
registration statement,

Table of Contractual Obligations

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off balance sheet arrangements.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2006:

1

Contractual Obligations Less Than 2-3 4-5

(thousands) Total 1 Year Years Years Thereafter
Convertible debt $ 289,987 | % — | $ — | $ — | $ 289,987
Interest payments convertible debt 76,593 9,574 19,149 19,149 28,723
Bank debt 180,000 — 64,620 95,220 20,160
Interest payments bank debt 60,798 16,084 30,310 14,060 344
Capital leases 17,349 2,993 5451 3,693 5,212
Interest payments on capital leases : 9,184 2,397 3.467 2,129 1,191
Operating leases * 879 374 505 — —
San Cristobal property leases 6,800 400 800 800 4,800
Purchase obligations' 49,695 49,695 e — —
Fair value of open derivative positions Fjll18,l98 39,080 570,982 207,696 439

(1) The amount does nort include an approximately additional $60 million of purchase obligations the Com-
pany intends to commit to in the future to complete the San Cristobal project.

Total interest payments due on the convertible
debt includes only those payments expected 1o

be made through 2014 based on our expectation
that the convertible debt holders may require us to
repurchase the notes in 2014. The bank debt is all
related to the project finance facility and reflects
the anticipated new amortization schedul= dis-
cussed above in Liquidity and Capital Resources.
Interest on the project finance facility is based on
LIBOR plus a credit spread, and the above interest
calcularion is based on LIBOR at December 31,
2006. As provided in the proposed amendments
to the San Cristobal project finance facility {see
“—Liquidity and Capital Resources”), the pay-
ment schedule for the project finance facility may
be modified o reflect total payments of $115.9
million in years two and three and $64.1 million
in years four and five. The operating lease obliga-
tions are related to the office facilities ar our cor-
porate headquarters. The San Cristobal property
lease payments are payments we must make to the
Bolivian government to maintain our rights to the
San Cristobal mining concessions. The purchase
obligations are related to orders placed for long
lead time equipment being purchased for the San
Cristobal project.

35

From time to time we enter into lease option
agreements related to explorarion properties that
are of interest to us. These agreements typically
contain escalating lease payments required to
maintain our exploration rights to the properry.
Such agreements are not included in the above
table because exploration success is historically low
and the agreements can be terminated by us at any
time.

Regulatory Compliance

Our current and future exploration and devel-
opment activities, as well as our future mining
and processing operations, are subject to various
federal, state and local laws and regulations in

the countries in which we conducrt our activities.
These laws and regulations govern the protection
of the environment, prospecting, development,
production, taxes, labor standards, occupational
health, mine safety, toxic substances and other
matters. We expect to be able to comply with
those laws and do not believe that compliance
will have a material adverse effect on our comperi-
tive position. We intend ro obtain all licenses and
permits required by all applicable regulatory agen-
cies in connection with our mining operations
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and exploration activities. We intend to maintain
standards of environmental compliance consistent
with regulatory requirements.

Critical Accounting Policies

The selection and application of accounting poli-
cies is an important process that has developed
as our business activities have evolved and as

the accounting rules have changed. Accounting
rules generally do not involve a selection among
alternatives, but involve an implementation and
interpretation of existing rules, and the use of
judgment, to the specific set of circumstances
existing in our business. Discussed below are the
accounting policies that we believe are critical to
our financial statements due to the degree of un-
certainty regarding the estimates or assumptions
involved and the magnitude of the asser, liabiliry,
revenue or expense being reporred.

Reserves — Reserve estimates involve subjective
judgment and are based on numerous assump-
tions that may later prove to be inaccurate. These
estimares include engineering evaluations of assay
values derived from samplings of drill holes and
other openings. Addirionally, changes in the mar-
ket prices of metals may render certain reserves
containing relatively lower grades of mineraliza-
tion uneconomic to mine. Further, availability of
permits, changes in operating and capital costs,
and other factors could marerially and adversely
affect ore reserves. Qur current proven and
probable reserve estimates at San Cristobal total
approximately 251 million tonnes of ore grading
55 grams per tonne silver, 1.54% zinc and 0.53%
lead, containing approximately 446 million
ounces of silver, 8.53 billion pounds of zinc and
2.92 billion pounds of lead. The reserves are based
on $8.51 per ounce silver, $0.86 per pound zinc
and $0.47 per pound lead. These prices represent
the three-year average prices for each of the metals
as per guidelines established by the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Mineral properties — When we determine that
a mineral property has proven and probable
reserves, subsequent development costs are capital-
ized to mineral properties. When mineral proper-
ties are developed and operations commence,
capitalized costs are charged to operations using
the units-of-production method over proven and
probable reserves. Beginning September 1, 1997,
costs associated with our San Cristobal project
have been capitalized. Capitalized costs at San
Cristobal include all direct costs associated with
the project, certain interest costs, depreciation

on assets being used to construct the project and

other internally allocated costs directly associated
with the advancement of the project.

Derivative positions — We record all open deriva-
tive positions on our consolidated balance sheet at
estimated fair value. Changes in the fair value of
the open derivative positions are recorded each pe-
riod in earnings. Through December 31, 2006, we
had not accounted for any transactions as hedge
transactions. Therefore, all open detivative posi-
rions have been adjusted to estimated fair value at
the end of each reporting period with the related
change in value recorded to earnings.

We determine the fair value of our open deriva-
tive positions by applying market values obtained
from the counterparties holding our derivative
positions. We independently verify that the values
received from the counterparties are based on ma-
jor commodities price indices such as the LME,
COMEX and other available market data. (see
“— Restatement of Prior Periods’ Results of Op-
erations” above for a discussion of the restated fair
market value of our open derivative liability for
the periods September 30, 2005 through Seprem-
ber 30, 2006). As of December 31, 2006, the fair
market value of our open derivative liability was a
net $818.2 million.

Asser retirement obligations — We record asset
retirement obligations in accordance with State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”
(“FAS No. 143™), which establishes a uniform
methodology for accounting for estimarted recla-
mation and abandonment costs. According to FAS
No. 143, the fair value of a liabilicy for an asset
retirement obligation (“ARQ”) is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable
estimate of fair value can be made. An offsetting
Asset Retirement Cost (“ARC”) is capitalized as
part of the carrying value of the assets with which
it is associated and depreciated over the useful life
of the asset. During 2006 and the second half of
2005, we conducted cerrain acrivities at our San
Cristobal property, primarily certain earth works
and plant construction, that will require future
reclamarion and closure expenditures. Prior to the
second half of 2005 there were no acrivities that
resulted in an ARO.

See Note 2 of the accompanying Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in
this Form 10-K for additional accounting policies.
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Interest Rate Risk

Our outstanding debt consists primarily of our
4.0% and 2.875% Convertible Senior Subordi-
nated Notes due 2024 and amounts boriowed
under our $225 million projecr finance facility for
the construction of the San Cristobal project. The
Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes bear inter-
est at a fixed rate and thus do not have exposure to
interest rate changes. The project finance facility
bears interest ac LIBOR plus a credit spread. As
of December 31, 2006, we had borrowed $180
million under the facility. Assuming the full $225
million amount is borrowed under the faciliry, an
increase of 0.5% in the LIBOR would result in

an annual increase in interest expense of 1,125
million. We have not entered into any agreements
to hedge against unfavorable changes in interest
rates but may in the future manage our exposure
to interest rate risk.

We invest excess cash in U.S. government and
debt securities tated “investment grade” or bet-
ter. The rates received on such investments may
fluctuate with changes in economic conditions. As
a result, our investment income may fall shorr of
expectations during periods of lower interest rates.
Based on the average cash balances outstanding
during 2006, a 1% decrease in interest rates would
have resulted in a reduction in interest income for
the period of approximately $4.2 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
Although most of our expenditures are in U.S.
dollars, certain purchases of labor, operating sup-
plies and capital assets are denominated in Bolivia-
nos, Euros or other currencies. As a result, cur-
rency exchange Auctuations may impact the costs
of our operations. Specifically, the appreciation

of Bolivianos against the U.S. dollar may result

in an increase in operating expenses and capital
costs at the San Cristobal project in U.S. dollar
terms. To reduce this risk, we maintain minimum
cash balances in all foreign currencies, including
Bolivianos, and complete most of our putchases,
including purchases relating to the San Cristobal
project, in U.S. dollars.

We have previously engaged in a limited amount
of currency hedging activities primarily related o
an equipment order for the San Cristobal project
that was denominated in Euros. At December
31, 2006, we did not hold any foreign currency
derivative positions.
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Commodity Price Risk

None of our properties are in production and,
consequently, we do not have any current revenue
from sales. When the San Cristobal project begins
production, our primary source of income will be
from sales of concentrates containing silver, zinc
and lead. As a resulr, changes in the price of any
of these commodities could significantly affect our
results of operations and cash Hows.

To complete the San Cristobal project finance
facility, we were required to implement price
protection for a portion of our planned silver, zinc
and lead production from San Cristobal. We have
entered into contracts utilizing forward sales, puts
and calls. Non-cash mark-to-market gains and
losses from these and other derivative positions
may fluctuare substandially from period to period
based on spot and forward prices and option
volatilities. The actual final financial impact of the
derivative positions required by the project financ-
ing facility will not be known until the positions
are closed on their furure sertlement dates. Qur
outstanding derivative positions represent 4%,
13% and 17% of planned life-of-mine payable
production of silver, zinc and lead at San Cristobal
but represent a significantly higher proportion of
our planned production during the six years in
which the derivative positions are in place. For
the first six years of production, we have hedged
approximately 10%, 24% and 32% of planned
praduction of silver, zinc and lead, respectively.
See the Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments, Note 9, “Sales Contracts and Derivative
Instruments”.

As a result of rising commodity prices, we re-
corded non-cash mark-to-market losses of $672.5
million on our open derivative positions for the
year ended December 31, 2006. During the same
period, we made nert cash payments of $48.3 mil-
lion and realized a $42.6 million loss o settle the
majority of certain discretionary hedge positions
that were not required by the project financing fa-
cility. As of December 31, 2006, the fair value of
our open derivative positions reflected an $818.2
million liability. Non-cash mark-to-market gains
and losses from the open derivative positions may
fluctuate substantially from period to period based
on spot and forward prices and option volatilicies.
However, if current spot prices continue into the
future, we anticipate that the increased revenue
from production which is not protected will
generate a significant benefit to future earnings
and cash fows. See “Managemenc’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations — Results of Operarions”.
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"The consolidated financial statements and supple-
mentary information filed as part of this Item
8 are listed under Part IV, Irem 15, “Exhibits,

Financial Statement Schedules” and contained in
this Form 10-K at page F-1.

Not applicable.

Consideration of the Restatement

As discussed in Notes 2 and 19 to our consoli-
dated financial statements and as also discussed in
Item 7 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we
have restated our censolidated financial statemnents
as of and for the quarter ended September 30,
2005, the year ended December 31, 2005, and
for each of the three quarters in the nine months
period ended September 30, 2006, to correct an
understatement of our derivatives liabilities as of
each of those periods end dates.

Owr decision to restate our consolidated financial
statements follows a re-assessment of the available
market information related to our metals deriva-
tives and the conclusion that quoted prices from
trading institutions are a more reliable indicator of
fair value than the independent third parry price
projections previously used by us. Accordingly, we
concluded that our metals derivative liability was
significantly understated for the reporting periods
noted above. The effects of the restatement are
reflected in our consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes included herein.

In connection with the restatement, management
identified two material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting at December 31,
2006. See “Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting” presented
below.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures
thar are designed to ensure that informartion
required to be disclosed in the reports that we file

or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (“the Exchange Act”), is record-
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ed, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated
and communicared to our management, including
our Chief Execurtive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required financial disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this report,
we carried out an evaluation, under the supervi-
sion and with the participation of our Disclosure
Committee and management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of
our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b). Based upon, and as
of the date of this evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures were
not effective because of the marerial weaknesses

in our internal control over financial reporting as
described below.

Notwithstanding the material weaknesses de-
scribed below, management believes that the
consolidated financial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K are fairly presented
in all marerial respects in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles.

Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting

‘The management of the Company is responsible
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting as defined in Rule
13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our inter-

nal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
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ing the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and includes those policies
and procedures thac:

pertain to the maintenance of records tht, in
reasonable detail, accurarely and fairly vefleer the
transactions and dispositions of our assets,

provide reasonable assurance thar transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the Company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations o manage-
ment and direcrors of the Company, and

provide reasonable assurance regarding the preven-
tion or timely detection of unauthorized acquisi-
tion, use or disposition of the Company's assers
that could have a material effect on our financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal
control over financial reporting may not orevent
or detect misstatements. Also, projecrions of any
evaluation of effectiveness as to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of

the Company's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making its
assessment, management used the criteria. set forth
in fnternal Control—Integrated Framewort issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Otganizations of
the Treadway Commission (“COS(”).

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or
combination of control deficiencies, that results
in more than a remote likelihood that a material
misstatement of the annual or interim financial
statements will not be prevented or detected.

Based on its evaluation, management has con-
cluded that the following material weaknzsses in
internal control over financial reporting existed as

of December 31, 2006:

The Company did not mainrain effective controls
over the valuation of the metals derivarives posi-
tions related o its project finance facility. Specifi-
cally, effective internal controls were not designed
and operating to accurarely assess available market
data in the valuation of its metals derivatives. This
control deficiency resulted in the restatement of
the Company's 2005 annual consolidared finan-
cial statements; interim consolidated financial
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statements for the guarter ended September 30,
2005 and for each of the first three quarters of
2006; and an audit adjustment to the Company's
2006 annual consolidated financial statements.
Additionally, this control deficiency could result in
a material misstatement of the Company’s deriva-
tives liabilities, gain on sale of interest in subsid-
iaries, minority interest in subsidiaries, minority
interest in loss of consolidated subsidiaries, and
in the accumulated deficit accounts, that would
result in a material misstatement of the annual

or interim consolidated financial statements that
would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly,
management has determined that this control
deficiency constitutes a material weakness.

The Company did not maintain effective controls
over the monitoring of its compliance with certain
covenants related to its project finance facility.
Specifically, effective internal controls, including
monitoring by management with the requisite
level of experience commensurate with our loan
compliance requirements, were not designed and
operating to enable the identification of covenant
violations which affect certain of the Company's
financial statement disclosures 2nd presentations,
This control deficiency could result in the misclas-
sification of the amount outstanding under the
project finance facility, as well as the derivatives
liabilities as non-current liabilities, that would
result in a marerial misstatement of the annual

or interim consolidated financial statements that
would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly,
management has determined that this control
deficiency constitutes a material weakness.

Because of these material weaknesses, manage-
ment has concluded that the Company did not
maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on the
criteria set forth in the COSCO framework.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of Diecember 31, 2006, has been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLD, an in-
dependent registered accounting firm, as stated in
their report which appears herein.

Remediation of Material Weaknesses
To address the material weaknesses described
above, management has implemented a remedia-
tion plan which will supplement the existing
controls of the Company, as follows:

strengthen controls to ensure that management
accurately assesses all available market information
in the valuation of the Company's metal deriva-
tives.
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hire a Senior Treasury Analyst, with a level of
experience to march cur loan compliance require-
ments, who will have direct responsibility 1o
closely monitor compliance with the Company's
project finance facility and other financing ar-
rangements. Training will also be provided to key
personnel regarding the loan compliance require-
ments.

The marerial weaknesses will be fully remediated
when, in the opinion of the Company’s manage-
ment, the revised control processes have been
operating for a sufficient period of time to provide
reasonable assurance as to their effectiveness.

The remediation and ultimarte resolution of the
Company’s material weaknesses will be reviewed
with the Audic Committee of the Company’s
Board of Directors.

Changes in Internal Control over
Financial Reporting

There have been no changes to the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting (as de-
fined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Acr)
during the quarter ended December 31, 2006 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely o
materially affect, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

None.

40




Apex Silver
Mines Limited

ITEM 10:

DIRECTORS,
EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS AND
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

ITEM 11:

EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION

ITEM 12:

SECURITY
OWNERSHIP
OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

ITEM 13:

CERTAIN
RELATIONSHIPS
AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS,
AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

ITEM 14:

PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING
FEES AND
SERVICES

Part 3:

Form 10-K

Information regarding directors of Apex Silver is
incorporated by reference to the section entitled
“Election of Directors” in our definitive proxy
statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A in connection with the 2007
annual meeting of shareholders (the “Proxy State-
ment”). See “Part I - Items 1 and 2: Business
and Properties — Management” for information
regarding executive officers of Apex Silver.

We have adopted a code of echics thart applies to
our principal execurive officer, principal financial

officer, principal accounting officer or controller
or those performing similar functions. A copy

of the code of ethics is available on Apex Silver's
website at www.apexsifver.com. To view, click on
“About Apex Silver” on the left side of the page
and then click on “Corporate Governance”. In the
event our board of directors approves an amend-
ment to or waiver from any provision of our code
of ethics, we will disclose the required information
pertaining to such amendment or waiver on our
website.

Reference is made to the information set forth
under the caption “Executive Compensation
and Other Information” in the Proxy Stazement,
which information (exceprt for the report of the

board of directors on executive compensation and
the performance graph) is incorporated by refer-
ence in this repert on Form 10-K.

Reference is made to the informartion set forth
under the caption “Security Ownership cf Princi-
pal Shareholders and Management” in the Proxy

Statement, which information is incorporated by
reference in this report on Form 10-K.

Reference is made to the information contained
under the caption “Cerrain Transactions” con-
tained in the Proxy Statement, which informa-

tion is incorporated by reference in this report on
Form 10-K.

Reference is made to the information contained
under the caption “Audit Committee Report”
contained in the Proxy Statement, which informa-
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tion is incorporated by reference in this report on
Form 10-K.
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(a) Documents filed as part of this reporc on
Form 10-K or incorporated by reference:

(1)

2

Our consolidated financial statements are
listed on the “Index to Financial Statements”
on Page F-1 to this report,

Financial Statement Schedules (omitted
because they are either not required, are not

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

applicable, or the required information is dis-
closed in the notes to the financial statements
or related notes}.

(3) 'The following exhibits are filed with this
report on Form 10-K or incorporated by
reference.

3.1 Amended and restated Memorandum of Association of the Company. (1)
[ 3.2 Amended and restated Articles of Association of the Company. (1) ]
4.1 Specimen of certificates representing the Company’s ordinary shares, par value U.S. $0.01 each. (2)
[ 4.2 Form of Warrant issued in connection with the January 2004 private placement. (3) J
4.3 Indenture, dated March 16, 2004, between Apex Silver Mines Limited and The Bank of New York, as
Trustee. (4) _
' 44 Form of Global Note, dated March 16, 2004. (4) |
4.5 Form of Global Note, dated April 1, 2004. {(5)
4.6 Form of Warrant issued in connection with the offering of our Ordinary Shares pursuant to a prospectus
suEplemenr filed April 3, 2003. (6}
4.7 Form of Warrant issued in connection with the offerings of our Ordinary Shares pursuant to prospectus
supplements filed May 22, 2002 and September 10, 2003. (6)
4.8 Indenture, dated Qctober 15, 2004, berween Apex Silver Mines Limited and The Bank of New York,
as Trustee. (7)
4.9 Form of Global Note, dated October 15, 2004. (7)
[ 4,10  Form of Global Note, dated December 14, 2004. (8) 4‘
10.1 Management Services Agreement among the Company and its subsidiaries. (9)
[ 10.2  Employees’ Share Oprion Plan (10) J
10.3 2004 Equity Incentive Plan. (11)
[ 10.4 Form of Incentive Share Option Agreement pursuant to the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan. {12) J
10.5 Form of Restricted Shares Award Agreement pursuant to the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan. (12)
[ 10.6 Form of Option Grant to Non-Employee Direcrors (13) 1
10.7  Form of Change of Control Agreement. (14)
10.8  Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 16, 2004, among Apex Silver Mines Limited, Barclays
Bank PLC and Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (4)
10.9  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 15, 2004, by and berween Apex Silver Mines
Limited and Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (7)
10.10  Collateral Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of October 15, 2004, among Apex Silver Mines
Limited as Pledgor, The Bank of New York as Trustee and The Bank of New York as Collateral Agent.
(7}
10.11  Amended and Restated Collateral Pledge and Security Agreement, dated December 14, 2004 among
Apex Silver Mines Limirted as Pledgor, The Bank of New York as Trustee and The Bank of New York as
Collateral Agent. (8)
10.12  EPCM Services Supply Agreement berween Minera San Cristobal, S.A. and Aker Kvaerner Metals Inc.,

Dared November 8, 2004. (14)
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibits

10.13

Open Pit Contract Mining Services Agreement between Minera San Cristobal, S.A. and Washington
Group Bolivia, S.R.L. (12)

10.14

L

Loan Agreement, dated December 1, 2005, between Minera San Cristobal, S.A., the Lenders identified
therein and BNP Paribas, as Administrative Agent. (16)

10.15

Loan Agreement, dated December 1, 2005, berween Minera San Cristobal, $.A. and Corporacion
Andina de Fomento. (16)

10.16

Common Security Agreement, dated December 1, 2005, among Minera San Cristobal, S.A., Apex
Silver Mines Sweden AB, Apex Luxembourg S.ARL Apex Merals Gmbld, BNP Paribas, Barclays
Capital PLC, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Corporacion Andina de Fomento and the secured parties
and hedge banks party thereto. (16)

10.17

Sponsor Pledge Agreement, dared December 1, 2005, berween Apex Silver Mines Limited and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (16¢)

10.18

Completion Agreement, dated December 1, 2005, among Apex Silver Mines Limited, BNP Paribas,
Barclays Capital PLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (16}

10.19

Rerirement Agreement and Release dated February 13, 2006 between Keith R. Hulley, Apex Silver
Mines Corporation and Apex Silver Mines Limited. (17)

10.20

Restricted Shares Award Agreement, dated February 21, 2006, berween Apex Silver Mines Limited and
Keith R, Hulley, (17)

10.21

Option Agreement, dated September 25, 2006, between Apex Silver Mines Limited and Sumitomo
Corporation, (18)

10.22

MSC Sharcholders Agreement, clated September 25, 2006, between Apex Silver Mines Sweden AB,
Apex Luxembourg S.A R.L., Gotlex Lageraktiebolag nr. 451, and Minera San Cristobal, S.A. (18)

10.23

Deferred Payments Agreement, dated September 25, 2006, between Apex Silver Mines Sweden AB and
Sumitomo Corporation. (18)

10.24

Omnibus Amendment Agreement, dated September 20, 2006, between Minera San Cristobal, S.A.,
Apex Silver Mines Limited, Apex Silver Mines Sweden AB, Apex Luxembourg S.ARL, Apex Metals
GmbH, Apex Silver Finance Lid., Gotlex Lagerakticbolag nr. 451, Comercial Metales Blancos AB,
BNP Paribas, Barclays Capital, Corporacion Andina de Fomento; JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., the
Senior Lenders party thereto and the Hedge Banks party thereto. (18)

10.25

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated September 25, 2006, between Apex Silver Mines Limited, Apex
Luxembourg S.A.R.L., Apex Silver Mines Sweden AB and Sumitomo Corporation. (18)

10.26

Separation Agreement and Release, dated June 9, 2006, berween Mark A. Lettes and Apex Silver Mines
Corporation. (15)

10.27

Underwriting Agreement, dated April 6, 2006, between Apex Silver Mines Limited and Harris Nesbite
Corp. (15)

| 1028

Non-Employee Directors’ Share Plan, as amended. (19) J

10,29

Form of Indemnification Agreemznc, (20)

List of Subsidiaries. J

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.,

| 232

Consent of Mine Reserves Associutes, Inc. J

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Periodic Report Pursuant to Rule 13a — 14(a) and Rule 15d
— 14{a) (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Q'fficer of Periodic Report Pursuant to- Rule 13a — 14(z) and Rule 15d
— 14(a) (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

32.1

Certificate of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant o 18 U.S.C. 1350
{Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).
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(6)

@)

(8)

)]

(10)
(1y)
(12}
{13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
17
(18)
(19
20

Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to our amended Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (No. 333-34685) filed November 18, 1997.
Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to our Current Repore on Form 8-K filed March 17, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 2, 2004,

Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004,

Incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 18, 2004.
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Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

Form 10-K

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Apex Silver Mines Limited:

We have completed integrated audits of Apex Silver Mines
Limited’s consolidated financial statements and of its internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20006,

in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Our opinions,
based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and
cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Apex Silver Mines Limited and its subsidiaries

(a development stage enterprise) at December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the results of their operations and their cash lows
for cach of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2006 and, cumulatively, for the period from December 22,
1994 (date of inception) to December 31, 2006, in conformi-
ty with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. These financial statements are the respon-
sibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements
in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obrain reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assess-
ing the accounting principles used and significanc estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation, We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2(s) to the consolidated financial state-
ments, the Company restated its 2005 consolidated financial
statements.

As discussed in Note 2{1) to the consolidated financial state-
ments, the Company changed its method of accounting for
stock compensation effective January 1, 2006.

As disclosed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, the formal approval by the requisite majority of the
lender consortium of the 2007 Construcrion Budget, Operat-
ing Plan and Financial Model as required by the terms of

the San Cristobal Project Financing Facility has not yet been
obrained.

Internal control over financial reporting
Also, we have audited management’s assessment, included
in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial
Repotting appearing under item 9A, that Apex Silver Mines

Limited did not maintain effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting as of December 31, 2006, because the Compa-
ny did not maintain effective controls over (1} the valuation
of its merals derivatives positions related to its project finance
facility and (2) the monitoring of its compliance with cerrain
covenants related to its project finance facility, based on cri-
teria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The Company’s manage-
ment is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effective-
ness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsi-
bility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting
includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, test-
ing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s intet-
nal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-
tions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) pro-
vide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assur-
ance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthor-
ized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial starements.

Because of its inherent limirations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inad-
equate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of
control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likeli-
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hood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The
following material weaknesses have been identified and in-
cluded in management’s assessment as of December 31, 2006:

1. The Company did not maintain effective controls over the
valuation of its metals derivative positions related to its proj-
ect finance facility. Specifically, effective internal conrrols were
not designed and operarting to accurately assess available mar-
ket dara in the valuation of its metals derivatives. This control
deficiency resulted in the restatement of the Company's 2005
annual consolidated financial statements; interim consolidat-
ed financial statements for the quarter ended September 30,
2005 and for each of the first three quarters of 2006; and, an
audit adjustment to the Company’s 2006 annual consolidated
financial statements. Addirtionally, this control deficiency
could result in a material misstatemenc of the Company’s
derivatives liabilities, gain on sale of interest in subsidiaries,
minority interest in subsidiaries, minority interest in loss of
consolidated subsidiaries, and in the accumulated deficit ac-
counts that would result in a material misstatement of the an-
nual or interim consolidated financial statemencs thar would
not be prevented or detected.

2. The Company did not maintain effective controls over
the monitoring of its compliance with certain covenants relat-
ed to its project finance facility. Specifically, effective internal
controls, including monitoring by management with the req-
uisite level of experience commensurate with the Company’s
loan compliance requirements, were not designed and operat-
ing to enable the identification of covenant violations which
effect certain of the Company’s financial statement disclosures
and presentations. This control deficiency could result in the

£3

misclassification of the amount outstanding under the project
finance facility, as well as the derivarives liabilities as non-cur-
rent liabilities, that would result in a material misstatement of
the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that
would not be prevented or detected.

‘These material weaknesses were considered in determining
the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our
audir of the 2006 consolidated financial statements, and our
opinion regarding the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
conrrol over financial reporting does not affect our opinion
on those consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Apex Silver
Mines Limited did not maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20006, is fairly
stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.
Also, in our opinion, because of the effect of the material
weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objec-
tives of the control criteria, Apex Silver Mines Limited has
not maintained effective internal control over financial report-
ing as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.

Wm@a et

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Denver, Colorado
April 2, 2007




Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in United States dollars) }FOrm 10 "K

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 Restated

{in thousands except share data)

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 49,840 % 4,808
Restricted cash 31,942 135,182
Investments 325,536 132,000
Restricted investments 65,343 67,491
Ore inventories 3,183 -
Materials and supplies inventory 3,149 -
Prepaid expenses and other assets 9,984 5,824
Current assets 488,977 345,305
Property, plant and equipment {ne) (41,758 379,138
Ore inventories 21,341 -
Deferred financing costs 19,485 21,604
Value added tax recoverable 54,158 20,052
Investments 42,255 -
Restricted investments - 12,392
Other 2,122 2,020
Toral assets $ 1,270,096  § 780,511

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity (Deficir)

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 47,979 § 74,487

Accrued interest payable 3,405 3,096
Derivatives ac fair value 39,080 5,652

Current portion of long term debt 4,408 2,270

Current liabilities 94,872 85,505

Long term debt 492,195 320,021
Derivatives at fair value 779,118 145,719
Deferred gain on sale of asset 1,400 -
Asset retirement obligation 5,761 2,003
Total liabilities 1,373,346 553,248

Minority interest in subsidiaries (Note 12) 40 34

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Shareholders’ equity (Deficir)
Ordinary Shares, $.01 par value, 175,000,000 shares
authorized; 58,577,700 and 50,444,890 shares

issued and outstanding, respectively 586 504
Additional paid in capital 669,487 486,762
Accumulated deficit during development stage (773,339) (259,794)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (24) (243)

‘Total shareholders’ equity (Deficit) (103,290} 227,229
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (Deficit) $ 1,270,096  § 780,511

The accompanying notes form an integral pare of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
{(Expressed in United Srates dollars) ]FOI'm 1@ _K

For the period
from December
22, 1994 (incep-

tion) through
'The years ended December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 Restated 2004 2006
(in thousands except per share data)
Operating income and expenses:
Exploration $ (8,316) % (5,235) $ (5,306) $ (81,747
Administrative (21,247) (17,860) (18,162) {91,105)
Gain (loss) - commadity derivatives (715,120) (151,515} 751 (865,668)
Gain (loss) - foreign exchange and
currency derivatives 885 {678) 1,406 1,613
Asset retirement accretion expense (406) - - (406)
Amortization and depreciation (403) (210) (55) (1,799)
Total operating expenses (744.607) (175,498) (21,366) (1,039,112)
Other income and expenses:
Interest and other income 19,678 14,295 6,108 54,350
Royalty income (Note 15) 1,619 - - 1,619
Gain on sale of interest in subsidiaries 199,600 - - 199,600
Gain on extingishment of debr 2,875 6,765 - 9,640
Interest expense and other borrowing
costs (net of $26,146, $6,895 and $2,478
capitalized during 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively) (774) {7,335) (3,587) (11,696)
Total other income and expenses 222,998 13,725 2,521 253,513
Loss befare minarity interest and income taxes (521.609) (161,773) (18.849) (785,599
Income tax expense (749) (379 - (1,128)
Minority interest in loss of
conselidated subsidiary (Note 12) 8,813 16 - 13,388
Net loss $ (513.545) $  (162,136) 8 (18,845 $ (773,339)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities $ (24) $ (311) $ 68 (267)
Reclassification for loss on securities
included in net income $ 243 % - § - 243
Comprehensive loss $  (513,326) $§ (162,447) $ (18,777) $§ (773.363)
Net loss per Ordinary Share - basic
and diluted™ $ 9,09y % (3.34) § (0.41)
Weighted average Ordinary Shares
outstanding 56,498,416 48,615,586 46,528,341

(1) Potential dilutive Ordinary Shares were antidilutive for all periods presented.
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders” Equity
{(Expressed in United Srates dollars) ]FO]I'm 1@ "K

Accumulat-
ed Other Total
Additional  Accumu- Compre- Share-
Ordinary Shares Paid-in lated hensive In- holders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit came (Loss) Equity

{in chousands except share data)

Issuance of shares upon incorporation

December 22, 1994 ($0.85 per share) 8,822,546 $ 882 $§ 5571 § - 8 - § 5,660
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - (213) - (213)
Balance, December 31, 1994 8,822,546 88.2 5,571 (213) - 5,446
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - {1,861) - (1,861)
Balance, December 31, 1995 8,822,546 88.2 5,571 (2,074) - 3,585
Issuance of shares in private

placement ($8.00 per share} 4,256,700 42.6 32,407 - - 32,449
Ner loss and comprehensive loss - - - (11,723) - (11,723)
Balance, December 31, 1996 13,079,246 130.8 37,978 (13,798) - 24,311
Purchase of minority incerest in ASC

Bolivia ($11.00 per share) 268,496 2.7 2,951 - - 2,953
Issuance of shares to associates

{$11.00 per share) 138,595 1.4 1,523 - - 1,525
Issuance of shares for services ($1.49 per share) 115,207 1.2 232 - - 233
Stock oprion compensartion expense - - 417 - - 417

Issuance of shares upon Initial

Public Offering ($11.00 per share) 5,523,372 55.2 54,720 - - 54,775
Nert loss and comprehensive loss - - - (14,985) - (14,985)
Balance, December 31, 1997 19,124,916 191.2 97,820 (28,783) - 69,229
Exchange of Apex LDC shares 7,079,006 70.8 (71) - - -
Stock options exercised ($7.91 per share) 25,001 0.3 197 - - 198
Stock awards ($8.50 per share) 21,838 0.2 185 - - 186
Unearned compensation - - (186) - - {186)
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - (11,030) - (11,030)
Balance, December 31, 1998 26,250,761 2625 97,946 (39,812) - 58,397
Stock options exercised ($8.77 per share) 25,549 0.3 224 - - 224
Sale of Ordinary Share units ($12.00 per unir) 8.090,132 80.9 94,005 - - 94,086
Commissions paid in stock ($12.00 per share) 84,184 0.8 (1 - - -
Stock awards {$12.06 per share) 15,542 0.2 187 - - 188
Unearned compensation {net) - - (87) - - (87}
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - (7,979) - (7,979)
Balance, December 31, 1999 34,466,168 344.7 192,275 (47,791) 144,828
Stock compensation ($10.88 per share) 5,100 0.1 55 - - 55
Stock awards ($9.13 per share) 15,361 0.2 140 - - 140
Unearned compensation - - 273 - - 273
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - (7,740) - {7,740}
Balance, December 31, 2000 34,486,629 344.9 192,743 (55,531) - 137,557
Continned
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

(Expressed in United States dollars)

Form 10-K

Accumu-
lated Other Total
Oudinary Shures N e holder
Shares Amount Capital Deficit  come (Loss)  Equity
{in thousands except share data)

Balance, December 31, 2000 34,486,629 $ 3449 §$ 192,743 §$ (55,531) § - % 137,557
Stock to acquire mineral rights ($9.43 per share) 96,136 1.0 906 - - 907
Stock options exercised ($10.36 per share) 39,119 0.4 405 - - 405
Stock issued as note payment {$10.95 per share) 70,875 0.7 775 - - 776
Stock {$11.04 per share) and options to

consultants 36,000 0.4 525 - - 525
Stock awards (net) ($9.27 per share) 73,638 0.7 678 - - 679
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - (8,584) - (8,584)
Balance, December 31, 2001 34,802,397 348.0 196,032 (64,115) - 132,266
Sale of Ordinary Shares ($13.10 per share) 500,000 5.0 6,545 - - 6,550
Stock to acquire mineral rights ($15.37 per

share) 58,307 0.6 892 - - 892
Stock options exercised ($9.12 per share) 555,244 5.6 5,057 - - 5,063
Stock issued as note payment ($16.19 per share) 58,895 0.6 953 - - 954
Stock ($13.34 per share) and options ro

consultants 204,655 2.0 3,561 - - 3,563
Stock awards (net) ($12.95 per share) 88,819 0.9 1,149 - - 1,150
Offering costs - - (53) - - (53)
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - (8.654) - (8,654)
Balance, December 31, 2002 36,268,317 362.7 214,137 (72,769) - 141,731
Stock options exercised ($9.77 per share) 317,220 3.2 3,096 - - 3.099
Stock warrants exercised ($12.92 per share) 60,000 0.6 775 - - 775
Stock ($15.13 per share) and warrants to

consultants 137,987 1.4 2,911 - - 2,912
Stock awards (net) ($16.90 per share) 79,829 0.8 1,348 - - 1,349
Stock issued as note payment ($14.53 per share) 11,287 0.1 164 - - 164
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - (6,044) - (6,044)
Balance, December 31, 2003 36,874,640 368.7 222,430 (78,813) - 143,986
Stock options exercised ($11.03 per share) 159,700 1.6 1,760 - - 1,762
Stock awards granted ($17.48 per share) 228,500 2.3 2,718 - - 2,720
Stock to consulants ($19.64 per share) 23,681 0.2 465 - - 465
Sale of Ordinary Shares (net) ($21.02 per share) 10,393,276 103.9 208,508 - - 208,612
Fair value of stock options granted - - 3,220 - - 3,220
Stock option modification costs associated

with retirement of the Chairman, a Board

member and an employee - - 4,128 - - 4,128
Unrealized gain on marketable equiry securites - - - - 68 68
Net loss - - - (18,845) - (18,845)
Balance, December 31, 2004 47,679,797 $ 476.7 $ 443,229 $ (97,658) $ 68 § 346,116

Continued
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Sharcholders’ Equity

(Expressed in United States dollars)

Form 10-K

Accum-
ulated
Other
. Additional Compre- Total
Ordinary Shares Paid-in Accumulated hensive Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income Equity
(in thousands excepr share dara)
Balance, December 31, 2004 47,679,797 $ 476.7 $ 443,229 $ (97,658) § 68 $ 346,116
Stock options exercised ($9.37 per share) 31,118 0.3 292 - - 292
Stock granted as compensation {($17.63 per
share) 82,500 0.8 416 - - 417
Stock compensation accrued - - 175 - - 175
Fair value of stock options granted - - 2,381 - - 2,381
Stock to consultants ($16.06 per share) 10,647 0.1 171 - - 171
Stock to construct power line ($14.66 per
share) 1,134,799 11.4 16,629 - - 16,640
Shares issued to retire debt ($15.59 per
share) 1,490,029 14.9 23,220 - - 23,235
Shares issued to purchase common stock of
untelared entity ($15.58 per share) 16,000 0.2 249 - - 249
Unrealized loss on marketable equity
securites - - - - (311) (311)
Ner loss (Restated) - - - (162,136) - (162,136)
Balance, December 31, 2005 (Restated} 50,444,890 $ 504.4 $ 486,762 $ (259,794) $ (243) $ 227,229
Stock options to construct power line
($15.09 per share) 369,033 3,73 5,724 - - 5,728
Shares issued to retire debt {$15.77 per
share) 1,086,653 1009 17,114 - - 17,125
Stock to consultants ($15.90 per share) 1,699 - 27 - - 27
Stock compensation accrued - - 5,451 - - 5,451
Stock options exercised ($12.52 per share) 283,425 2.8 3,406 - - 3,409
Stock granted as compensation ($19.30 per
share) 17,000 0.2 - - - -
Sale of Ordinary Shares (net) ($23.70 per
share) 6,375,000 63.8 151,003 - - 151,067
Unrealized gain on marketable equity
securites - - - - 219 219
Nert loss - - - (513,545) - (513,545)
Balance, December 31, 2006 58,577,700 $ 5858 $ 669,487 $ (773,339) $ (24) $ (103,290)

The accompanying notes form an insegral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Form 10-K

(Expressed in United States dollars)

For the period
from December
22, 1994 (incep-
tion) through
2005 December 31,

2006 Restated 2004 2006

(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net cash used in operating activities (Note 13) $ (F0,727) $ (24338 $ (9218 § (177,604)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (627,320) {635,950) (459,534) (1,820,512)
Sale of available-for-sale investments 324,842 811,990 175,989 1,388,794
Purchase of held-to-marurity investments (24,662) (5,466) (226,295) (263,869)
Sale of held-to-maturity investments 35,613 145,538 35,069 222,620
Purchase of available-for-sale restricted investments (251,500} - (15,285) (266,450}
Sale of available-for-sale restricted investments 279,900 335 - 280,235
Purchase of held-to-maturity restricted investments (22,199) (27,343) - (49,877)
Sale of held-to-maturity restricted investments 606,676 14,776 - 81,452
Payment of derivative premiums (net) (48,293) (101) - (48,394)
Advance for construction of port facilicy - (2,000) - (2,000}

Released from (transfer to) restricted cash to

collateralize credit facility, letters of credit

and interest payments (ner) 103,239 {135,036) (26,562) (34,90%)
Proceeds from sale of interest in subsidiary 224,000 - - 224,000
Payment of selling costs related to sale of interest in subsidiary (6,384) - - (6,384)
Capiralized costs and additions to property, plant and equipment (276,924) {168,612) (2,308) (563,729)

Net cash used in investing activities (223,012) {1,869) (518,926) (859,019)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of Ordinary Shares
{ner of issuance costs of $4,781, %0 and $9,803 for

2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively) 156,794 16,640 208,612 580,357
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes - - 339,987 339,987
Payment of debu issuance costs (671) (12,421) {11,900) (24,992)
Payment of notes and long term debt (2,176) {1,236) on (5,452)
Proceeds from note to power line contractor 1,415 - - 1,415
Borrowings under project finance facility 180,000 - - 180,000
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 3,409 292 1,762 15,148

Net cash provided by financing activities 338,771 3,275 538,370 1,086,463

Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 45,032 (22,932) 10,226 49,840
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 4,808 27,740 17,514 -
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $49,840 $4,808 § 27,740 % 49,840
Supplemental information:
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized $ 774 $ 10,883 § 2,859 §% 14,516
Income taxes paid $ 541 $ 261 $ - 8 802

Supplemental non-cash transactions: (See Note 13)

The accompanying notes form an integral pare of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in United States dollars)

Form 10-K

1. Incorporation, Recapitalization and

Operations

Apex Silver Mines LDC (*Apex LDC”) was incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands on November 23, 1994
as a 30-year limited duration company and was capitalized

on December 22, 1994, Apex Silver Mines Limited (“Apex
Silver” or the “Company”) was formed under the laws of the
Cayman Islands in March 1996 for the sole purpose of serv-
ing as a holding company for cerrain ownership interests in
Apex LDC. A recapitalization was affected on August 6, 1996
whereby approximately 8.8 million or 55% of the then-out-
standing shares of Apex LDC were exchanged on a one-for-
one basis for identical equity instruments of Apex Silver {the
“Recapiralization™). Apex Silver had no shares outstanding
prior to the Recapitalization. In conjunction with the Re-
capitalization, Apex Silver and the shareholders of Apex LDC
entered into a Buy-Sell Agreement (the “Buy-Seli Agree-
ment”) which was designed to maintain the same beneficial
interest in Apex LDC artributable to all shareholders of Apex
LDC ptior to the Recapitalization. Pursuant to the terms of
the Buy-Sell Agreement, upon the request of the sharcholders,
Apex Silver was required to purchase the remaining outstand-
ing shares of Apex LDC in exchange for cash, ordinary shares
or a combination thereof, at the Company’s option. During
1996 and 1998, Apex Silver acquired the remaining outstand-
ing shares of Apex LDC by exchanging on a one-for-one basis
identical equity instruments of Apex Silver. Upon completion
of the purchase of 100% of the outstanding shares of Apex
LDC a total of approximately 20.2 million shares had been
exchanged with Apex LDC. The recapitalization was consid-
ered a reorganization of entities under common control and

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements requires
the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and relared
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The
more significant areas requiring the use of management
estimates and assumptions relate to mineral reserves thar are
the basis for future cash flow estimates utilized in impairment
calculations and units-of-production depreciation, depletion
and amortization calculations: environmental reclamation
and closure obligations; estimates of recoverable merals in
stockpiles; valuation allowances for deferred tax assets and
the fair value of financial instruments. The Company bases
its estimates on historical experience and on various other

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Accordingly, actual results may differ signifi-
cantly from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

consequently, for purposes of these financial statements, Apex
Silver is considered the successor to Apex LDC and includes
the carry over basis of all of the assets and liabilities of Apex
LDC, from the inception date of December 22, 1994,

The Company's principal activities are the exploration and
development of mineral properties. The Company is currently
an “exploration and development stage company” as it has
not yet realized revenues from planned operarions, Activities
since inception have included acquisition of mineral inter-
ests, raising capital through debt and equiry rransactions and
exploration and development activities. The Company is in
the process of developing its San Cristobal property located in
southwestern Bolivia and expects that development activi-
ties will be complete and commencement of operations will
result in the first sale of concentrates in the chird quarter
2007. Although the Company’s senior corporate and operat-
ing managemenc have significant experience in developing,
constructing, financing and operating very large mining
complexes in many countries, the Company has never devel-
oped or operated a mine or managed a mine development
project and there are certain risks associated with our ability
to successfully complete the development of the San Cristobal
project and commence production activities, including our
ability to achieve anticipated production volumes, manage
cost increases and operate the project in accordance with the
terms and covenants of our project finance facility as de-
scribed in Note 7.

The Company conducts exploration activities in Central
America and South America and currently holds interests in
non-producing mineral properties in Bolivia, Mexico, Peru
and Argentina.

The policies adopted, considered by management to be sig-
nificant, are summarized as follows:

Basis of consolidation

These Consolidated Financial Statements include the ac-
counts of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries and
San Cristobal Transportadora de Elecrricidad S.A. (*SC
TESA™), a variable interest entity consolidated in accordance
with Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretacion
No. 46R (“FIN 46”) (see Note 20). All inter-company trans-
actions and balances have been eliminated at consolidation.

The Company consolidates more-than-50%-owned sub-
sidiaries that it controls and entities over which control is
achieved through means other than voting rights. In cases
where the Company does not own 100% of the interest in
the consolidated subsidiary it recognizes a minority interest
in the subsidiary and a minority interest in the gains or losses
recorded by the subsidiary. In cases in which losses applicable
to the minority intetest in a subsidiary exceed the minority
interest in the subsidiary, such excess and any further losses
ordinarily applicable to the minority interest are charged
against the Company’s interest, if the minority interest does
not have any obligacion to fund such losses. Future earnings,
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if any, are credited to the Company to the extent that losses
atrriburable to the minoriry interest were previously absorbed
by the Company.

On September 25, 2006 the Company sold 35% of its
interests in the subsidiary helding its San Cristobal project,
the subsidiary that will market the San Cristobal concen-
trates and the subsidiary that holds che derivative positions
required by the project finance facility to Sumitomo Corpora-
tion (“Sumitomo™) for $224 million in cash and retention of
certain interests in future silver and zinc production. Putsuant
to the Company’s principles of consolidation, the Company
fully consolidates the results of operations of its San Cristobal
project and reports Sumitomo’s participation as a minority
interest. (See Note 12 for furcther derails of the transaction).

Translation of foreign currencies

Substantially all expenditures are made in United States dol-
lars. Accordingly, the Company uses the United States dollar
as its functional and reporting currency.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents.

Restricted cash and invesements

The Company segregates cash and investments, the use of
which is restricted by contractual agreement, and reports the
amounts separately in the financial statements. Per the terms
and conditions of the San Cristobal project finance facilicy,
the Company was required to depaosit cash and/or invest-
ments in an account the use of which is restricted to the
development of the San Cristobal project. In addition, at De-
cember 31, 2006 the Company recorded restricted cash and
investments to collateralize certain letters of credit related to
the development of the San Cristobal project and to provide
the amounts necessary to pay interest payments on the 4.0%
Convertible Senior Subordinated Nores through 2007, per
the terms of the notes.

fnvestments

Available for Sale — Available for sale securities are recorded
at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses recorded as

a component of equity, unless the value of the securiry is
considered impaired. Realized gains and losses and non-tem-
porary impairments in value are recorded in the statement
of operations. No impairments were recorded for the years

ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Held to Maturity — Held to maturity investments are debt se-
curities which the Company has the ability and intent to hold
until maturity and are recorded at amortized cost. Income

is recorded based upon the current yield of the security. Any
non-temporary impairment in value will be recorded in the
statement of operations at the date of the impairment. No
impairments were recorded for the years ended December 31,

20006, 2005 and 2004.

i

Work in process inventories

During March 2005, a committee of the Emerging Issues
Task Force (“EITE”) reached a consensus (EITF Issue No.
04-6) that stripping costs incurred during the production
phase of a mine are variable production costs that should be
included in the costs of inventory produced during the period
that the stripping costs are incurred. In January 2006 the
EITF issued additional guidance defining the commencement
of production as the period when saleable minerals are first
extracted in greater than de minimis amounts. The EITF con-
sensus is effective for the first reporting period in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2005. During 2006 the Com-
pany began mining oxide and sulfide ores at its San Cristobal
project, and placed the ore in stockpiles for future processing,
The quantity and value of the minerals mined were sufficient
to declare the start of ore production according to the EITF
consensus. The Company has included the associated costs of
the ore placed in stockpiles as ore inventories on its consoli-
dated balance sheets.

The Company records costs related to preduction activities
as inventory held for sale in the ordinary course of business
ot wotk in process for such sale. Work-in-process invento-
ries include ore produced and stockpiled for which furcher
processing is necessary before a product is ready for sale. The
Company uses the average cost method to assign costs to

the units of ore stockpiled during the period. Inventories are
carried at the lower of cost or the current net realizable value.
If costs held in inventory exceed their net realizable value, the
excess cost is recognized as a loss in the current period. Net
realizable value reflects the gross realizable value (“estimared
selling price”) reduced by estimated costs of completion and
disposal as of the balance sheet date. Gross realizable value
reflects the anticipated average realization thart the inventory
will generate when it is sold.

At December 31, 2006 the Company had stockpiled ap-
proximately 1.3 million tonnes of sulfide ore and 5.2 million
tonnes of oxide ore in work-in-process ore inventories at

its San Cristobal project at a carrying cost of approximately

$24.5 million.
Mining properties, exploration and development costs

The Company expenses general prospecting costs and the
costs of acquiring and exploring unevaluated mineral proper-
tics. When a mineral property is determined to have proven
and probable reserves, subsequent development costs are
capitalized to mineral properties. When a mineral property
is acquired that has proven and probable reserves, acquisition
costs and subsequent development costs are capitalized to
mineral properties. When mineral properties are developed
and operations commence, capitalized costs are charged

to operations using the units-of-production method over
proven and probable reserves. Upon abandonment or sale of
a mineral property, all capitalized costs relating 1o the specific
property are written off in the period abandoned or sold and
a gain or loss is recognized.
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Beginning September 1, 1997 all costs associated with the
Company's San Cristobal project have been capitalized. Capi-
talized costs at San Cristobal include all direct costs associated
with the project, certain interest, depreciation on assets being
used to construct the project and other internally allocated
costs directly associated with the advancement of the project.

No amounts related to other mineral properties have been
capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings are stated at cost and are depreciated using the
straight-line method over useful lives of thirty to forry years
or the life of the mine whichever is shorter. Mining equip-
ment and machinery are stated at cost and are depreciated
using the straight-line method over useful lives of three to
eight years or the lease period, which ever is shorter. Other
furniture and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated
using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of
three 1o five years. Depreciation on plant and equipment used
in the construction of an asset is capitalized to the construct-
ed asset.

The Company records leases as a capital leasc if at the lease
inception it meets one or more of four criteria in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13,
“Accounting for Leases” (“FAS No. 137). The Company
records capital leases as an asset and an obligation at the lesser
of an amount equal to the present value at the beginning of
the lease term of minimum lease payments during the lease
term or fair value of the leased assets.

Asset retirement obligations

The Company records asset retirement obligations in ac-
cardance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”
{“FAS No. 143"), which establishes a uniform methodology
for accounting for estimated reclamation and abandonment
costs. According to FAS No. 143, the fair value of a liability
for an Asset Retirement Obligation ("ARQ”) is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of
fair value can be made, An offsetting Asset Retirement Cost
(“ARC”) is capitalized as part of the carrying value of the
assets with which it is associared, and depreciated over the
useful life of the asset. During the second half of 2005, the
Company commenced certain activities at its San Cristobal
property, primarily certain earth works and plant construction
that will require future reclamation and closure expenditures.
Prior to the second half of 2005 there were no activities chat
resulted in an ARO (see Note 8).

Asset impairment

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
related carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the sum
of estimated future net cash flows on an undiscounted basis

is less than the carrying amount of the related asset, an asset
impairment is considered to exist. The related impairment
loss is measured by comparing estimated future ner cash lows
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on a discounted basis to the carrying amount of the asser.
Changes in significant assumptions underlying future cash
flow estimates may have a matcerial effect on the Company’s
financial position and results of operations.

Deferred financing costs

The company defers direct costs incurred in connection with
obtaining financing and amortizes the costs over life of the
financing.

Stock compensation

Effective January 1, 2004 the Company adopted the fair value
based method of accounting for stock options as presented in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Ac-
counting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“FAS No. 1237),
as amended by Statement of Financial Accounring Standards
No. 148, “Accounring for Stock-Based Compensation — Tran-
sition and Disclosure” (“FAS No. 148”).

Effective January 1, 2006 the Company adopted Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”
(“FAS No. 123R”), using the modified prospective approach,
which revised FAS No. 123 and superseded Accounting Prin-
ciples Board (“APB”) Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Is-
sued to Employees”. The Company also adopted the short-cut
method for calculating the pool of windfall tax benefits as al-
lowed by FAS No. 123R-3 and determined it w be zero. The
adoption of FAS No. 123R did not have a material impact on
the Company's financial position or results of operations.

The Company recognizes stock based compensation costs
using a graded vesting attribution method wheteby costs are
recognized over the requisite service period for cach separately
vesting portion of the award. The Company recognized stock
based compensation costs of $5.4 million, $2.9 million and
$10.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 respectively. The 2004 amount includes $4.1 mil-
lion associated with the extension of the expiration dates of
stock options previously granted to the retiring Chairman and
a retiring employee and a $2.5 million new grant to the retir-
ing Chairman. Approximately $0.9 million, $0.7 million and
$1.4 million of the costs for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively were related to compensa-
tion paid to employees directly working on the San Cristobal
project and were capitalized, wich the remaining costs charged
1o expense (see Note 11).

Net earnings (loss) per Ordinary Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing nec
earnings (loss) available to holders of Ordinary Shares by the
weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding for
the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potendial di-
lution that would occur if securities or other contracts 1o issue
Ordinary Shares were exercised or converted into Ordinary
Shares.

Qutstanding options to purchase 2,992,572, 2,859,781,
and 2,437,071 Ordinary Shares were not included in the

computation of diluted earnings per share at December 31,
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2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively, because to do so would
have been antidilutive. Also, warrants to purchase 450,000
Ordinary Shares for each of the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 and notes convertible for 10,132,320,
10,831,132 and 11,879,350 Ordinary Shares for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively were
not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share
at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively, because
to do so would have been anridilutive, Therefore, basic lass
pet share is the same as dilutive loss per share.

Derivative positions

The Company records all open derivative positions on its con-
solidared balance sheer at estimated fair value. Changes in the
fair value of che open derivative positions are recorded each
period in earnings or other comprehensive income, depend-
ing on whether a derivative is designated as part of a hedge
transaction and, if so, the type of hedge transaction. Through
December 31, 2006 the Company had not accounted for any
of its derivatives as hedge transactions. Therefore, all open
derivative positions have been adjusted to estimated fair value
at the end of each reporting period with the related change in
value recorded to earnings.

The Company determines the fair value of its open deriva-
tive positions by applying market values obrained from the
counterparties holding the Company’s derivative positions.
The Company independently verifies that the values received
from the counterparties are based on major commodities
price indices such as the LME and COMEX and other avaii-
able market data. (See Note 25 for discussion of the restated
fair marker value of the Company's open derivatives liability
for the periods September 30, 2005 through September 30,
2006). As of December 31, 2006 the fair market value of the
Company's open derivatives liabilicy was a nec $818.2 million
(see Note 9).

Variable inrerest entities

During 2003 the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46R
“Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46R™), which provides
guidance on the identification and reporting for entities over
which cantrol is achieved through means other than voc-

ing rights. FIN 46R defines such entities as variable interest
entities (“VIEs"). In April 2005 the Company entered into

a long-term contracr with San Cristobal Transportadora

de Electricidad, S.A. (*SC TESA™), a subsidiary of Ingelec,
5.A., (“Ingelec™) a company in the power line construction
and transmission services industry, to construct a power line
and transport power ta the San Cristobal project from the
Bolivian power grid. The Company has determined that the
contractual arrangements resule in the classification of SC
TESA as a VIE. In addition, because of the restrictive require-
ments of the contract effectively giving the Company control
of SC TESA, the Company is deemed to be the primary
beneficiary of SC TESA resulting in the full consolidation of
SC TESA beginning in April 2005. At December 31, 2006
the consolidation of SC TESA results in the elimination of a
$14.5 million note receivable from SC TESA, the recognition
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of $0.1 million of additional cash, $21.0 million of additional
property, plant and equipment and $2.8 million of additional
value added rax recoverable (see Note 11).

Comprebensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income {loss} is defined as all changes in
stockholders’ equity, exclusive of transactions with stockhold-
ers, such as capiral investments. Comprehensive income (loss)
includes net income {loss} and changes in cerrain assets and
liabilities that are reported directly in equity. For the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 Comprehensive
Loss included the change in the market value of available for
sale securities and is reported on the Statements of Consoli-
dated Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

Reclassifications

Certain revisiens in classification have been made to the
2005 and 2004 financial information to cenform to the 2006
financial statements to ensure comparability.

New accounting standards

In March 2006 the EITF reached a tentative consensus {EITF
Issue No. 05-1) that the issuance of equiry securities to settle
an instrument that becomes convertible upon the issuer’s ex-
ercise of a call option should be accounted for as a conversion
(as opposed to an extinguishment) if; at issuance, che debe
instrument contains a substantive conversion feature other
than the issuer’s call option. The EITF concluded that if an
instrument is deemed convertible at issuance, then a subse-
quent conversion of the instrument is in accordance with a
“conversion privilege that existed at issuance” and is, there-
fore, ourside the scope of APB Opinion No. 26, “Early Extin-
guishment of Debt.” Therefore, the issuance of shares 1o sertle
debt pursuant to the original terms of the debrt instrument
should be afforded conversion treatment. If the instrument
does not contain a substantive conversion feature at issu-
ance, the issuance of equity securities to settle the instrument
should be recognized as a debt extinguishment. EITF Issue
No. 05-1 became effective for interim or annual reporting
periods beginning after June 28, 2006, following its ratifica-
tion during June 2006. The Company previously accounted
for two transactions involving the buy-back of its convert-
ible debt as an extinguishment under APB Opinion No. 26.
Ratification of EITF Issue No. 05-1 will require similar future
transactions be accounted for as conversions.

Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting
Changes and Error Cortections — a replacement of APB
Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3" (“FAS No.
154}, is effective for years beginning after December 15,
2005, FAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the ac-
counting and reporting of a change in accounting principle.
The statement, which applies to voluntary changes as well

as changes required by accounting pronouncements thar do
not otherwise provide specific transition provisions, requires
retrospective applicarion to prior period’s financial statements
where practical. FAS No. 154 did not have an impacr on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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In June 2006, the FASB issued Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncerrainty in
Income Taxes,” (“FIN 48"}, an interpretation of Financial
Accounting Standards Statement No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes.” FIN 48 prescribes a recognition thresheld and
measurement actribute for the financial statement recogni-
tion and measurement of a tax position taken ot expected to
be taken in a tax return. The Interpretation requires thar the
Company recognize in its financial statements the impact

of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not of
being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the
position. FIN 48 also provides guidance on de-recognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim
periods and disclosure. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective
beginning January 1, 2007 with the cumulative effect of the
change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment

to the opening balance of retained earnings. The Company
does not believe the adoption of FIN 48 will have a material
impact on its financial position or results of operations.

During September 2006 the FASB issued Financial Account-
ing Standards No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements” {“FAS No.
157™). FAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a frame-
work for measuring fair value in generally accepted account-
ing principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. This Standard addresses how companies
should measure fair value when they are required to use a fair
value measure for recognition or disclosure purposes under
U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, this Standard does not require any
new fair value measurements. FAS No. 157 is effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning afrer
November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal
years. The Company does not expect the adoption of FAS
No. 157 to have a material impacr on its financial position or
results of operations.

During September 2006 the SEC issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 108 (“SAB 108"} which establishes an approach
to the quantification of unadjusted financial statement errors
based on the effects of the error on each of the company’s
financial statements and the related financial statement
disclosures. This model is commonly referred to as a “dual
approach” because it essentially requires quantification of
unadjusted errors under both balance sheet and income state-
ment approach. SAB 108 permits companies 1o record the
cumulative effect of initially applying the “dual approach” in
the first year ending after November 15, 2006 by recording
the necessary “correcting” adjustments to the carrying values
of assets and liabilities as of the beginning of that year with
the offsetting adjustment recorded to the opening balance of
retained earnings. The Company has no unadjusted errors
and the adoption of SAB 108 did not have an impact on its
financial position or results of operations.

Correction of an error related to the valuation of open derivative
positions

Pursuanc to the requirements of the lenders of its $225
million project finance faciliry, the Company was required
to provide price protection for a portion of its planned
production from the San Cristobal project. In the third
quarter 2003, the Company entered into silver, zinc and lead
derivative positions utilizing primarily forward sales, but also
puts and calls, to comply with this requirement. As discussed
above, the Company records its open derivative positions at
their estimated fair value on its balance sheet and records the
change in estimated fair value in earnings at the end of each
reporting.

The Company’s derivative positions mature or expire on vari-
ous dates over an approximate six-year period commencing in
July 2007. Many of the derivative positions mature or expire
beyond the periods covered by the major commodity price
indices such as LME or COMEX, or expire in furure periods
covered by those indices with respect to which only limited
trading activity has occurred. In instances where only limited
market activicy exists, the Company had historically used
price projections to estimate a forward price curve provided
by an independent third party employing statistical analysis
and models to estimate the fair value of its open derivarive
positions. The models used by the independent third party
relied on commaodity price indices out to three months

and mean reversion statistical estimates beyond the three
month period. Recently, the Company reassessed the marker
informarion reflected in the commodities price indices out to
twenty seven months and quoted prices from the counterpar-
ties holding our derivative positions and concluded that the
additional market information is a more reliable indicaror of
fair value than the independent third party price projections
previously used. Accordingly, the Company concluded the
derivative liability related to its open derivative positions was
understated at December 31, 2005 by $95.1 million ($1.96
per share).

Based on this reassessment, management concluded that the
Company had understated its liability related o its open
derivative positions commencing with the quarcer ended
September 30, 2005. Additionally, correcting the error in the
valuation of the open derivative positions impacted the gain
and minority interest the Company recognized on the sale of
the 35% interests in the subsidiary holding its San Cristobal
project, the subsidiary that will market the San Cristobal
concentrates and the subsidiary thar holds the derivative posi-
tions required by the project finance facility. The gain on the
sale increased from $119.8 million to $199.6 million and as 2
result, management has concluded that the Company’s finan-
cial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2005, the
vear ended December 31, 2005 and the first three quarters of
2006 need to be restated. The restatements had no impact on
the Company’s cash, investment balances or cash flows.
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The impact of the restatement on the Company’s consolidated financial scacements for the year ended December 31, 2005 is summa-
rized in the following table:

As Previously Reported As Restated
Year to Inception Year to Inception
Date to Date Adjustments Date to Date

{in thousands except share data)

Operating income and expenses:

Gain (loss) - commodity derivatives $ (56,417 5 (55,450} $§ (95,098) $ (151,515) ${(150,548)
Orther operating expenses (23,983} (143,957} (23,983)  (143,957)
Toral operating expenses (80,400) (199,407} (95,098) (175,498)  {(294,505)

Other income and expenses 13,725 30,515 13,725 30,515
Loss before minority interest

and income taxes (66,675) (168,892) (95,098) (161,773)  {(263,990)
Income rax expense (379 379 379 (379)
Minority interest in loss of

consolidared subsidiary 16 4,575 16 4,575
Net loss $§ (67,038) 8§ (164,696) § (95,098) § (162,136) $(259,794)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (311) (243) (311) (243)
Comprehensive loss $ (67.349) 8 (164,939) $§ (95,098) $ (162,447) $(260,037)
Net loss per Ordinary Share - basic

and diluted $ (1.38) $ (1.96) % (3.34)
Weighted average Ordinary Shares

outstanding 48,615,586 48,615,586

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities $ 85,505 $ 85505
Derivatives 50,621 95,098 145,719
Orher long rerm liabilities 322,024 322,024
Total liabilities 458,150 95,098 553,248
Minority interest in subsidiaries 34 34
Accumulated deficic {164,696) (95,098) (259,794)
Total shareholders’ equity 322,327 {95,098) 227,229
Total liabilities and shareholders’
equity $ 780,511 $ - § 780,511

The impact of the restatement on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the interim quarterly periods Seprember 30,
2005 through September 30, 2006 is discussed in Note 19.
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3. Investments

The Company invests only in government and corporate securities rated “investment grade” or berter. The following rable summarizes

the Company’s investments at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

December 31, 2006 Cost Fair Value Carrying Value
(in thousands)
Investments:
Short-term:
Available for sale
Common stock $ 761 % 779 % 779
Corporate notes 5,935 5,995 5,995
Government bonds 6,972 6,973 6,973
Auction rate securities 306,785 306,789 306,789
Tortal available for sale 320,453 320,536 320,536
Held to maturity
Governmenc bonds 5,000 4,991 5,000
Total held to marturity 5,000 4,991 5,000
Total shott term 3 325,453 $ 325,527 % 325,536
Long-"Term:
Available for sale
Corporate notes $ 6,983 3§ 6960 % 6,960
Government bonds 33,374 33,295 33,295
Total available for sale 40,362 42,251 42,255
Held to maturity
Government bonds 2,000 1,996 2,000
Total held to marurity 2,000 1,996 2,000
Total long term $ 42362 $ 42,251 § 42,255
Restricted Investments:
Short-term:
Available for sale
Auction rate securities 3 59,800 3% 59,800 3% 59,800
Total available for sale 59,800 59,800 59,800
Held to maturity
Government bonds 5,543 5,500 5,543
Total held 1o maurity 5,543 5,500 5,543
Total short term $ 65,343 $ 65,300 3 65,343

Fie
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December 31, 2005 Cost Market Balance
(in thousands)
Investments:
Short-term:
Available for sale
Common stock $ 434§ 686 % 636
Bond funds 3,381 2,885 2,885
Auction rate securities 127,426 127,426 127,426
Total available for sale 131,241 130,997 130,997
Held to maturicy
Corporate notes 1,003 998 1,003
Total held to maturity 1,003 998 1,003
Total short term $ 132,244 $ 131,995 % 132,000
Restricred Investments:
Short-term:
Available for sale
Auction rate securities $ 14,950 3§ 14,950 3 14,950
Total available for sale 14,950 14,950 14,950
Held to maturity
Corporate notes 2,003 2,004 2,003
Government bonds 50,538 50,191 50,538
Total held to maturity 52,541 52,195 52,541
Total short term $ 67,491 § 67,145 § 67.491
Long-term:
Held te macurity
Government bonds $ 12,392 § 12,173 § 12,392

Quoted market prices at December 31, 2006 and 2005 respectively were used to determine the fair values of the above investments.

The Company maintains the majority of its investments in
auction rate securities ("ARS”)} which provide acceptable inter-
est rates with high liquidity allowing the Company to convert
the securities to cash every 7 to 35 days depending on the
terms of the specific ARS. Auction rate securities are floating
rate securities with long-term nominal maturicies of 25 to 30
years bue are marketed by financial institurions with maruricy
and interest rate reset dates at 7, 28, or 35 day intervals. The
result is char the market always has large quanities of securi-
ties resetting their interest rates every week resulting in high
liquidity. Most of the Company’s ARS at December 31, 2006
have maturities and reser dates of eicher 7 days or 28 days and
annual yields ranging from 5.22% to 5.80%.
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To fuifill the requirements of the San Cristobal project
finance facility which was entered into in December 2005,
the Company liquidated prior to maturity approximately
$34.0 million of investments in the fourth quarter of 2005
and $12.0 million of investments in the first quarter of 2006,
which were previously recorded as held-to-maruricy (“HTM”)
securities. The Company recognized losses of $0.2 million
and $0.1 million on the liquidacions during 2005 and 2006,
respectively. The liquidations were necessitated by the rerms
of the project finance facility which required the Company

to transfer substandially all of its cash and/or investments o
collateral accounts 1o restrict funds necessary to complete the
San Cristobal project. Certain covenants related to the project
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finance facility restricted the maturity dartes of investments
held in the collateral accounts to less than one year. A portion

- of the Company’s HTM portfolio had maturity dates slightly

beyond the one year limitation. As a result, prior to transfer-
ring the securities to the project finance collateral accounts,
those HTM securities with marurities greater than one year
were liquidared and reinvested in instruments with maturi-
ties less than one year. The Company recorded, as investing
cash inflow, an additional $126.3 million and $90.3 million
during 2005 and 2006 respectively, related to HTM securities
that matured on their maturity dates. The Company believes
the project financing facility requirements which caused the
Company to liquidate a portion of its HTM investments prior
to their maturity represented an isolated, unanticipated event
that did not change the Company’s ability or intent to hold its
remaining HTM investrents to marurity.

Credit risk — Credit risk is the risk that a third party might
fail to fulfill its performance obligarions under the terms of
a financial instrument. For cash and equivalents and invest-
ments, credit risk represents the carrying amount on the

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets consist of the following;

Prepaid insurance

Accrued interest receivable

Prepaid consulting and contracror fees
Prepaid import taxes and duties receivable

Other

balance sheet. We mitigate credit risk for cash and equivalents
and investments by placing our funds and investments with
high credit-quality financial institutions, limiting the amount
of exposure to each of the financial institutions; and monitor-
ing the financial condition of the financial institutions.

The Company invests with financial institutions that main-
tain a net worth of not less than $1 billion and are members
in good standing of the Securities Investor Protection Cor-
poration (“SIPC"). QOf the Company’s $514.9 million total
of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short and long
term investments and restricted investments (“the Funds™) at
December 31, 2006, $510.6 million was held at nine large
multinational banks. The bank holding the largest amount of
the Funds held $175.1 million. The bank holding the second
largest amount of the Company’s Funds at $149.6 million is
also the bank holding the restricted funds for development of
the San Cristobal project per the terms of the project finance
facility. The seven other banks held $185.9 million in total
with amounts ranging from $5.0 million o $52.5 million per
bank.

December 31,
2006 2005

(in thousands)
$ 1,949 $ 824

1,348 758
3,507 3,874
1,637 -
1,543 368

$ 9,984 $ 5,824

‘The prepaid consulting and contractor fees at December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist primarily of advance payments made to contrac-

tors for work being performed at the San Cristobal project.

Value Added Tax Recoverable

The Company has recorded value added tax (“VAT™) paid in
Bolivia and related to the San Cristobal project as a recover-
able asser. Bolivian law states that VAT paid prior to produc-
tion is recoverable as a credit against Bolivian taxes arising
from production, including income tax. The VAT is expected
to be recovered through future production from the San Cris-
tobal project. Future changes to Bolivian tax law could have
an adverse effect on the Company's ability to recover the VAT

paid in Bolivia. At December 31, 2006 and 2005 the VAT
recoverable was $54.2 million and $20.1 million, respectively.
The VAT recoverable amounts include $5.3 million and $0.8
million of recoverable Bolivian import duties for the years

ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The Company has also paid VAT in Bolivia as well as other
countries, primarily related to exploration projects, which has
been charged to expense as incurred because of the uncer-
rainty of the recoverability.




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements IF orm ]1@ K

(Expressed in United States dollars)

6. Property, Plant and Equipment (net)

The components of property, plant and equipment (net} were as follows:

December 31,
2006 2005

(in thousands)
Mineral properties $ 117,103  $ 117,103
Construction in progress 482,979 232,288
Buildings 13,590 8,423
Mining equipment and machinery 13,580 10,127
Other furniture and equipment 3,166 1,966
630,705 369,907
Less: Accumulated depreciation (6,962} (4,298)
623,743 365,609
Equipment under capital lease 22,183 14,928
Less: Accumulated depreciation (4,168} (1,399)
18,015 13,529

$ 641,758 % 379,138

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, capiralized interest amounts are related to the Convertible
2006, 2005 and 2004 toraled $403,000, $210,000, and Senior Subordinated Notes, the project finance facility and
$55,000 respectively. For the years ended December 31, equipment under capital lease (see Note 7). Under the terms
2006, 2005 and 2004 depreciation associated with the San of the project finance facility (the “Facility” (see Note 7)} all
Cristobal project was capitalized in the amounts of $5.2 mil- of the Company’s assets at its San Cristobal project are col-
lion, $2.7 million, and $0.4 million respectively. lateralized by the borrowings under the Facilicy.

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 respec- At December 31, 2006 the company recorded a lease obliga-
tively, the Company recorded capitalized interest of $26.1 tion of $17.3 million related to outstanding capital leases.

million and $6.9 million to the San Cristobal property. The

7. Debt

The Company’s debt consists of the following:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Current Long term Current Long term

(in thousands)
2.875% Convertible Senior Subordinated

Notes due 2024 $ - $ 180,000 $% - § 180,000
4.0% Convertible Senior Subordinated

Notes due 2024 - 109,987 - 129,987
Project finance facility - 180,000 - -
Note payable to Ingelec for power line 1,415 - - -

Note assigned to Sumitomo (see Note 12) 7.853 - -
Capiral lease obligations 2,993 14,355 2,270 10,034
$ 4,408 $ 492,195 $ 2,270 $ 320,021
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2.875% notes and 4.0% notes — In 2004, the Company sold
$200.0 million of its 2.875% Convertible Senior Subordi-
nated Notes (the “2.875% Notes”) due 2024 resulting in net
proceeds of $193.0 million, after deducting underwriters fees
and related offering costs of $7.0 million. In 2004, the Com-
pany also sold $140.0 million of its 4.0% Convertible Senior
Subordinated Notes (the “4.0% Notes™) due 2024 resulting
in net proceeds of $135.1 million, after deducting underwric-
ers fees and related offering costs of $4.9 million. Both the
2.875% Notes and the 4.0% Notes (the “Notes™) are convert-
ible into the Company’s Ordinary Shares at a conversion rate
of 34.94006 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the Notes
(equal to an initial conversion price of approximately $28.62
per share), subject 10 adjustment in certain circumstances.
Holders may converr their Notes only if: (i} the price of Apex
Sitver Ordinary Shares reaches a specified threshold; (if) the
trading price for the Notes falls below certain thresholds; (iii)
the Notes have been called for redemprtion; or (iv) specified
corporate transactions occur. Full conversion of the Notes
would result in the issuance of approximately 10.1 million of
the Company'’s Ordinary Shares. Accumulated interest on the
Notes is paid twice a year in March and September.

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Notes
were deferred and are being amortized to interest expense
over ten years which corresponds to the related call provi-
sions. During 2006, 2005 and 2004 the Company amortized
approximately $1.6 million, $2.1 million and $0.7 million
of the deferred costs, respectively. At December 31, 2006 the
unamortized balance of deferred financing costs related to the
Notes was approximately $7.6 million.

During 2006 the Company issued 1,086,653 of its Ordi-
nary Shares, valued at $17.1 million, and repurchased $20.0
million of its outstanding 4.0% Notes. During 2005 the
Company issued 1,490,029 of its Ordinary Shares, valued at
$23.2 million, and repurchased $20.0 million of the 2.875%
Notes and $10.0 million of the 4.0% Notes. The transactions
represented early extinguishments of debr and the Company
recorded related gains of $2.9 million and $6.8 million for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively,
The Company alse recognized accelerated amortization of de-
ferred issuance costs of $0.5 million and $0.9 million related
to these extinguishments during 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The Notes purchased in the transactions have been cancelled.

The indentures for the Notes have financial and other
covenants which, among other things, require the Company
to provide copies of its Annual Report on Form 10-K (the
“Form 10-K”) to the trustee within 30 days after such reports
are filed with the SEC. The Company did nor file its 2006
Form 10-K within the prescribed timeframe and on March
21, 2007, it received a notice of default from cerrain holders
of the Notes. The Company does not believe that its failure
to file its 2006 Form 10-K within the prescribed timeframe
was a breach of covenant under the related indentures. The
Company filed the Form 10-K within the 60 day cure period
and therefore, no event of defaulr occurred.

The indenture relating to the 4.0% Notes requires the Com-
pany to maintain restricted investments to cover the payment
of interest through 2007. The amount invested will at macuri-
ty equal the interest payments due. As of December 31, 2000
$5.5 million of restricted investments were designated for

this purpose. Failure to comply with the covenants contained
in the indentures relating to the Notes or failure to cure any
related violations within specified periods could result in an
event of default, pursuant to which the holders of the Notes
could demand immediate repayment of all amounts outstand-
ing, including accrued and unpaid interest.

San Cristobal project finance facility — In December 20035

the Company entered into a $225 million project finance
facility (the “Facility”) for development of the Company’s San
Cristobal project. At December 31, 2006 the Company had
borrowed $180 million under the Facility. The Company bos-
rowed an additional $20 million in February 2007, resulting
in total cutstanding borrowings of $200 million. The Compa-
ny is required to pay a 1.0% annual commitment fee on the
undrawn amount of the Facility. [nterest on the cutstanding
amounts drawn under the Facility is based on LIBOR plus a
credit spread, which at December 31, 2006 was 3.3%. The
first principal payment under the Facility is due in December
2008 with final maturity in December 2012, In connection
with the sale to Sumitomo of a 35% interest in certain of the
Company's subsidiaries (see Note 12), Sumitomo guaranteed
the repayment of 35% of the Facility until completion of the
project with the Company guaranteeing repayment of the re-
maining 65% of the Facility until completion of the project.
Project completion must occur by December 31, 2008.

The Facility contains covenants that require the Company
to, among other things, maintain certain securiry interests,
financial ratios after project completion, insurance coverage,
minimum sales contracts and metals price protection con-
tracts as well as other requirements. Failure to comply with
these covenants or to cure related violations within specified
periods could result in an event of default, pursuant to which
the project lenders could require repayment of all amounts
outstanding under the Facility and cash sertlemenc of any
derivative liabilities associated with the San Cristobal project.

(See Note 9).

As a result of the restatement referred to in Note 2, the Com-
pany breached certain representations and covenants regard-
ing the preparation of its financial statements in accordance
with U.S, GAAP. On March 15, 2007 the Company obtained
waivers from the project lenders for these breaches and any
related events of default. The Company has also obrained
waivers of compliance with certain technical covenant viola-
tions and confirmation thart the effects of the restatement on
the Company and other affiliated obligors did not constitute
a material adverse effect, as defined.

Pursuant to the debt covenants contained in the Facility, the
Company is also requited annually to submit a revised Con-
struction Budget, Operating Plan, and Financial Model (col-
lectively the “Updated Plan”) for the San Cristobal project by
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November 1. The Company is currently operating under the
Construction Budget, Operating Plan and Financial Madel
initially approved by the lenders when the Facility was entered
into (the “Initial Plan”) which remains in effecr until the Up-
dated Plan is approved. The Company submitted its Updated
Plan for 2007 in a timely manner. The Updated Plan required
prices of $5.25 per ounce for silver, $0.48 per pound for zinc,
and $0.26 per pound for lead respectively, compared to spot
prices as of March 27, 2007 of $13.27, $1.45 and $0.84,
respectively. The Updated Plan also reflected higher operar-
ing costs than previously assumed primarily as a resulr of the
impact of record high commodity prices. A large portion of
Apexs.operating costs are directly influenced by these high
commodities prices, including costs for diesel, reagents, and
tires. The low metals prices required by the Facility coupled
with higher current operating costs resulted in projected cash
flow that would be insufficient to meet certain other Faciliry
requirements, including minimum cash flows and debt service
coverage ratios required after completion. As a result, the
Company requested that the lenders approve certain waivers
and amendments to permit the use of higher metals prices. In

carly January 2007, the lenders rejected the Updated Plan.

As provided by the terms of the Facility, representatives of
the lenders and the Company have since been engaged in
discussions to agree upen a mutually acceprable Updated
Plan. The representatives of the lenders have proposed higher
metals prices than those contained in the agreement that will
allow the Company to present an Updated Plan that will
meet the Facility’s financial requirements. The representa-
tives of the lenders have also proposed an adjustment to the
Facility’s repayment schedule to require a larger percentage of
principal to be repaid in earlier years and an increase in the
mandatory cash fow sweep from 35% to 45% of excess cash
flow. The Company and Sumitome have agreed to purchase
zin¢ puts covering approximately 73 thousand tonnes of zinc
production in 2008 and 2009. The Company will also fund 2
$91 million margin account with the two banks holding the
derivative positions and Sumitomo will provide a post-com-
pletion guarantee of the derivative positions in the amount
of $49 million. This support wil! be decreased by 33% at the
end of each of the years from 2008 through 2010,

The Company and Sumitomo have accepted these proposals
and amendments to the Facility agreements and an Updared
Plan for submission to the lenders are being drafted. Once
the amendments to the Facility agreements and Updarted Plan
are complete, an affirmarive vote by the lenders is required
for final approval. At the date of this filing, formal approval
of the amendments to the agreements and the Updated Plan
by the requisite majority of lenders has not yet been obrained.
While there can be no assurances that lender approval will be
obrained, management believes the necessary amendments
and the Updated Plan will be approved by the requisite ma-
jority of lenders.
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If the amendments and the Updated Plan are not approved by
the lenders, until such time as approval is obtained, the Com-
pany would be required to operate in all material respects, as
defined by the Facility, in compliance with the Initial Plan. If
the Company’s operations fail to comply with the Initial Plan
in all material respects, the lenders could declare a defaulr and
require the Company to settle all amounts outstanding under
the Facility and derivarives liability. Because the Company'’s
current projections indicate thac cash flows and operating
ratios will exceed those in the Initial Plan, the Company be-
lieves that operations will comply in all material respects with
the Inicial Plan. However, the Company cannor predicr whar
actions the lenders might rake if they deem that the Company
is not in material compliance with the Inicial Plan.

If an event of default occurs, the lenders could require imme-
diate payment of amounts outstanding under the Facility and
settlement of the derivatives liability, If such a demand were
successfully made, the Company would require additional
debt or equity financing in order to satisfy its obligations.
There is no assurance that the Company would be able w0
obrain additional financing on acceptable terms, or acall. The
Company had liabilitics in excess of its assets at December 31,
2006 as the result of its derivative liabilicy.

Direct costs incurred in obgaining the Facility were deferred
and will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the
faciliry. During the year ended December 31, 2006 the Com-
pany amortized approximately $1.0 million of the deferred
costs. The Facility was put in place in December 2005 and no
related amortization was recognized in 2005. At December
31, 2006 the unamortized balance of deferred financing costs
related to the Facility was approximately $11.9 million.

Project finance facility payment schedule {(in thousands)

As of December 31, 2006
Less Than 2-3 4-5
Toral 1 Year Years Years Thereafter
180,000 - 64,620 95,220 20,160

As provided in the proposed amendments to the Facility, as
discussed above, the payment schedule for the Facility may be
modified to reflect toral payments of $115.9 millien in years
two and three and $64.1 million in years four and five.

Capital leases — During 2006 and 20035 the Company took
delivery of certain leased mining equipment to be used in
stripping and future mine production, and recorded relared
capital lease liabilities ac December 31, 2006 and 2005 of
$17.3 million and $12.3 million, respectively. During 2006
and 2005 the Company made payments of $2.7 million and
$2.3 million related to the capital lease obligations, respec-
tively. The Company will be required to make additional pay-
ments of $3.0 million during each of 2007 and 2008, $2.4
million during 2009, $1.9 million during 2010, $1.8 million
during 2011 and $5.2 million thereafter, '
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Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company developed an asset retirement plan for its San
Cristobal project which is currently under construction and is
expected to begin production during 2007. The plan includes
estimated reclamation, remediation and closure requirements
based on government requirements, World Bank financing
requirements and the Company’s policies. Beginning in the
third quarter of 2005 the Company has been conducring ac-
tivities at its San Cristobal project including earthworks, plant
construction and mining activities that fall within the scope
of the asset retirement plan and as such, will require future
reclamation and closure expenditures.

The Company prepares estimates of the timing and amount
of expected cash flows when an asset retirement obligation
(“ARO") is incurred. The fair value of the ARQ is measured
by discounting the expected cash flows using a discount factor
thac reflects the credit-adjusted risk-free rate of interest. The
Company records the fair value of an ARO when it is incurred
and changes in the fair value of the ARO are recorded as an
adjustment to the corresponding asset carrying amounts.

The ARQ is adjusted to reflect the passage of time (accretion
cost) calculated by applying the discount factor implicit in

the initial fair-value measurement to the beginning-of-period
carrying amount of the ARO. The company records accretion
costs to expense as incurred.

The following table summarizes activity in the Company’ asset retirement obligation:

December 31,
2006 2005

(in thousands)
Beginning balance $ 2,003 -
ARQ arising in the period 3,367 1,988
Changes in estimates, and other - -
Liabilities settled - -
Accretion expense 391 15
Ending balance $ 5,761 2,003

Sales Contracts and Derivative Positions

Certain covenants related to the project finance facility
required the Company to provide price protection for a por-
tion of its planned production of metals from San Cristobal.
During the third quarter of 2005 the Company entered into
certain derivative positions utilizing primarily forward sales
but also puts and calls to comply with the project finance facil-
ity covenants. In order to maintain leverage to silver market
prices, the Company entered into proportionally more zinc
and lead positions than silver positions. Non-cash mark-to-
markert gains and losses from the open derivative positions
may flucruace substandially from period to period based on
spot and forward prices and option volatilicies.

In addition, the Company made limited investments in short-
er duration put and call options and other metals derivative
positions not required by the project financing facility. During
2006 the Company made $48.3 million of net cash payments
and realized a $42.6 million loss to sewle these discretionary
derivative positions. At December 31, 2006 the Company did
not have any outstanding discretionary derivative positions,

The Company marks its open derivative positions to estimated
fair value at the end of each accounting period with the related
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change in estimated fair value recorded to earnings. For the
year ended December 31, 2006 the Company recorded a
non-cash mark-to-market loss of $672.5 million and a realized
toss of $42.6 million compared to a $151.5 million non-cash
mark-to-market loss for the year ended December 31, 2005
and a non-cash mark-to-market gain of $0.8 million recorded
for the year ended December 31, 2004. The 2006 and 2005
losses are the result of continuing high spot and forward prices
for silver, zinc and lead. The actual financial impact of the re-
quired project financing facility derivative positions will not be
known until the positions are closed on their future settlement
dates. The Company does not intend to settle the open deriva-
tives position contracts relating to the project financing facility
prior to their settlement dates which begin during the second
half of 2007. At the time of final settlement, the gain or loss
recorded will exclude previously recognized non-cash mark-
to-market gains or losses. The Company recently corrected an
etror in determining estimated fair value of its open derivative
positions leading to a restatement of prior period financial
statements, as described more fully in Note 2s.
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The following rable sets forth the Company’s open derivative positions at December 31, 2006. The contracts will be settled for cash
based on monthly average prices for each metal in the period indicated.

Current Maturity Date

Less Than 2t03 4105
1 Year Years Years Thereafter Total

(in chousands except prices)

Forward Contracts

Silver {ounces) 110 160 160 160 590
Average price $ 740 § 7.15 % 7.15 % 712 % 7.19
Zinc (pounds) 18,906 451,553 305,338 - 775,797
Average price $ 048 % 048 $ 048 §% - % 0.48
Lead (pounds) 35,273 244,488 43,210 - 322,971
Average price $ 030 § 030 § 0.28 § - 8 0.30

Put Option Contracts Owned (net)

Silver (ounces) 200 1,500 3,120 4,280 9,100
Average price $ 525 $ 554 § 572 ¢ 593 % 578
Call Option Contracts Written
Silver (ounces) - 7,700 1,920 180 9,800
Average price 3 - 3§ 817 % 886 § 895 % 8.32
Zinc (pounds) 551 13,228 - - 13,779
Average price $ 057 § 057 % - % - 3 0.57
Lead (pounds) 1,102 26,455 - - 27,557
Average price $ 0.39 3§ 039 § - % - 3 0.39

The following table sets forth the fair value of the Company’s open derivative positions based on indices such as the LME and CO-
MEX and valuations from counterparties holding the Company’s derivative positions at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the change
for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Amount To Be Realized In
Less Than 2to3 4t05
Period Ended 1 Year Years Years Thereafter Total

{in thousands)

12/31/2005 Restated $ 5,652 $ 62,268 $ 77,584 $ 5,867 $ 151,371
12/31/06 3 39,080 $ 570,982 $ 207,696 $ 439 $ 818,198
2006 Change $ 33,428 $ 508,714 $ 130,112 $  (5.428) $ 666,827
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10.

During 2005 the Company recognized a $0.9 million mark-
to-market loss on a foreign currency collar transaction utiliz-
ing puts and calls that were put in place during 2004 to hedge
currency fluctuations related to payments required on certain
long-lead equipment purchased for the San Cristobal project
that was denominated in Euros. The transaction resulted in

a realized gain of $0.5 million during the two years it was in
place. No such gains or loses were recognized during 2006
and at December 31, 2006 the Company did not have any
foreign currency derivative positions.

The Company’s 2.875% and 4.0% Convertible Senior Sub-
ordinated Notes Due 2024 have several embedded derivatives
that have been determined to have no value.

Credit risk and risks relating to the use of derivarives — Credit
risk is the risk thar a third party might fail to fulfill its per-

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” ("FAS No.
109”) on a tax jurisdictional basis. The Company and certain
of its subsidiaries operating in the Cayman Istands do not file
income tax returns as the Cayman Islands currently does not

Income (loss) before income taxes consists of the following:

formance obligations under the terms of a financial instru-
ment, For derivatives, when the fair value of a derivartive is
negative, as in the Company’s case at December 31, 2000,
we assume no credit risk. However, should the Company’s
detivative positions become positive, the Company would
become exposed to credir risk. All of the Company’s deriva-
tive positions at December 31, 2006 are required by the
project finance facility and per the terms of the facility are
concentrated with two counterparties. The two counterparties
are of high credit-quality and the Company monitors their
financial condition at regular intervals. Under the terms of
the derivative agreements, the counterparties cannot require
the Company to immediartely setle outstanding derivatives,

except upon the occurrence of customary events of default
such as covenant breaches, including financial covenants,

insolvency or bankruptcy.

impose any form of taxation. The Company files Bolivian,
United States and certain other foreign country income tax
rerurns. These tax returns and the amount of taxable income
or loss reported are subject to examination by the relevant
taxing autherities. The Company and subsidiaries have not
generated taxable income since inception, bur did incur with-
holding taxes on investment income and inter-company fees

in 2006 and 2005.

For the year ended December 31,

2005
2006 Restated 2004
{in thousands)

Cayman Islands $  (489,775) $ 1,134 $ (12,017)
Bolivia $ 4,545 $ (14,530 $ (2,860)
United States $ (4,048) $ 142 $ (1,685)
Switzerland $ 145,338 $  (145,791) $ -
Sweden $ 42,645
Luxembourg $ (215,259
Other International $ (5.055) $ (2,728) $ (2,283)

$  (521,609) $ (161,773) 3 (18,845)
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11.

The Company’s provision for income taxes of approximately
$0.7 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December

31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, are related ro withholding
taxes paid in the United States and Bolivia.

The components of the deferred tax assets and deferred rax liabilicies are as follows:

For the year ended
December 31,
2006 2005
(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 22927 $ 9830
Stock-based compensation 4,752 3,773
Property, plant and equipment 1,730 916
Other 273 6
Total deferred tax assets 29,682 14,525
Deferred vax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment 32 118
Other - -
Total deferred tax liabilities 32 118
Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance $ 29650 § 14,407
Less Valuation allowance $ (29,6500 $ (14,407)
Net deferred rax asset 5 - $ -

At December 31, 2006 the Company had net operating loss
carryforwards in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions. Of these,
$26.3 million of net operating losses in Bolivia have no
expiration, and $57.5 million in other foreign jurisdictions
will expire in future years through 2016. In the U.S., there are
$7.9 million of net operating loss carryforwards which will
expire in future years through 2026, of which $1.1 million is
excluded from the deferred rax calculation unil the Company
can reduce taxes payable. If realized, the deferred tax benefit
and corresponding adjustment to paid in capital would be

$0.4 million.

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets of $29.7 mil-
lion and $14.4 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005,

respectively, relates principally to the uncertainty of the utiliza-

Stockholder’s Equity

Stock option plans — The Company has established a plan to
issue share options and other awards of the Company’s shares
to officers, employees, consultants and agents of the Company
and its subsidiaries {the “Plan”). Under the Plan, the total
number of options and other awards granted cannot exceed
two million Ordinary Shares. Options and other awards under
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tion of cerrain deferred tax assets, primarily net operating

loss carry forwards in various tax jurisdictions. The Company
continually assesses both positive and negative evidence to
determine whether it is more likely than not that the deferred
tax assets can be realized prior to their expiration. Based on the
Company’s assessment it has determined the deferred tax assets
are not currently realizable. However, the Company’s assess-
ment may change as it moves from the development phase

to the production phase of certain mining properties. The
Company will continue to monitor Company-specific, mining
industry and worldwide economic factors and will reassess

the likelihood that the Company’s net operating loss carry
forwards and other deferred tax artributes will be utilized prior
to their expiration.

the Plan are not transferable unless otherwise provided for in
a specific award agreement. Options exist for a term, not to
exceed ten years, as fixed by the Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors of the Company. Options typically vest
tatably over periods of up to four years with the first tranche
vesting on the date of grant or the first anniversary of the date
of grant.
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The Company has also established a share option plan for
its non-employee directors (the “Director Plan”). Under the
Director Plan, the total number of options granted cannot
exceed five percent of the Company’s outstanding Ordinary
Shares. Pursuant to the Director Plan, non-employee direc-
tors receive {i) at the effective date of their initial election to
the Company’s Board of Direcrors, an option to purchase
the number of Ordinary Shares equal to $50,000 divided
by the closing price of the Ordinary Shares on the Ameri-
can Stock Exchange (the “AMEX”) on such date, (ii) at the
close of business of each annual meeting of the Company’s
shareholders, an option to purchase the number of Ordinary

Shares equal to $50,000 divided by the closing price of the
Ordinary Shares on the AMEX on such date, and (jii) at the
close of business of each meeting of the Company’s Board

of Directors, options valued at $3,000 calculated using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model to purchase Qrdinary
Shares with an exercise price equal to the closing price of

the Ordinary Shares on the AMEX on such date. Options
granted under the Director Plan vest on the date of the grant
and expire ten years after che date of the grant or three years
after the date that such non-employee director ceases to be a
director of the Company. Options granted under the Director
Plan are rransferable only in limited circumstances.

A summary of the combined options of the Plan and the Director Plan at December 31, 2006 and changes during the year then

ended is presented in the following table:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Number of Price Per Contractual Intrinsic
Options Shares Share Life Value

Qustanding at December 31, 2005 2,859,781 $ 14.42 6.4 Years $ 6,664,178
Granted during period 465,367 % 16.29 9.8 Years $ -
Forfeited or expired during period (49,151}  $ 16.71 $ 289,983
Exercised during period (283,425) % 12.03 $ 1,935,633
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 2,992,572 % 14.90 6.3 Years $ 5,657,246
Exercisable at end of period 2,192,191 § 14.14 5.2 Years $ 5,482,514
Expected to vest at the end of the period 800,381 $ 16.98 9.1 Years $ 174,732

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the
assumptions noted in the following table. Expected volatilities
are based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock. The
Company uses historical dara to estimate option exercises and
employee terminations within the Black-Scholes model. The
expected term of options granted represents the period of time

that options granted are expected to be outstanding, based on
past experience and future estimates and includes dawa from
both the Employees Plan and the Directors Plan. The risk-
free rate for periods within the expected term of the option is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of
grant. The Company currently does not foresee the payment
of dividends in the near term,

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Expected volatility 43.8% - 46.1% 42.6% - 43.8% 44.8% - 45.0%
Weighted average volatility 45.5% 43.6% 44.9%
Expected dividend yield — — —
Expected term (in years) 5.77 3.85 3.89
Risk-free rate 4.62% 4.15% 2.95%
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During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
the Company granted options with weighted average grant
date fair values of $3.6 million, $2.4 million and $2.2 mil-
lion, respectively; options were exercised with total intrinsic
values of $1.9 million, $0.3 million and $1.6 million, re-
spectively; and the total fair value of options vested was $2.7
million, $1.8 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

recognized over a weighted average period of 1.1 years.

From rime to time the Company grants restricted shares un-
der the Plan to certain key employees as a retention incentive.
These grants typically vest over four years either at 25% per
year or at an escalating rate of 10% during the first year and
15%, 25% and 50% for the succeeding three years. During
2006, 2005 and 2004 the Company recorded $1.6 million,
$0.4 million and $nil, respectively, as compensation costs
related to the restricted share grants.

As of December 31, 2006 unrecognized compensation cost
related to the non-vested stock options granted pursuant o
the Plan was $3.7 million which the Company expects will be

A summary of the status of the Company’s non-vested restricted stock grants at December 31, 2006 and changes during the year then
ended is presented in the following table:

Weighted Average !

Number of Grant Date Fair

Non-vested Shares Shares Value Per Share
Non-vested at December 31, 2005 170,700 $ 18.41
Granted during period 92,800 $ 15.60
Vested during period (36,925} $ 18.24
Forfeited during period (3,000} $ 16.03
Non-vested at December 31, 2006 223,575 $ 17.30

As of December 31, 2006 unrecognized compensation cost related to the non-vested restricted shares granted pursuant to the Plan
was $2.2 million. The Company expects that the unrecognized cost will be recognized over 2 weighted average period of 1.0 year.

During 2005 the Company granted stock-based performance bonuses under the Plan to certain employees refated to cost and comple-
tion dare rargers at the San Cristobal project. The following table is a summary of the status of the Company’s stock-based perfor-
mance bonuses ar December 31, 2006 and changes during the yea: then ended:

Weighted Average

Number of Grant Date Fair

Non-vested Shares Shares Value Per Share
Non-vested at December 31, 2005 32,000 $ 15.41
Granted during period - 3 -
Vested during period - $ -
Forfeited during period (6,000} $ 16.25
Non-vested at December 31, 2006 26,000 $ 15.21

As of December 31, 2006 unrecognized compensation cost re-
lated to the non-vested performance bonuses granted pursuant
to the Plan was $0.1 million. The Company expects that the
untecognized cost will be recognized over a weighted average
periad of 0.6 years.

Total compensation costs recognized for stock-based employee
compensation awards was $5.4 million, $2.9 million and
$10.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively, and included amounts capitalized of
$0.9 million, $0.7 million and $1.4 million for the respective
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years, The 2004 amount includes $4.1 million associated with
the extension of che expiration dates of stock options previ-
ously granted to the retiring Chairman and a retiring em-
ployee and $2.5 million related 1o a new grant to the retiring
Chairman.

Warrants — At December 31, 2006 450,000 warrants to
purchase Ordinary Shares were outstanding. The warrants are
exercisable at prices ranging from $12.92 to $20.79 with a
weighted average exercise price of $19.29 and have expiration
dates ranging from April 1, 2008 o September 27, 2009.
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12.

Convertible debt — 1n connection with the Convertible Senior
Subordinated Notes, the Company may be required to issue
up to 10,132,320 of its Ordinary Shares should the Note
holders convert, per the terms of the notes, at a conversion
rate of 34.9406 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes
(equal 1o an inirial conversion price of $28.62 per Ordinary
Share). The Notes are due in 2024.

During 2006 and 2005 the Company issued Ordinary Shares
to repurchase a portion of its outstanding Convertible Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2024. (See Note 7 for details of the
transaction).

Common stock issuances — During 2006 the Company com-
pleted a public offering of 6,375,000 of its Ordinary Shares
at $24.45 per share ($23.70 per share, net of commissions)
resulting in net proceeds of $151.1 million.

Per a loan agreement between the Company and SC TESA,
the Company issued 369,033 and 1,134,799 of its Ordinary
Shares, vatued at $5.7 million and $16.6 million during 2006
and 2005 respecrively, to SC TESA for the construction of
the power line to the San Cristobal project. The $22.3 million

Minority Interests

On September 25, 2006 pursuant to a purchase and sale
agreement among the Company, certain of its wholly owned
subsidiaries and Sumitomo Coerporation (“Sumitomo”), the
Company sold to Sumitome 35% interests in three subsidiar-
ies that own the San Ciristobal project, market San Cristobal
project concentrates and hold the metals derivative positions
required by the San Cristobal project lenders, in exchange for
$224 million in cash and cerrain deferred payments based on
silver and zinc production from the Project. The Company
continues to own the remaining 65% of these three subsidiar-
ies (“majority interest”) and continues to fully consolidate
their financial statements and recognizes a minority inter-

est for Sumitomo’s 35% interest (“minority interest”}. The
Company also agreed to assign Sumitomo a 35% interest in
the $22.3 million note receivable ($7.8 million; see Note 7)
the Company holds from the San Cristobal project power line
construction and transmission contractor,

Pursuant to the purchase and sale agreement, the Company
agreed to indemnify Sumitomo generally for breaches of repre-
sentations and warranties discovered within one year of closing
resulting in damages to Sumitomo exceeding $3 million, up

to a cap of $40 million, provided that for breaches related to
title to shares of the acquired companies, subordinated debr,
certain transferred agreements and real and personal property
required for the San Cristobal project discovered within six
years of closing, the cap is $224 million. Sumitomo agreed to
indemnify the Company generally for breaches of representa-
tions and warranties thar are discovered within one year of
closing, resulting in damages to the Company exceeding $3
million, up to a cap of $40 million.
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advanced to SC TESA will be repaid to the Company with
interest through credits against electric transmission operat-
ing costs. The Company has determined that SCTESA is a
variable interest entity of which the Company is the primary
beneficiary and consequently, the financial statements of SC
TESA are fully consolidated with the Company’s financial
statements for the 2006 and 2005 periods presented (see Note
20).

During 2005 the Company invested in Mariana Resources
Limited, an Australian based exploration company with prop-
erties in South America, exchanging 16,000 of the Company’s
Ordinary Shares valued at $249,000 for 1,689,000 common
shares of Mariana also valued at $249,000. The Company
acquired approximately 9% of the outstanding shares of
Mariana.

In 2006, 2005 and 2004 the Company granted 1,699,
10,647, and 23,681 Ordinary Shares to consultants for
services rendered and recorded costs of $nil, $0.2 million and
$0.5 million respectively.

Pursuant to a deferred payments agreement dated September
25, 2006 Sumitomo will make the following deferred pay-
ments to the Company in respect of production from the San
Cristobal project and future expansions: (i) quarterly pay-
ments equal to 22.86% of Sumitomo’s share of payable silver
production from the San Cristobal project, or approximately
8% of total payable silver production, payable in cash or silver
at Sumitomo’s option, and (ii) quarterly cash payments equal
to 20% of Sumitomo’s share of payable zinc production from
the San Cristobal project, or approximarely 7% of total pay-
able zinc production, multiplied by the zinc price in excess of
$1,800 per tonne.

The Minera San Cristobal (“MSC”) Shareholders Agreement
dated Seprember 25, 2006 provides that the majority share-
holder will control the MSC board and appoint the board
chairman. MSC is the subsidiary that owns and operates the
San Cristobal project. As long as the minority sharcholder
holds more than 25% of MSC, certain significant marters
require the approval of the minority shareholder director
including approval of annual programs and budgets, increases
of 13% or more over budgeted capital expenditures or operat-
ing expenses (with customary exceptions for emergencies and
compliance), merger or liquidation, permanent cessation or
suspension for more than 180 days of mining at or abandon-
ment of the San Cristobal project. If a deadlock with respect
to adoption or amendmenr in excess of 15% of a program
and budget continues for 180 days, the majority shareholder’s
directors are then entitled to approve the program and budger.

Under the MSC shareholder agreement, the Company and
Sumitomo are required to provide their respective propor-
tionate shares of shareholder debt or equity funding required
for MSC to achieve commercial operations, or be diluted on
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a two for one basis. Following commercial operations, the
Company and Sumitomo may choose to provide their pro-
portionate share of required external funding or dilure on a
one for one basis. Dilution by the Company or Sumitomo of
its ownership interest in MSC wilk result in transfers of shares
in the other two subsidiaries, so that the parties’ ownership
interests in the three companies remain identical. If Sumi-
tomo were to dilute below 25% solely as a result of its failure
to provide future funding, and were to refuse to approve a
program and budget proposed by the Company for more
than 180 days, Sumitomo would have the right to sell to the
Company all (but not less than all} of its remaining interest in
MSC for $224 million, reduced pro rata by the percentage of
year-end 2005 reserves produced from the San Cristobal proj-
ect (the “Put Right”). Management has determined that the
probability of Sumitomo exercising the Put Right is remote
and accordingly has not assigned a value to the Put Right at
December 31, 2006.

Each of the Company and Sumitomo has a right of first refus-
al to acquire any interests in MSC thar the other wishes to sell
or, if the party wishing to sell has less than a 25% interest in
MSC, a right of first offer. In the event of a change of control
of the Company, Sumitomo would be relieved of its right

of first refusal and first offer obligations for two years. Any
party that acquires an interest in MSC must acquire a pro rata
interest in the other two subsidiaries.

The MSC Sharcholders Agreement provides that available
cash will be distributed quarterly, first to pay the $5.4 million
annual management fee due from MSC to the Company,
then to shareholders that have advanced loans on behalf of

a non-funding shareholder, then to sharcholders who have
advanced shareholder loans pro rara to their ownership
interests, and then as cash dividends. An additional aggregate
$0.3 million annual management fee is jointly payable to the
Company by the other two jointly owned subsidiaries.

The Company and Sumitomo have also enteted into a two
year Option Agreement dared Seprember 25, 2006 pursuant
to which Sumitomo may acquire a 20 percent to 35 percent
interest in each of certain active exploration properties at his-
torical cost, and in each of certain of the Company’s inactive
exploration properties at historical cost once the Company
has spent $200,000 in exploration costs on the property.
Sumitomo must exercise its option on each active property
within 60 days of receiving complete informarion regarding
the property and on each inactive property within 60 days
of the Company spending $200,000 on the property. At
December 31, 2006 Sumitomo had nor exercised its options
to acquire any exploration properties.

'The Company also amended the San Cristobal project finance
facility in connection with the sale to Sumitomo, as follows:
(i) the Company and Sumitomo provide severally pro rata to
their respective 65% and 35% ownership interests in MSC,
and not jointly, San Cristobal project completion and cost
overrun suppott; (i) the Company and Sumitomo guarantee
severally pro rata to their MSC ownership interests, and not
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jointly, the performance of the metals derivative positions;
(iii) the Company was permitted to withdraw from accounts
controlled by the tenders $70 million of contingent over-

run financing previously required by the project lenders; (iv)
Sumitomo guarantees up to $45.5 million of overrun funding
by the Company; (v) the Company was permitted to remove
from escrow approximately $5.7 million previously deposited
to meet interest payments on its subordinated notes, and was
no longer required to escrow an additional $10.4 million;

and (vi) additional cure periods for cerrain representation and
covenant defaults and cerrain defaults related to completion
of the project are permitted, as is the substitution of a replace-
ment sponsor in the event of certain defaults, bankruptcy or
expropriation events.

The Company recorded a minority interest in the assets and
liabiliries sold of $8.8 million and recognized a gain of $199.6
million related to the transaction. The gain is net of approxi-
mately $6.4 million of selling costs incurred by the Company
related to the transaction. (See Note 2s above for a discus-
sion of the revised valuations of cur open derivative positions
which impacted the gain and minority interest the Company
recognized on the sale to Sumitomo.) The revised valuation
of the derivative positions resulted in the gain on the sale
being increased from $119.8 million to $199.6 million. The
$199.6 million gain is calculared as the difference between the
cash proceeds (net of selling costs) and the book value of the
interests sold. The book value includes the mark-to-market
liability on the open metals derivative positions required by
the project finance facility, excludes pre-feasibility exploration
and other costs previously expensed, and was reduced by the
book value allocated to the retained interests in future silver
and zinc production. The payments related to the retained in-
terests in future production will be recorded as a reduction of
minority interest as they become receivable by the Company.

The Company may be requited to pay up to an estimated
$4.0 million bonus to the project construction manage-
ment contractor contingent upon certain project completion
parameters. Sumitomo is deemed to have already paid its
35% share of the bonus as part of the initial cash payment.
Therefore, Apex Silver has agreed to reimburse Sumitomo its
$1.4 million share of the bonus if it is paid. Apex Silver will
defer $1.4 million of the gain until such time as the payment
is made or determined not to be payable and has recorded the
amount to the current portion of long term debt at December
31, 2006.

Subsequent to the close of the transaction with Sumitomo,
the Company incurred certain losses primarily related to
marking to marker its open derivative positions entered into
in connection with the project finance facility. Such losses
would normally be shared by Sumitomo in proportion to its
35% interest in the subsidiary recording the losses. However,
generally accepred accounting principles do not permir the
allocation of losses to the minority interest in excess of the
minority owner’s interest in the subsidiary, unless the minor-
ity interest has a primary obligation to fund such losses. The
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Company and Sumitome have each guaranteed their respec-
tive share of the project finance obligations and the related
metals derivative positions through the completion of the San
Cristobal project at which time the guarantees will terminate
and the lenders’ recourse will be solely to the project. Since
the derivative positions are expected to be funded through
future earnings from the San Cristobal project, the Company
does not anticipate that Sumitomo will be required to fund
their proportionate interest in the matk-to-market losses prior

to the completion of the San Cristobal project. Although
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Sumitomno’s share of the subsidiary’s losses for the year ended
December 31, 2006 was $107.7 million, the Company only
recognized an $8.8 million minority interest benefic and
absorbed the remaining $98.8 million loss. The $8.8 mil-
lion minority interest benefit reduced the minority interest
balance on the Company's consolidated balance sheets to $0
at December 31, 2006. The Company anticipates recovering
the $98.8 million it absorbed, and any additional minority
interest losses it may absorb, from future earnings prior to
distribution to the minority interest.
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13. Cash Flow Information
The following table reconciles net loss for the period to cash from operations:

For the
period from
December
22,1994
(inception)
For the years ended December 31, through
December
2005 31,

2006 Restated 2004 2006

{in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (513,545  $ (162,136)  $ (18,845} § (773.339)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net

cash used in operating activities:

Amortization and depreciation 403 210 35 1,799
Amortization of deferred financing costs 552 1,944 638 3,134
Accretion of asset retirement obligation 391 15 - 406
Amortization of premiums and discounts {2,122 69 - 2,053
Mark-to-market loss on derivative positions 715,120 151,515 491 867,126
Loss (gain} on Euro hedge - 872 (1,4006) (534)
Gain on extingushmenr of debr {2,875) (6,765) - (9,640)
Gross gain on sale of interest in subsidiary (199,600) - - (199,600)
Minority interest in loss of consolidated subsidiary (8,813) 34 - {13,338)
Stock compensation 4,508 2,281 8,651 19,177
Shares issued in consideration for services - - 60 8,585
Shares issued to purchase mineral rights - - - 1,799

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

{Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable (650) 344 (1,074) {(1,408)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets

net of amounts capitalized (3,142} 1,592 (961) (4,3342)
(Increase) in inventories (27.672) - - (27.672)
Increase in value added tax recoverable (net) (34,1006) (13,656) {1,157) (54,158}
Increase in accrued interest payable net of amounts

capitalized 55 21 1,604 1,680
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued

liabilities net of amounts capitalized 1,068 (657} 2,735 4,637 .
Other increase (decrease) (299) 21 (9) 129

Net cash used in operating activities $ (70,727) $ (24,338) $§ (9,218) ¥ (177,604)
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The following table details supplemental non-cash transactions:

For the years ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
{in thousand except per share)
Capitalized stock based compensacion costs $ 943 $ 693 § 1,417

Payment of debt with Ordinary Shares at an

average of $15.77 in 2006 and $15.59 in 2005 per

share respectively $ 17,125 $ 23,235 § -
Capitalized consulting services paid with

Ordinary Shares at an average value of $15.90,

$16.06 and $19.64 per share respectively $ 27 % 171 % 465
Purchase of common stock of unrelated entity with

Ordinary Shares at an average value per share of

$15.58 in 2005 $ - § 249 % -
Depreciation expense capitalized 3 5168 § 2,733 % 412
Debr and equity offering costs incurred $ 4781 % - % 21,703
Initial measurement of asset retirement obligation $ 3367 % 1,988 § -
Equipment acquired through capiral lease $ 7255 § 13,539 § -
14. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases — The Company has non-cancelable operating lease commirments as follows:
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
San Cristobal mining lease payments $ 400,000 $ 400,000 $ 400,000 $ 400,000 $ 400,000
Corporate headquarters office lease $ 375000 $ 378,000 $ 126,000 § -3 -
The Company is required to make mining patent lease pay- management contract. At December 31, 2006 the Company
ments to the Bolivian government to maintain its rights to the deposited $8.0 million to collateralize the letters of credit and
San Cristobal mining concessions. The Company has made has recorded that amount to restricted investments.

such payments totaling approximately $400,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2006 and $360.000 per year for the placed $4.0 million in an escrow account to provide for

years ending December 31, 2005 and 2004, certain requirements related to the development of the port
The lease for the corporate headquarters office space expires facility for the San Cristobal project and recorded the amount
in 2009. Payments associated with this lease were recorded to as restricted cash.

rent expense by the Company in the amounts of $380,000,
$338,000 and $271,000 for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively.

Escrow amounts — At December 31, 2006 the Company

Project financing — Per the terms and conditions of the San
Cristobal project finance facility the Company was required to
deposit cash and investments in an account the use of which

Letters of credit — At December 31, 2006 the Company had is restricred to the development of the San Cristobal project.
outstanding irrevocable standby letters of credit related to the At December 31, 2006 the remaining balance in the account
San Cristobal project in the aggregate amounc of $6.5 mil- was $79.7 million of which $27.9 million was recorded to
lion. The letters of credit include $4.5 million associated with restricted cash and $51.8 million recorded to restricted invest-
the rail contracr to transport meta! concentrates to the port ments.

facilities and $2.0 million associated with the construction
F-32
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15.

Capital commitments — The Company entered into agree-
ments with certain service providers and placed orders for
certain long-lead equipment and construction materials for
its San Cristobal project resulting in open commitments
totaling approximately $49.7 million ar December 31, 2006.
If the Company cancelled all of these agreements or orders ac
December 31, 2006 it would incur cancellarion fees total-
ing approximarely $32.2 million. In addicion the Company
would be required to pay the rail contractor at the San Cris-
tobal project a diminishing termination fee during the life of
the contract. The rail termination fee begins at $35.6 million
during the first full year of operations and diminishes o $nil
at the end of the contract. In addition 1o the $49.7 million
of open commirments at December 31, 2006, the Company
intends to commit to an approximately additional $60 mil-
lion of purchase obligatiens in the future to complete the San
Cristobal Project.

Taxes — The Company is receiving certain tax and duty ben-
efits on a portion of the equipment it is importing for its San
Cristobal project. The benefits are contingent upon fulfilling
certain expenditure commitments within a specified period
of time and returning certain equipment off shore within a
specified petiod of time. Failing to comply with these com-
mitments would obligate the Company to refund the benefits
received.

Performance bonus — The Company may be required to pay
up to an estimated $4.0 million bonus to the San Cristobal
Project construction management contractor contingent upon
cerain project completion parameters and a $2.3 million
benus to the company constructing the port facilides for early
completion of the facilities. Based on the current projecr sta-
tus rthe company does not consider either payment probable
and at December 31, 2006 no amounts have been accrued.

Political contingencies — The Company continues to monitor
the political uncertainties in Bolivia resulting from the Boliv-
ian government’s renegotiation of agreements with oil and gas
producers and statements regarding possible changes in cur-

rent policies affecting the mining industry (see [rem 1A, Risk

Royalty Income

During 2004 the Company sold to Excellon Resources Inc.
{“Excellon”) the mineral rights on a section of the Company’s
Platosa property in Mexico and retained a 5% net smelter re-
turn (“NSR”) royalty interest that decreases to a 2% NSR after
the Company has received $4.0 million of royalty payments,
‘The Company separately entered into a joint venture agree-
ment for the future development of the remaining property at
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Factors). If the San Cristobal project were nationalized, or if
taxes were substantially increased or significant royalty pay-
ments imposed, the Company might be unable to recover its
investment in the project and could have substantial liabilities
including liabilities 1o the lenders under the project finance
facility and liabilities to counterparties holding the derivative
positions required by the project lenders. In addition, changes
in Bolivian law may have an adverse effect on the Company’s
ability to recover VAT receivable (see Note 5).

In May 2006 the Constitutional Court of Bolivia issued a
ruling declaring certain articles of the 1997 Mining Code
unconstitutional. The Court’s ruling is not effective until May
2008 and the Court urged the Bolivian Congress to enact
legislation during that time which may supersede the ruling.
Alchough the Court’s ruling is not expected to impact our
ability to operate the San Cristabal project, the ruling may
limit the transferability of our mining concessions and restrict
our ability to moregage our San Cristobal mining concessions
as collateral to the lenders providing financing for the project.

Other contingencies — As previously disclosed, the company
has concluded, based on the results of an internal investiga-
tion conducted under the direction of our Audit Commirzee,
thart certain senior employees of one of our South American
subsidiaries were involved in making impermissible payments
of approximately $125,000 to government officials in 2003
and 2004 in connection with an inactive, early stage explora-
tion property that is not related to any of our active explora-
tion or development properties. Based on findings to date,
no changes to our previously filed financial statements are
warranted as a result of these matters. We have conracted the
Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and SEC and reported the
results of our internal investigation, We have been informed
thar the SEC and DOJ have commenced an investigation
with respect to these matters, including possible violations of
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. We are cooperating fully
with the SEC and DO]J investigations. We cannor predict
with any certainty the final outcome of the investigations,
including any fines or penalties thar may be imposed.

Plarosa whereby it retained a 49% interest 1o Excellon’s 51%
interest. The Company can buy back a controlling incerest in
the development property of up to 51%, with a payment to
Excellon of $1.0 million. During 2006 Excellon began test
mining on the royalty section of the property and produced
silver, zinc and lead with a net smelter value of approximately
$32.4 million on which the Company recorded royaley in-
come of $1.6 million.
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16.

17.

Foreign Currency

Gains and losses on foreign currency derivatives and translation consist of the following:

2006 2005 2004
(in thousands)
Gain (loss) on Euro derivatives $ - $ (872} $ 1,406
Gain (loss) on re-measurement of
monetary assets denominated in other
than U.S. dollars 885 194 -
Total $ 885 3 {678) $ 1,406

The re-measurement of monetary assets is related to certain
raxes receivable and other accounts denominated in Bolivia's
local currency.

The Euro derivatives loss during 2005 and gain during 2004 is
related to the marking to market of open Euro derivative posi-

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and
cash equivalents, investments, receivables, VAT recoverable,

tions held by the Company related to certain capiral equip-
ment purchased for San Cristobal for which the price was
denominated in Euros. The Company held no such derivative
positions during 2006.

accounts payable, other current liabilities, derivative positions
and long-term debr. Except for the VAT and long-term debe,
the carrying amounts of these financial instruments approxi-

mate fair value due to their short maturities.

The estimated fair values of the Company’s long-term financial instruments as measured on December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as fol-

lows:

2006 2005
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
(in thousands)
Value added tax recoverable $ 54,158 $51,492 $ 20,052 $ 17,000
2.875% Convertible Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2024 180,000 145,800 180,000 135,000
4.00% Convertible Senior
Subordinated Netes due 2024 109,987 97,000 129,987 107,000
Project finance facility 180,000 180,000 - -
Capital lease obligations 17,348 17,348 12,304 12,304
Derivative positions (2005 Restated) 818,198 818,198 151,369 151,369

The fair value of the VAT recoverable is estimated based on
the expected timing of future cash flows and the Company’s
incremental borrowing rate of 4.67%. The fair value of the
Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes is based on quoted

market values, The fair value of the project finance facility and
capital lease obligations have marker rates of interest and the
fair value is equal to the carrying value.
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(Expressed in United States dollars)

18. Segment Information other principal assets consist primarily of cash and short-term,
long-term and restricted investments held in U.S. government

and U.S. corporate securities. As such, the Company's chief
operating decision maker views the Company’s consolidated
financial information as one segment.

The Company’s sole activity is exploration for and develop-
ment of mineral properties containing silver and substan-
tially all of the Company’s long-lived assets are related ro the
Company’s San Cristobal project in Bolivia. The Company’s

19. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudired)

The following table summarizes the Company’s restated quarterly sesults of operatians for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005

and 2004:
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in thousands except per share)
2006 Restated Restated Restated
Net income (loss) for the period $(174,412) § (RB0,502) § 67,756  $(326,387)

Net income (loss) per Ordinary Share

- basic § (339 § (1400 $ 16§ (5.58)
— dilured $ (339 $ (140) 3 135§ (5.58)
2005 Restated Restated
Net loss for the period $ (4,853) $ (2,823) % (82,145) § (72,315)
Net loss per Ordinary Share
— basic and diluted $ (0.10) $ (0.06) $ (i.68) $§ (1.44)
2004
Net loss for the period $ (4661) $§ (3,166) § (6612) § (4,406)
Net loss per Ordinary Share
— basic and diluted $ (1) % (007) $ (0.14) § (0.09
As discussed in Note 2s, the Company restated che fair marker derivative position loss of $119.9 million and a restated gain
value of its open derivative positions which in turn affected the of $199.6 million related to the sale of a 35% interest in our
gain and minority interest recognized on the indirect sale of a San Cristobal project. The fourth quarter 2006 loss includes a
35% interest in the Company’s San Cristobal project during $344.2 million derivative loss. {See Note 9 for a discussion of
September 2006. The restatements affected the quarterly peri- the metals derivative positions}.
ods ended September 30, 2005 through September 30, 2006. The third and fourth quarters of 2005 include restared de-
The first and second quarters of 2006 include restared rivative position losses of $79.7 million and $73.9 million,
derivative pesition losses of $172.8 million and $78.1 mil- respectively.

lion respectively. The third quarter 2006 includes a restated
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The following table summarizes the impact of the restatement en the historical balances reported on the Company’s consolidared bal-
ance sheets for the quarters ended:

September 30, March 31, June 30, September 30,
2005 2006 2006 2006

Derivatives

As previously reported $ 7,179 $ 91,476 $ 130,265 $ 177,224

Adjustment 70,049 208,937 226,004 300,506

As restated 77,228 300,413 356,269 477,730
Total liabilities

As previously reported $ 415,701 $ 524,364 $ 593,356 $ 692,992

Adjustment 70,049 208,937 226,004 300,506

As restated 485,750 733,301 819,360 993,498
Minority interest in subsidiaries

As previously reported $ 38 $ 41 3 41 $ 88,403

Adjustment - - - (69.527)

As restated 38 41 41 18,876
Accumulated deficir

As previously reported $  (117,430) $  (225.269) $  (288,704) $ (215,973

Adjustment (70,049) (208,937) (226,004) (230,979)

As restated (187,479 (434,200) (514,708) (446,952)
Total sharcholders’ equity

As previously reported $ 351,204 $ 288,003 $ 377,278 $ 451,062

Adjustment (70,049} (208,937} (226,004) (230,979)

As restated 281,155 79,066 151,274 220,083
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The following table summarizes the impact of the restacement on the historical amounts reported on the Company's consolidated
statement of operations:

For the quarter For the quarter For the quarter For the quarter
ended Sept. 30, ended March 31, ended June 30, ended Sept. 30,
2005 2006 2006 2006

{amounts in thousands exceprt per share dara)

Gain (loss) - commodity

derivatives
As previously reported L3 (9,640) & (58,979 § (61,076) % (45,432)
Adjustment (70,049) (113,839) (17,067) (74,502)
As restated (79,689) (172,818) (78,143) (119,934)
Total operating expenses
As previously reported $ (15,158) % (65,772) § (68,391) % (51,741)
Adjustment (70,049 (113,839) (17.067) (74,502)
As restated (85,207) (179.611) (85,458) (126,243)
Gain on sale of interest
in subsidiary
As previously reported $ - % - $ - % 119,800
Adjustment - - - 79,800
As restated - - - 199,600
Total other income and
expense
As previously reported $ 3,061 % 5,260 § 5,009 3% 124,269
Adjustment - - - 79,800
As restared 3,061 5,260 5,009 204,069

Gain (loss) before minoriry

interest and income taxes

As previously reported A {12,097) 3 {60,512y % (63,382) % 72,528
Adjustment (70,049} (113,339) (17,067) 5,298
As restated (82,146} (174,351) (80,449) 77,826

Minority interest in loss of

consolidared subsidiaries

As previously reported $ 1 3 7 3 - % 257

Adjustment - - - (10,273)

As restated 1 (7) - (10,016}
Ner income (loss)

As previously reported $ (12,096) § (60,573) § {63,435y § 72,731

Adjustment (70,049) (113,839) (17.,067) (4,975)

As restated (82,145) (174,412) (80,502} 67.756
Continued
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For the quarter For the quarter For the quarter For the quarter
ended Sept. 30, ended March 31, ended June 30, ended Sept. 30,
2005 2006 2006 2006
{(amounts in thousands except per share dara)
Comprehensive income (loss)
As previously reported $ (12,066) & {59,688) % {63,358) $ 72,171
Adjustment (70,049) (113,839) (17,067} (4,975)
As restated (82,115) {173,527) (80,425) 67,196
Net income (loss) per Ordinary
Share - basic
As previously reported $ (0.25) % (1.18) % {(1.10)  § 1.25
Adjustment (1.43) (2.21) (0.30) (0.09)
As restated (1.68) (3.39) (1.40) 1.16
Net income (loss) per Ordinary
Share - diluted
As previously reported $ (0.25) % (1.18) % (1.10) 3% 1.23
Adjustment (1.43) (2.21) {0.30} (0.08)
As restated {1.68) (3.39) {1.40) 1.15

20. Subsequent Events

During February 2007 the Company borrowed an additional
$20 million against the $225 million San Cristobal project
finance facility, bringing to $200 million the total borrowings
against the facility. The funds are restricted to the development
of the San Cristobal Project.

As a result of the restatement referred to in Note 2, the
Company has breached certain representations and covenants
regarding the preparation of financial statements in accordance
with U.S. GAAP as well as certain minor technical covenants.
In March 2007 the Company received waivers and confirma-

tions from its lenders for these potential covenant violarions
and any related events of default.

During March 2007 the Company received a notice of default
by holders of at least 25% of the aggregate principal amount
of each of the 2.875% and 4.0% Convertible Notes due 2024
because the Company did not file its Form 10-K for the year
ended 2006 on a timely basis. The Company does not believe
that its failure to file its Form 10-K timely was in breach of a
covenant. The Company filed the Form 10-K within the 60
day cure period applicable to breaches of this covenant. Ac-
cordingly, without respect to whether there was a violation of
covenant, no event of default occurred.




Corporate Information
(Expressed in United States dollars)

Sharecholder Information

General Information

Stock Market Information

OQur company's Ordinary Shares are listed
on the American Stock Exchange under
the symbol “SIL”. As of March 27, 2007,
we had approximately 160 sharcholders of
record and an estimated 12,000 additional
beneficial holders whose Ordinary Shares
were held in street name by brokerage
houses.

Qur company has never paid any dividends
on its Ordinary Shares and expects for the
foreseeable future to retain all of its earnings
from operations for use in expanding and
developing its business. Any future decision
as to the payment of dividends will be at
the discretion of our Board of Directors and
will depend upoen our earnings, receipt of
dividends from our subsidiaries, Ainancial
position, capital requirements, plans for
expansion and such other factors as our
Board of Directors deems relevant.

Investor Relations Contact:
Jerry W. Danni

Senior Vice President

Caorporate Affairs

Apex Silver Mines Corporation
1700 Lincoln Street, Suite 3050
Denver, CO 80203

(303) 839-5060

(888) 696-2739

Email: information@apexsilver.com

Fax: (303) 839-5907

Stock Transfer Agent
Questions regarding your shareholder
account should be addressed ro:

American Stock Transfer
59 Maiden Lane

New York, NY 10038
{718) 921-8200

(800) 937-5449

Attn: Geraldine Zarbo

Corporate Headquarters Address
Apex Silver Mines Limited

Walker House

Mary Street

George Town, Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands, British West Indies

Market Information

Apex Silver Mines Limited Ordinary
Shares trade on the American Stock
Exchange under the symbol “SIL".

Independent Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1670 Broadway, Suite 1000
Denver, CO 80202

Annual Meeting

Thursday, June 7, 2007, 9:00 a.m. (MT}
The Brown Palace Hotel

Onyx Room

321 17th Screer

Denver, CO 80202

Unit Conversion Table:

1 troy ounce = 31.103 grams

1 (short) ron = 0.907 {merric) tonnes
1 (metric) tonne = 2204.62 pounds

1 troy ounce per (short) ton = 34.286
grams per {metric} tonne

1 foor = 0.305 meters

1 mile = 1.609 kilometers

1 acre = 0.405 hectares

The following table seis forth the high and the low sale prices per share of our
Ordinary Shares for the periods indicated. The closing price of the Ordinary Shares

on March 27, 2007 was $13.57.

Ordinary Shares

2006

2005

Period High Low

High Low

$25.48 $14.61

1st Quarter

2nd Quarrer 26.00 12.85
3rd Quarter 17.65 13.41
4ch Quarter 17.52 14.10

$19.47 $15.80

15.84 11.54
17.20 12.61
18.01 14.65
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